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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

TURNOVER
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT T FE

Dear Shareholders: BE -

On behalf of the Board, | would like to present the audited annual results AANEHARREZTEERZARAHIE=-ZEZT

of the Company for the year ended 31st December, 2008. NFTZR=1T—"HNEFLETENES -

I. REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 1. REOR
2008 was a year of numerous challenges. During the year, China‘s “EEN\FRBETEAN—F X2
economic growth has slowed down season on season, particularly in HemeagaNtPRECERPUEAENE
the 2nd-half in which we saw a greater contract in macro-economy, Z2 2FHhHELELEREZXTHIENE
due to the global financial crisis and cyclical adjustment of China’s BoBRRTNEF ZEHEEAREE
economy. The full year GDP grew by 9.0% year on year, which is the BEMK  2FGDPR LRI «
lowest in 5 years. However, investment maintained growth at a fast BRI AFROHE - BRE - RED
pace as China’s fixed asset investments surge 25.5% year on year, REHTERRER  2F2deBEER
representing an increase of 0.7% over last year. This has brought a ERERLIER25.5% ' b EF R M
bigger development space for the heavy-duty vehicle and ROTEBEDE  EXATFEHMNERNR
construction machinery industries in China. B IERERITERBTRANERZ

M e
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

In 2008, the development of the heavy-duty truck market varied
significantly between the 1st-half and 2nd-half. During the 1st-half,
the heavy-duty truck market maintained the record growth
experienced in 2007 as sales of heavy-duty trucks reached
approximately 380,000 units, accounted for approximately 70% of
annual sales. In the 2nd-half, particularly since September, both the
consumer confidence and investment confidence have been battered
by the global financial crisis and cyclical adjustment of the industry
and the market demand decreased sharply. The industry is facing
severe challenges from this troubling situation. Fortunately, in line
with the continuous improvement of the nationwide road network,
the increase in the length and coverage of expressways and the
implementation of steps to regulate the heavy-duty sector which
included increasing crack down on truck overloading and the
implementation of the charge-by-weight policy, the road cargo
volume and cargo turnover experienced significant growth which
propelled the sector development toward a product structure of
high-tonnage and high-efficiency. All these have laid a solid
foundation for the growth of the heavy-duty truck industry.
Meanwhile, to effectively respond to the financial crisis, the central
government immediately adjusted its macro-economic policies and
launched another round of policies to boost domestic demand. The
fuel tax reform, in particular, brought new development opportunities
for the heavy-duty truck market. With the outstanding performance
in the 1st-half, the heavy-duty truck market managed to achieve
some growth during the reporting period, as sales of heavy-duty
trucks reached approximately 540,000 units, representing a year-on-
year growth of 10.87%.

During the reporting period, the heavy-duty truck market continued
to show an overall growth, while the competition was increasing
accordingly. According to the statistics of # B /5% T 2 & (China
Association of Automobile Manufacturers), the Company’s major
customers such as Bk 78 & %! )5 E A R 2 7 (Shaanxi Heavy-duty
Motor Company Limited), it ;548 B /S E % 15 A R A &) (Beigi Futian
Motor Company Limited), B 38dt A &H I ER T HFR & T A A
(Baotou North-Benz Heavy-Duty Truck Co., Ltd.), Z & FEZEE R K&
A R A & (Anhui Hualing Heavy-Duty Automobile Group Co., Ltd.)
and ZHUTHE R B D B R A 7 (Anhui Jianghuai Automotive Co.,
Ltd.), etc. all recorded growth, hence driving the growth of the
Company’s product sales. The Company’s aggregate sales of heavy-
duty truck engines reached approximately 197,000 units in 2008,
representing a year-on-year increase of 30.37%, 19.29% higher than
the average of the industry. According to the statistics of /1 & /5 &
T % % & (China Association of Automobile Manufacturers), the
Company’s market share in the 14 tonnes (and above) gross weight
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

heavy-duty truck market reached 36.5%, representing an increase of
4.1% over last year. Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, reported an aggregate sales of
approximately 64,000 units of heavy-duty trucks, representing an
increase of 6.81% over last year. JREGSE B @ AR 5 L A A
(Shaanxi Fast Gear Co. Ltd.), a subsidiary of the Company, reported
an aggregate sales of approximately 465,000 units of gear boxes,
representing an increase of 7.98% over last year.

At the same time, the development of the construction machinery
market in China also demonstrated a trend of “high-low” due to the
increase in material prices in the 1st-half and the intensifying of
financial crisis in the 2nd-half. Since China is still undergoing rapid
urbanization and industrialization, the implementation of strategies
such as the Western China Development strategy, the Rise of Central
China strategy, the invigoration of industrial base in the Northeast
and development of new villages, and the demand from the
reconstruction after the snow disaster and earthquake have driven
the growth of China’s infrastructural investments in areas such as
hydraulic power, nuclear power, oil fields, railways, roads and ports.
These in turn have partially offset the negative impact from financial
crisis and brought the rapid growth of the construction machinery
market. A total of approximately 470,000 units of construction
machines were sold in China during the reporting period,
representing an increase of 9% over last year, in which sales of wheel
loaders with a load capacity of 5 tonnes (and above) amounted to
approximately 105,000 units, representing an increase of 8.07% over
last year. According to the statistics of & B T 2 # # %% = (China
Construction Machinery Association), the Company’s major
customers, such as 1 B & T % §& & BE A 7 (China Infrastructure
Machinery Holdings Limited), & 78 #) T # #% 3% 15 & PR 2 &) (Guangxi
Liugong Machinery Co., Ltd.), |4 ® s T T 2 # % & R & A
(Shandong Lingong Construction Machinery Co., Ltd.), % M I 72 #
% B A R A 7] (Xuzhou Construction Machinery Group Inc.), A &b
A T # # A IR A &) (Chengdu Construction Machinery Co., Inc.), L
® I T # W A BR 2 7 (Shandong SEM Machinery Co., Ltd.), all
recorded growth over last year, hence driving the growth of the
Company’s product sales. The Company’s sales of engines for
construction machinery were approximately 88,000 units in 2008,
representing a year-on-year growth of 3.80%. According to the
information published on the website of & B T 2 # # = 8 &
(China Construction Machinery Network), the Company had a market
share of 81.1% in the market of wheel loaders with a load capacity
of 5 tonnes (and above), representing a slight decrease of 1.9% over
last year, and maintained its absolutely leading position in the sector.
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WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

In 2008, with our technology innovation, the Company continued to
lead the power-transmission development in China. During the
reporting period and following the implementation of the China llI
emission standard, our proprietary electronically-controlled high-
pressure low-emission China Ill emission standard compliant
high-power, high-speed “Landking” (& Z£) engines exhibited significant
advantages and maintained its leading position in the heavy-duty
truck engine market leveraged by its features such as fuel saving,
reliable and environmental-friendly. In 2008, there is a new member
in our “Landking” family, as the Company successfully completed the
research of the China V emission standard compliant high-power,
high-speed engine three years ahead of the schedule set by the
government, which has laid a solid foundation for the Company to
further consolidate its leading position in internal combustion engine
sector. Furthermore, WP5/WP7, new products of our proprietary
strategic T-engine project, has passed the “two high” tests, namely
high plateau test and high altitude and cold areas test, and was
presented in our commercial fair. These two mid/low power engines
fully comply with China Ill, China IV and China V emission standards
and will be the perfect drive for coach, mid/high-duty truck and
construction machinery. The launch of such engines marked a further
strengthening of our research and development ability, greater
competitive edges of our product portfolio, and even broader
prospects for the Company’s development.

During the reporting period, the Company continued to place great
emphasis on organic growth and innovative management. We have
consolidated and improved the four modernized management
approaches and the two process management tools adopted in
recent years for more extensive application. The four modernized
management approaches include comprehensive budget
management, Lean Six Sigma management, excellent performance
management and the utilization of information technology, while the
two process management tools consist of operating warning analysis
and leverage management. The implementation of the above
measures has further enhanced the Company’s corporate
management platform. Besides, we engaged domestically and
internationally renowned consultant firms to carry out the “Three
Inspections” campaign, which mainly focused on reviewing our
strategies, operation and management quality. The campaign has
enabled the Group to have a clearer development strategy for the
future, as well as a healthier operation of logistics, capital flow and
information flow. In respect of parent-subsidiary supervision, the
Company further strengthened synergies between the parent
company and the subsidiaries by improving its governance structure
and streamlining its supervising system.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

II

In the year of 2008, the Company was hit by the most severe global
financial crisis in almost a century. However, based on the significant
development achieved in the last economic growth cycle, the
Company managed to maintain a sufficient cash flow by issuing
warning in advance, tackling problems in a proactive manner,
conducting thorough market research and effectively exploiting
internal potential. Meanwhile, the Company also seized the
opportunities amid the current crisis by further expanding investment
in product research and development, improving our capability of
independent innovation, unwaveringly accelerating the progress of
our strategic projects such as the Landking Environmental-friendly
Power Project, the New Energy Power Project and the 5-to-7-Litre
Engine Project. All these have fully prepared the Group for the next
economic growth cycle.

The Company sold approximately 296,000 units of different models
of diesel engines in the reporting period, representing an increase of
20.76% over 2007. Revenue increased by approximately 13.13%
over 2007 to approximately RMB32,567 million. The net profit
attributable to shareholders was RMB1,929 million, representing a
decrease of 4.27% over 2007. The basic earnings per share
decreased by approximately 14.71% over 2007 to approximately
RMB2.32.

DIVIDEND AND SHARE ISSUING BY CONVERSION OF
CAPITAL RESERVE

Putting shareholders’ interests and return as its top priority, the
Company has been maintaining a relatively stable dividend policy. The
Company shall review and develop its dividend policy as an A+H
dual-listed company taking account into various relevant factors,
including the general practice of dividend distribution by domestic A
share companies. Accordingly, the Board proposed to declare a final
dividend of RMBO0.13 per share for the year ended 31st December,
2008.

In mid-2008, the Company has implemented the resolution of share
issuing by conversion of capital reserve proposed in the interim of
2008, pursuant to which it made the distribution at the rate of 6
shares for every 10 shares by conversion of the capital reserve based
on the total share capital of 520,653,552 shares of the Company.
Upon the issue, the total share capital of the Company was increased
to 833,045,683 shares.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

IIT.ACQUISITION AND CONSOLIDATION

On 28th June, 2008, the Company and 1t /548 B /S E R 7D B R A 7
(Beigi Futian Motor Company Limited (“Beiqgi Futian”)) entered into
an enforceable Strategic Alliance Framework Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company (as a strategic investor) would subscribe 20
million new shares issued by Beiqgi Futian by private placement,
accounting for 2.18% of Beigi Futian’s share capital as enlarged by
the private placement. Meanwhile, both parties also agreed to closely
collaborate in product match, new product development, service
network, technology research, marketing, brand promoting and
advertising, so as to complement each other and achieve resources
sharing.

During the reporting period, with the view to improve the technology
and product structure of the Company and achieve sustainable and
stable development, the Company has acquired, with the consent of
Weichai Group Holdings Limited (“Weichai Holdings”), the 50%
state-owned equity interests of Weichai Peterson Gas Engine
Company Limited (¥ 4€ 1% %7 & 58 # 2 &]) held by Weichai Holdings
and introduced Canadian Westport Innovations Inc., a foreign-owned
company equipped with core technology of new energy engines to
invest and participate in the research and manufacture of new energy
gas engines to establish a joint venture called Weichai Power
Westport New Energy Engine Co. Ltd., aiming at further extending
the industry chain of the Company and establishing ourselves as an
international company offering high-power, high-speed and heavy-
duty trucks and new vehicle energy.

Despite the on-going global financial crisis, the Company actively
consolidated its domestic and overseas resources and successfully
acquired Moteurs Baudouin, a France-based engine manufacturer,
through its subsidiary, Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International
Development Limited, at a consideration of 2.99 million Euro. This
acquisition not only marked the first step of the Company’s overseas
merger and acquisition, but also provided the Company with the
products and technology of 16-litre high-power diesel engines, laying
a solid foundation for the Company to enhance its product portfolio
and strengthen its core competitiveness.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED) THEHREE (£8)

IV. OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS IV. n8lpl RERE

Looking ahead, 2009 will be a year full of both challenges and
opportunities. On the one hand, China’s real economy will not only
experience its own cyclical adjustments, but also the ongoing impact
of the global financial crisis. Enterprises will encounter severe
challenges in external environment due to the decline of domestic
demand, export and investor sentiment. On the other hand, there is
still high growth potential in China’s economy. Domestic demand still
has a big room for growth due to the great imbalance in the
development between urban and rural areas as well as different
regions. Meanwhile, the government has already set out the principal
tasks for the economy in 2009, which are “to boost domestic
demand, to sustain economic growth, to adjust the structure of the
economy and to give top priority to ensure people’s well-being”.
While a proactive fiscal policy and moderately loose monetary policy
will be in place throughout the year, the goal for 8% economic
growth in 2009 still rests in the fastest growing economy in the
world.

The Company is cautiously optimistic about the development of the
related industries. In the heavy-duty truck market, 2009 will see a
further decline in the demand for heavy-duty trucks due to the
implementation of the China Ill Emission Standard and the financial
crisis. But with the implementation of the fuel tax reform, there will
be a sharp decrease in the costs of vehicle maintenance despite the
relative increase in mileage fee. As a result, the logistics and
transport markets will continue to prosper and transport vehicles will
keep on developing in the heavy-duty direction. Meanwhile, the State
Council and the government in Shandong province have launched
their automobile industry restructuring and revitalization plans. As a
priority area in the plan, heavy-duty vehicles will certainly play a
positive role in promoting the steady and sustainable development of
the heavy-duty sector. On another front, the construction machinery
market will gain some impetus from the central government’s
4-trillion fixed assets investment plan. While projects in highways,
railways and other infrastructure will be initiated one after another,
programs for modern logistics, energy saving and emission reduction
as well as people’s well-being will also be in place. According to the
law of the industry’s development, the construction machinery
market will secure a positive growth in 2009.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Given the implementation of the China Ill Emission Standard, we
anticipate that there will be fierce competition in China‘s engine
market in the coming years. Leveraging on our advanced technology
and loyal customer base, we have consolidated our leading position
in the high-power engine market and the directors have full
confidence in the prospect of the Company. Meanwhile, the
Company will continue to explore emerging markets including
coaches, non-loaders construction machinery and medium to heavy-
duty trucks with its newly developed 5-to-7-litre engines. With the
core of Landking engines, the Company will unswervingly build up its
strengths in market diversification to form a coordinated market
layout.

The Company will spare no effort in the marketing of its China llI
compliant high-power high-speed engines. We will utilize our unique
resources and technical edge to meet the requirements in the areas
of environmental protection, energy conservation and the high-
efficiency requirement of heavy-duty trucks. We shall continue to
lead and foster the rapid development of the high-power high-speed
diesel engines industry in China.

At the same time, under the principle of “unifying strategy,
independent operation, resources sharing”, we will accelerate the
segmental development of commercial vehicles, power chain and
automobile components. We shall further integrate the Company’s
resources, fully utilize synergies and improve our capability against
risks, building the Company as a global leading transport and
construction equipment supplier with power chain as the core.

APPRECIATION

Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere appreciation to all our shareholders, the general public and
our customers for their care and support, as well as all our staff for
their hard work and dedication in last year.

Tan Xuguang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27th April, 2009

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The directors are pleased to provide a management discussion and analysis
of the results of operations of the Group for the year ended 31st
December, 2008, as follow:

I. INDUSTRY ANALYSIS

The Company is one of the largest manufacturers of high-power,
high-speed diesel engines in the PRC and a leading company in the
power chain market. It is equipped with the most comprehensive
supply chain of engines, gear boxes and axles.

1. Heavy-duty Vehicle Industry
During the year, the sales of the heavy-duty truck in the PRC
remained robust. According to the statistics of R [E] /58 T ¥ 2
(China Association of Automobile Manufacturers), the domestic
sales of heavy-duty trucks amounted to approximately 540,000
units, representing a year-on-year growth of approximately
10.87%. This is mainly attributed to:

First, during the year, the country’s macro-economy continued
to have a strong growth momentum. According to the National
Bureau of Statistics of China, GDP recorded a year-on-year
increase of 9.0% while fixed asset investment recorded a year-
on-year increase of 25.5%. The heavy-duty truck industry
benefited from the favourable macro-economic environment.

Second, during the year, due to the implementation of Euro il
starting from 1st July, 2008, the high-power, high-speed and
heavy-duty vehicle industry has become the market focus which
led to a strong demand for heavy-duty vehicles. All these have
laid a solid foundation for the heavy-duty vehicle industry.

Third, the State prioritized its support towards the development
of rural areas, environmental protection, development of the
Western region, and the growth of the industries based in the
Northeast. This, coupled with the full opening of the domestic
financial sector and the rapid growth of export, generated a
pulling effect on the demand side of the heavy-duty vehicle
market during the year.
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WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Forth, the continuous improvement of the nationwide road
network, the increase in the length and coverage of
expressways and the implementation of steps to regulate the
heavy-duty sector which included increasing crack down on
truck overloading and the implementation of the charge-by-
weight policy, have laid a solid foundation for the growth of
the heavy-duty truck industry. Meanwhile, to effectively
respond to the financial crisis, central government immediately
adjusted its macro-economic policies and launched another
round of policies to boost domestic demand. The fuel tax
reform, in particular, brought new development opportunities
for the heavy-duty truck market.

Construction Machinery Industry

During the year, according to the statistics of /7 B T2 # # T
% # @ (China Construction Machinery Association), a total of
approximately 470,000 units of construction machines were
sold in China, representing an increase of approximately 9%
over last year, in which sales of wheel loader with a load
capacity of 5 tonnes (and above) amounted to approximately
105,000 units, representing an increase of approximately
8.07% over last year. The construction machinery industry
continued to grow at a healthy and fast pace. This is mainly
attributed to:

The construction machinery industry has entered a medium to
long-term rapid growth period. The PRC economy is entering
the developing stage of heavy industrialization. According to
the experience of some developed countries, heavy
industrialization results in long-term prosperity in the
construction machinery industry. While the PRC’s huge
infrastructure construction is still under development, the
investment in the urbanization of rural areas, construction of
new villages, railways, road infrastructure and public
infrastructure will foster a continuous growth of domestic
demand, and the modest macro control and the soaring export
growth will offset the cyclical fluctuation, the construction
machinery industry will maintain its rapid growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

In 2008, the construction machinery market in China also hit
by the intensifying of financial crisis. However, China’s
infrastructural investments continued to grew, and the
development in areas such as hydraulic power, nuclear power,
oil fields, railways, roads and ports kept accelerated. All of
these together with the demand from the reconstruction after
the snow disaster and earthquake have partially offset the
negative impact from financial crisis and brought the rapid
growth of the construction machinery market.

II. THE GROUP’'S BUSINESS

An analysis of the Group’s business segments is set out in note 4 to
the financial statements. The following are the highlights of the
operations of major products lines of the Group.

1. Sales of Diesel Engines

For use in Heavy-duty Trucks

The Group is the largest supplier of diesel engines to major
manufacturers of heavy-duty trucks with a load capacity of 15
tonnes (and above) in the PRC. The key customers included: Bkt
mERRFHBEAHRRA A ([BRAE R ])(Shaanxi Heavy-duty
Motor Company Limited), 3t /3@ B AER B AR A A ([1E7
& B 1) (Beigi Futian Motor Company Limited), £ 38 4k 77 75 Bt
ERREEREME LA ([ BRFEE S |)(Baotou North-Benz
Heavy-Duty Truck Co., Ltd.), Z B EZ E & & F R 2 A
(Anhui Hualing Heavy-Duty Automobile Group Co., Ltd.) and %
BT & R = B 1 B BR 2 7 (Anhui Jianghuai Automotive Co.,
Ltd.), etc. Due to the reasons mentioned above in the “Industry
Analysis”, these customers expanded their market share rapidly
in the PRC during the year. During the year, the Group sold
approximately 296,000 units of diesel engines in total,
compared to approximately 245,000 units in 2007,
representing an increase of approximately 20.76%. Of the
diesel engines sold during the year, approximately 197,000
units (2007: 151,000 units) were truck engines, representing an
increase of approximately 30.37% compared to 2007.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

For use in Construction Machinery

The Group is also the largest supplier of diesel engines to major
manufacturers of construction machinery (mainly wheel
loaders) with a load capacity of 5 tonnes (and above) in the
PRC. The key customers of the Group are: & 78 #) I # # A% {7
A PR A & (Guangxi Liugong Machinery Co., Ltd.), A1 B g€ T 4%
f% A& R A & (China Infrastructure Machinery Holdings Limited),
LR ER T TR # % B R A 7] (Shandong Lingong Construction
Machinery Co., Ltd.), & M T 2 # # & B & R 2 7 (Xuzhou
Construction Machinery Group Inc.), X #8 Bk T # 4% & IR A 7
(Chengdu Construction Machinery Co., Inc.), |ILE || T# W&
B /A &l (Shandong SEM Machinery Co., Ltd.), etc. During the
year, the Group sold approximately 88,000 units (2007: 85,000
units) of construction machinery engines, representing an
increase of approximately 3.80% compared to that in 2007.

Sale of Heavy-duty Trucks

During the year, the Group sold approximately 64,000 units of
heavy-duty trucks, compared to approximately 60,000 units in
2007, representing an increase of approximately 6.81%. Prior
to intra-group elimination, the Truck Business contributed
revenues RMB14,579 million to the Group during the year.

Sale of Heavy-duty Gear Box

During the year, the Group sold approximately 465,000 units of
heavy-duty gear boxes, compared to approximately 430,000
units in 2007, representing an increase of approximately
7.98%. Prior to intra-group elimination, the Gear Boxes
Business contributed revenues approximately RMB4,889 million
to the Group during the year.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) SR EstmE Nt ()

4. Sale of Engine and Heavy-duty Truck Parts 4., HEBRPIHERREIEFEE
ik
Apart from the production and sale of diesel engines for trucks BRTEERBEERERTREHMK
and construction machinery, heavy-duty trucks and heavy-duty ZHEEY BRREREREER
gear boxes, the Group also engaged in the production and Oh REBAEERBENIEE B
sales of engine parts and other truck parts such as: spark plugs, BOERR TZAREHRSEIKT
axles, chassis, air-conditioner compressors etc. During the year, BUREMBREZRME - REFE
the Group recorded an approximately 19.06% increase in sales N AEEZRHIRTHRERRE
of engine parts and truck parts to approximately RMB1,515 TEMHHE LT 419.06% =4 A
million. The surge was mainly attributable to the increase in RE155B8 T HERBEAE
accumulated sales volume of diesel engines in the previous EREANBEFEN R ARHEEE
years. EE EFARE
ITI. FINANCIAL REVIEW I11. 81 #5 0 68
1. The Group’s Results of Operations 1. AEBZREXE
a. Turnover a. EXEH
The Group’s turnover increased from approximately AEEMNEXEEH_TT
RMB28,786 million in 2007 to approximately RMB32,567 + F R/ B &4 A R 128,786
million in 2008, an increase of approximately 13.13%. BETEEAFENNAR
The increase in turnover was mainly attributable to the #32567 A &B L IR R
rising demand for heavy-duty trucks and diesel engines 13.13% - B EHEMDHEE
for use in heavy-duty trucks. During the year, the Group HREREREREERRE
sold approximately 197,000 units of diesel engines for FB S M B0 T SR AE NPT B -
use in heavy-duty trucks in total, compared to REFEAR AEBAHE
approximately 151,000 units in 2007, representing an HH97EER RERAL
increase of approximately 30.37%. During the Period, the - B - F R
Group reported an aggregate sales of 64,000 units of ELBNIIEE ARY
heavy-duty trucks, compared to approximately 60,000 73037% ° NEAA - A&
units in 2007, representing an increase of approximately HELNECIEWMEE RE -
6.81%. The unit average selling price of the diesel B EFRBELN6E M
engines and heavy-duty trucks remained relatively stable. ERREHE K681% i m L
AR ER RBER T B
EEAMEERFTE -
b.  Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin b. EMEREMEX
During the year, the Group’s gross profit decreased by RAREER - KNEEEFHE
approximately 7.78% from approximately RMB6,136 H-ZZELFREANAOAR
million in 2007 to approximately RMB5,659 million in 6,136 A B LEEARAFER
2008. Gross profit margin decreased from approximately #ANRHES5659H BT 0 BRIE
21.31% in 2007 to approximately 17.38% in 2008, # /7.78% o EFH % Al i
which was mainly due to the increasing price of raw —EELFRBEMNN2131%
material. W EREFEHH17.38%
FEHRRMBRAE LR
o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

C. Other Income

Other income increased by approximately 89.62% to
approximately RMB219 million in 2008 from
approximately RMB115 million in 2007. The increase was
mainly due to increases in interest income and

government subsidies on VAT refund.

d. Selling and Distribution Costs

Distribution costs increased by 0.80% to approximately
RMB959 million in 2008 from approximately RMB951
million in 2007. As a percentage of turnover, distribution
costs decreased from approximately 3.30% in 2007 to
approximately 2.94% in 2008, which was mainly due to
the improvement of cost efficiency as a result from the
significant increase in the Company’s scale of operations.

e. Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group decreased by
approximately 5.61% from approximately RMB1,184
million in 2007 to approximately RMB1,117 million in
2008. The decrease in administrative expenses was mainly
due to the strict control on the administrative expenses
imposed by the Company. As a percentage of turnover,
the administrative expenses decreased from
approximately 4.11% in 2007 to approximately 3.43% in
2008, which was mainly due to the decrease of the
administrative expenses and the significant increase in the

Company’s scale of operations.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Operating Profit before Finance Costs

During the year, the Group’s operating profit decreased
by approximately 13.83% to approximately RMB3,039
million in 2008 from approximately RMB3,526 million in
2007. The Group's operating margin decreased from
approximately 12.25% in 2007 to approximately 9.33%
in 2008, which was mainly due to the lower gross profit
margin.

Finance Costs

Finance costs increased by approximately 17.66% to
approximately RMB298 million in 2008 from
approximately RMB253 million in 2007. This increase was
mainly due to the increase in borrowings and interest
rate.

Income Taxes

The Group's income tax expenses decreased by
approximately 31.40% to approximately RMB329 million
in 2008 from approximately RMB480 million in 2007.
During the period, the Group’s average effective tax rate
decreased from approximately 14.7% in 2007 to
approximately 12.0% in 2008.

Net Profit and Net Profit Margin

The Group's net profit for the year decreased from
approximately RMB2,794 million in 2007 to
approximately RMB2,412 million in 2008, whilst the net
profit margin also decreased from approximately 9.70%
in 2007 to approximately 7.41% in 2008.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Issuing Shares by Conversion of Capital Reserve
On 20th August, 2008, the Board of the Company
passed a resolution, pursuant to which the Company
made the distribution to all shareholders at the rate of 6
shares for every 10 shares by conversion of capital reserve
based on the total share capital of 520,653,552 shares of
the Company as at 30th June, 2008, being the date of
record. Upon the share issuing, the total share capital of
the Company increased by 312,392,131 shares to
833,045,683 shares.

Liquidity and Cash Flow

During the year, the Group generated RMB4,444 million
in operating cash flows, part of which were applied in
expanding the Group's operations by acquisition of
property, plant and equipment; and in reducing its
borrowings. As at 31st December, 2008, the Group had a
net debt (interest-bearing debts net of cash and cash
equivalents) of RMB573 million (as at 31st December,
2007: RMB894.5 million). Based on the net debt
calculation above, the debt to equity ratio is 5.06% (as at
31st December, 2007: 9.5%).

2. Financial Position

a.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Assets and Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2008, the Group had total assets of
approximately RMB29,950 million, of which
approximately RMB20,185 million were current. As at
31st December, 2008, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB3,352 million (as at
31st December, 2007: RMB1,820 million). On the same
date, the Group’s total liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB18,623 million, of which
approximately RMB17,799 million were current. The
current ratio was approximately 1.13x (as at 31st
December, 2007: 1.10x).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Capital Structure

At 31st December, 2008, the Group had total equity of
approximately RMB11,326 million, of which
approximately RMB7,998 million was attributable to
equity holders of the Company, the balance being
minority interests. The Group currently does not rely
heavily on borrowings. The borrowings of the Group as
at 31st December, 2008 amounted to approximately
RMB3,786 million, which included debenture of
RMB1,700 million and bank borrowings of RMB2,086
million. As a policy, the Group manages its capital to
ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue
as a going concern while maximizing the return to
shareholders through the optimization of the debts and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2008, bank deposits and trade and
bills receivables of approximately RMB2,851 million (as at
31st December, 2007: RMB1,418 million) were pledged
to banks to secure bank loans, bills payables and bills
receivables issued by the Group. The pledged bank
deposits carry prevailing bank interest rates. The pledge
will be released upon the settlement of the relevant bank
borrowings and bills payable. The fair value of the bank
deposits at the balance sheet dates approximates the
carrying amount.

Certain other assets were also pledged by the Group to
secure the Group’s borrowings. Details are set out in note
39 to the financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

d. Contingent Liabilities
As at 31st December, 2008, the Group had approximately
RMB1,754 million (as at 31st December, 2007: RMB2,297
million) guarantees given to banks in connection with
facilities granted to and utilised by third parties.

e. Capital Commitments
As at 31st December, 2008, the Group had approximately
RMB1,168 million capital commitments contracted (as at
31st December, 2007: RMB845 million), principally for
the capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of
property, plant and equipment.

3. Financial Risk and Exposure
A detailed analysis of the Group’s exposure to various risks
including the interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit
risk... etc. are set out in note 44 to the financial statements.
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EF ESKRSHREIEAS

DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

(1) DIRECTORS (1) ES

Mr. Tan Xuguang, Chinese, aged 47, is the Chairman, Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Chairman
of Weichai Group Holdings Limited and Chairman of Shandong Juli
Co., Ltd.. Mr. Tan joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1977 and
had held various positions including the chairman and general
manager of Shandong Weichai Imp. & Exp. Corp., general manager
of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, chairman of Torch Automobile
Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Tan is a senior economist and holds a doctor’s
degree in engineering. Mr. Tan was appointed as a Representative
of the Tenth and Eleventh National People’s Congress of the PRC
and was honored “National Labor Model”, and "5 /' j§ = B FE 1 %
& ¥ 4 #8" (the Gold Award of the 4th Yuan Baohua Enterprise
Management). He has extensive experience in machinery production
management, international trade, marketing, capital operation
management and corporate development and strategic management.
His term of appointment as a director was expired on 17th
December, 2008.

Mr. Xu Xinyu, Chinese, aged 45, is Executive Director and Executive
President of the Company. Mr. Xu joined Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory in 1986 and had held the positions of deputy general
manager of Shandong Weichai Imp. & Exp. Corp., deputy general
manager and executive deputy general manager of Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory, director of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. and
chairman of Weichai Power (Weifang) Investment Co., Ltd. Mr. Xu is
a senior economist and holds a bachelor’s degree in science and a
MBA degree. He has been responsible for corporate restructure,
merges and acquisition, and human resources management in the
Company, and has extensive experience in corporate operation. His
term of appointment as a director was expired on 17th December,
2008.

Mr. Sun Shaojun, Chinese, aged 43, is Executive Director and
Executive President of the Company. Mr. Sun joined Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory in 1988 and had held the positions of supervisor of
the engineering department, and the chief engineer of Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory, and director of Torch Automobile Group Co.,
Ltd. Mr. Sun is a senior engineer and holds a doctor degree in
engineering. He was appointed as “ | & A R BT 2= 1L 2 & 152
E Z" (Taishan Mountain scholar specialist appointed by Shandong
People’s Government). He has been responsible for diesel engine
research and development in the Company, and has extensive
experience in corporate technology management. His term of
appointment as a director was expired on 17th December, 2008.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Zhang Quan, Chinese, aged 45, is Executive Director and
Executive President of the Company. Mr. Zhang joined Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory in 1986 and had held the positions of directors of the
quality control department and the marketing department, of
Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. Mr. Zhang is a senior economist and
holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering and a MBA degree. He has
been responsible for marketing in the Company, and has extensive
experience in corporate marketing management. His term of
appointment as a director was expired on 17th December, 2008.

Ms. Zhang Fusheng, Chinese, aged 51, is a Non-executive Director
of the Company. Ms. Zhang joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in
1975 and had held the positions of director of finance department,
and chief accountant of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, and director
of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. She is now the deputy general
manager of Weichai Group Holdings Limited. Ms. Zhang is a senior
accountant and Certified Public Accountant and holds the
qualification of senior manager of international finance and a
bachelor’s degree. She has extensive experience in corporate finance
management. Her term of appointment as a director was expired on
17th December, 2008.

Mr. Liu Huisheng, Chinese, aged 43, is a Non-executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Liu joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1989
and had held the positions of deputy general manager of the power
branch of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, general manager of
Chongging Weichai Diesel Engine Factory, and deputy general
manager of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. He is now the general
manager of Shandong Juli Co., Ltd. Mr. Liu is a senior economist and
holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering. He has extensive experience
in corporate general management. His term of appointment as a
director was expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Yao Yu, Chinese, aged 38, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. He had held positions of secretary to the Board of &Il &
FE ¥ KM AR A A (Shenzhen Hezhong Industrial Co. Ltd.) and
assistant general manager of )& || X 1%k & % f% {5 B BR 2 &) (Shenzhen
Tianjin Electric Co. Ltd.). Mr. Yao is now a senior investment manager
of Shenzhen Chuangxin Investment Group Company Limited. He
holds a MBA degree and has nearly 10 years of experience in
investment management and related fields. His term of appointment
as a director was expired on 17th December, 2008.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Yeung Sai Hong, Chinese, aged 54, is a Non-executive Director
of the Company and the chairman of Peterson Holdings Company
Limited which is a promoter of the Company. He is also a member of
the 10th Shandong Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. His term of appointment as a
director was expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Chen Xuejian, Chinese, aged 53, is a Non-executive Director of
the Company and the general manager and Party committee
secretary of Weifang Investment Company, Mr. Chen served as
deputy director of Local Taxation Bureau of Weifang and deputy
director of Finance Bureau of Weifang. His term of appointment as a
director was expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Li San Yim, Chinese (Hong Kong), aged 57, is a Non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Li founded Fujian Longyan Construction
Machinery (Group) Company Limited (a promoter of the Company) in
1993, and now is the chairman of Lonking Holdings Limited (03339.
HK). His term of appointment as a director was expired on 17th
December, 2008.

Mr. Julius G. Kiss, Austrian, aged 81, is a Non-executive Director of
the Company. He is the chairman of IVM Technical Consultants Wien
G.m.b.H. which is a promoter of the Company. His term of
appointment as a director was expired on 17th December, 2008.

Ms. Han Xiaoqun, Chinese, aged 58, is a Non-executive Director of
the Company. Ms. Han is the chairman of IUIER & D ELELLE R H
A PR A &l (Shandong Provincial Enterprises Trusteeship & Operation
Co., Ltd.) which is a promoter of the Company. Her term of
appointment as a director was expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Gu Linsheng, Chinese, aged 68, is an Independent Director of
the Company. He served as an independent director of Torch
Automobile Group Co., Ltd. from 30th April 2004 to 30th April,
2007. His term of appointment as a director was expired on 17th
December, 2008.

Mr. Li Shihao, Chinese, aged 68, retired in February 2001, is an
Independent Director of the Company. He was the director of £} £ #;
fiT %= 8 & (science and technology committee) and i T B i ER &
8 @ (urban vehicle specialist committee) of the Ministry of
Construction from 2001 to 2007. His term of appointment as a

director was expired on 17th December, 2008.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Liu Zheng, Chinese, aged 61, is an Independent Director of the
Company. Mr. Liu was the general manager of Weifang Investment
Company from 1999 to February 2004. He retired in February 2004.
His term of appointment as a director was expired on 17th
December, 2008.

Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu, Chinese, aged 63, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Zhang served as the deputy
director of A K T % /5 (State Mechanic Industry Bureau of
the PRC). He is a senior engineer with professor-grade treatment. Mr.
Zhang is the vice-chairman of A B # 4% T 2£ B% & € (China Machinery
Industrial Association), chairman of A BB T 2 28 g (China
Vehicles Engineering Association) and chairman of /1 B (A #A # £ <
(China Internal Combustion Engine Association). His term of
appointment as a director was expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, English, aged 52, is an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Koo is the managing
director of Hercules Capital Limited. He served various positions for
many international investment banks and directorship and chief
executive officer for Hong Kong listed companies. In addition to the
Company, he currently also serves as an independent director of
other companies listed on the main board and the GEM of Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. He graduated with a bachelor degree in
business administration from the University of California at Berkeley
in 1980 and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. His term of appointment as a director was
expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Fang Zhongchang, Chinese, aged 66, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Fang was graduated from
Harbin Industrial University. He previously served as engineer at || 5
% BF 3 ¥ & (Shandong Angiu County Glasswork), deputy mayor of
%Z £ % (Angiu County), deputy mayor of Weifang Municipal
Government, secretary to the Municipal Disciplinary Committee of
the Standing Committee of Weifang Municipal Government, and
deputy director of the Standing Committee of Weifang Municipal
People’s Congress. He was also a visiting researcher of the Chinese
Academy of Management Science and a Representative of the
People’s Congress for the Shandong Province. He retired from civil
service in 2002. His term of appointment as a director was expired on
17th December, 2008.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(2)

(3)

SUPERVISORS

Mr. Sun Chengping, Chinese, aged 61, is the Chairman of the
Supervisory committee of the Company. He joined Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory in 1969 and was the deputy general manager and
Party committee secretary of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, and
supervisor of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. He is now the
general manager of Weichai Group Holdings Limited. Mr. Sun is a
senior economist and holds a junior college’s degree. He has
extensive experience in diesel engine production management and
technology renovation. His term of appointment as a supervisor was
expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Ding Yingdong, Chinese, aged 40, is a Supervisor of the
Company. Mr. Ding joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1990 and
had held positions of deputy director of corporate planning
department and director of human resources department of Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory, director of human resources department and
director of corporate management department of Weichai Power Co.,
Limited. He currently holds the positions of assistant to president and
director of operational management department of the Company. Mr.
Ding is a senior economist and holds the qualification of senior
manager of corporate human resources and a bachelor’s degree in
engineering. He has extensive experience in corporate management.
His term of appointment as a supervisor was expired on 17th
December, 2008.

Ms. Jiang Jianfang, Chinese, aged 46, is a Supervisor of the
Company. She was the deputy chief of the financial audit committee
of B M T &£ & & R A A (Guangxi Liugong Group Company
Limited) and a supervisor of & #4 #J) T # ##% A% 5 & IR 2 7 (Guangxi
Liugong Machinery Company Limited). Ms. Jiang is an accountant.
Her term of appointment as a supervisor was expired on 17th
December, 2008.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Dakai, Chinese, aged 55, is an Executive President of the
Company. Mr. Li had held various positions including director of
product design department, chief economist, general manager of
Shaanxi Auto Gear General Works, and director and deputy president
of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. He currently holds the positions
of chairman and general manager of Shaanxi Fast Auto Drive Group
Company and director and general manager of Shaanxi Fast Gear
Co., Ltd. Mr. Li holds a bachelor’s degree and is a senior engineer
with researcher-grade treatment. He was honored “National Labor
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DIRECTORS,

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Model” and entitled specialist who can receive state special
allowance. Mr. Li was appointed as a Representative of the Eleventh
National People’s Congress of the PRC and member of the Standing
Committee of Xi'an Municipal People’s Congress. He has extensive
experience in heavy-duty gear box designing and production
management. His term of appointment was expired on 17th
December, 2008.

Mr. Fang Hongwei, Chinese, aged 42, is an Executive President of
the Company. He had held the positions of section chief of test
technology section of motor research institute, deputy director of
financial department, deputy general manager, general manager of
sales company and executive deputy general manager of Shaanxi
Automobile Manufactory. Mr. Fang is now the director and general
manager of Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited. Mr. Fang is
a senior economist and holds a master’s degree in engineering and
the senior career manager certification of machinery industrial
corporation. He has extensive experience in heavy-duty vehicle
designing and production management. His term of appointment was
expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Xu Hong, Chinese, aged 49, is an Executive President of the
Company. He joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1976 and was
the deputy general manager of foundry branch, general manager of
% 88 B (cast branch) and director of production department. Mr. Xu
holds a bachelor’s degree. He has extensive experience in the
management of production and manufacturing. His term of
appointment was expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Cheung Tat Leung, Peter, Chinese (Hong Kong), aged 38, is
the Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Qualified
Accountant of the Company and is responsible for the accounting
and finance functions and secretary affairs of the Company. Mr.
Cheung joined the Company in October 2008. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung has been
working for many companies listed on the main board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. He holds a bachelor’s degree and has over 15
years' experience in the accounting and financial management fields.
His term of appointment was expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Dai Lixin, Chinese, aged 41, is the Secretary to the Board and
Director of Securities department of the Company. He joined Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory in 1987 and was the deputy director of the
treasury department of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. Mr. Dai is an
economist and holds a bachelor’s degree. He has extensive
experience in corporate financing, restructure, merger and
acquisition. His term of appointment was expired on 17th December,
2008.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Feng Gang, Chinese, aged 44, is the Vice President of the
Company and the Deputy General Manager of the Marketing
company. He was manager of technology service department,
assistant general manager and executive deputy general manager of
sales company and executive deputy director of marketing
management department of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. He is an
engineer and holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering. Mr. Feng has
extensive experience in marketing. His term of appointment was
expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Tong Dehui, Chinese, aged 44, is the Vice President and the
Supervisor of the Engineering department of the Company. He was
the supervisor of the laboratory of engineering department, assistant
supervisor, deputy chief engineer of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory.
Mr. Tong is a senior engineer and holds a master’'s degree in
engineering and has extensive experience in the research and
development of engine and management. His term of appointment
was expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Li Zhi, Chinese, aged 50, is the Vice President of the Company.
He was the deputy general manager of Xinjiang Xinghuo Machinery
Factory, general manager of Xinjiang Bearing Factory General Works,
general manager of Zhuzhou headquarter of TAGC, supervisor,
general manager of investment management department, vice
president of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Li is a senior
economist and holds a bachelor’s degree. He has extensive
experience in corporate operation management. His term of
appointment was expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Zhou Chongyi, Chinese, aged 44, is the Vice President of the
Company. He was the deputy supervisor of engineering department,
deputy chief engineer of China National Heavy Duty Truck Group
Corp, Ltd. and deputy chief engineer of Shanghai Huizhong
Automobile Co. Ltd. Mr. Zhou is a senior engineer and holds a
bachelor’s degree. He has extensive experience in heavy-duty vehicle
designing and production and manufacturing management. His term
of appointment was expired on 17th December, 2008.

Mr. Qian Cheng, American, aged 46, is the Vice President of the
Company. He was the senior project engineer of engineering
department of Caterpillar in the USA, senior project manager of
North America engineering department of Ricardo in the UK, senior
design engineer of product design — chassis department of Ford
Motor Company in the USA, senior project engineer of product
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design center of General Motors in the USA, vice president and
director of international business department of Torch Automobile
Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Qian graduated with a doctor’s degree from
University of Kentucky and has extensive experience in commercial
vehicle strategy research. His term of appointment was expired on
17th December, 2008.

Mr. Liu Xinhua, Chinese, aged 53, is the Vice President of the
Company, Manager of Hangzhou branch and Deputy General
Manager of marketing company. Mr. Liu holds a junior college’s
degree. He was the director of production department, deputy
general manager, executive deputy general manager, and general
manager of Hangzhou Engine Co., Ltd. Mr. Liu has extensive
experience in engine production and management. His term of
appointment was expired on 17th December, 2008.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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DIRECTORS " REPORT

The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group is the manufacture and sale of diesel
engines and related parts, automobiles and other major automobile
components, minor automobile components and import and export
services. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year. The activities of its principal subsidiaries
and associates are set out in notes 20 and 22 to the financial statements,
respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2008 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in
the financial statement on pages 87 to 202.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.13 per
ordinary share for the year ended 31st December, 2008 to shareholders.
This recommendation has been incorporated in the financial statements as
an allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the balance
sheet.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and minority
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set
out on page 203. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during the
year are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are
set out in note 37(b) to the financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31st December, 2008, the Company’s reserve available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the relevant regulations, amounted to
RMB3,901,978,000, out of which dividend of RMB108,296,000 for the
year ended 31st December, 2008 was proposed on 27th April, 2009. In
addition, the Company’s share premium account in its statutory financial
statements, in the amount of RMB1,832,568,000, may be distributed in
the form of fully paid bonus shares.

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The directors and supervisors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Tan Xuguang (Chairman and CEQ)
Xu Xinyu (Executive President)
Sun Shaojun (Executive President)
Zhang Quan (Executive President)

Non-executive Directors:
Zhang Fusheng
Liu Huisheng
Yao Yu

Yeung Sai Hong
Chen Xuejian

Li San Yim
Julius G. Kiss
Han Xiaogun
Gu Linsheng

Li Shihao

Liu Zheng

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Zhang Xiaoyu

Koo Fook Sun, Louis

Fang Zhongchang

Supervisors:
Sun Chengping
Ding Yingdong
Jiang Jianfang

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), and at the date of this report,
the Company still considers all of the Independent Non-executive Directors
are independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 25 to 32 of the annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company which commenced from 18th December, 2005 and is to end on
17th December, 2008.

The term of appointment of each of the Non-executive Directors and
Supervisors is from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008, except
that Liu Huisheng, a Non-executive Director, was appointed on 30th June,
2006 at the Company’s annual general meeting and his term of office runs
for the period from 30th June, 2006 to 17th December, 2008; Gu
Linsheng, Li Shihao, Liu Zheng, Non-executive Directors, were appointed on
29th December, 2006 at the Company’s extraordinary general meeting and
their term of office runs for the period from 30th April, 2007 to 17th
December, 2008; Ding Yingdong, Supervisor, was appointed on 22nd
October, 2007 at the Company’s labor representative meeting and his term
of office runs for the period from 22nd October, 2007 to 17th December,
2008.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has a fixed term of
appointment commencing from the date of his appointment by the
shareholders of the Company and ending on the conclusion of the next
annual general meeting of the Company. At the annual general meeting,
each of the Independent Non-executive Directors will offer himself for re-
election for a term ending (i) on the next annual general meeting of the
Company (“Next AGM"); or (ii) on the conclusion of the extraordinary
general meeting (if any) of the Company convened prior to the Next AGM
at which he is re-appointed as Independent Non-executive Director for a
term beyond the conclusion of the Next AGM (whichever is the earlier).
The term of appointment of each Independent Non-executive Directors of
the Company is for the period upto 17th December, 2008.
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DIRECTORS " REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN SENEENEABHNIER

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Mr. Li San Yim, being a beneficial shareholder of Fujian Longyan FHREE ?E\EXH&E%\I%*%W(E@)%_@
Construction Machinery (Group) Company Limited and Shanghai Longgong A &ﬁEI (LB)EMARA A E’J B T?Eﬁ
Machinery Company Limited, was interested in a contract for the supply of A R AR B[R X R A A S Om K
diesel engines and diesel engine parts by the Company to these two BTN EOTHAES T’f/ﬂtﬂﬁ'ﬁ\i

companies. Mr. Yeung Sai Hong, being a beneficial shareholder of Peterson Peterson (CNG) Equipment Limited 2 & # &
(CNG) Equipment Limited, was interested in a contract for supply of diesel % RAR EJ FEJ %ﬁi}ﬁ,ﬁﬁ KRIETREBEGHRE
engines and related parts by the Company to Weifang Weichai Peterson BEERAHERHEREBTAMNE D
Gas Diesel Engines Company Limited. Further details of the transactions ‘:F‘ T?EE*EE € ﬁf’ﬁx% MR RER X[ 8
undertaken in connection therewith are included in the section headed MAERS ] —6 - br Lt ﬁ %‘%ﬁl\ R EE
“Continuing connected transactions” below. Save as disclosed above, no ERARA] - HERAGF - MERARISER
director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract Wi B8~ B F AP E HAREXBEEX

o

S ¢
of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, its WEMENTEESRERFEAER
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES SSENESNRMKIEREARMDE
AND UNDERLYING SHARES E &
As at 31st December, 2008, the interests of the directors, supervisors and R-ZFFENFEF+T_A=+—HB EF E=
their associates in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and its RRENBE ARA AR REBAEEB (E &
associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and REZMBEGE ([FmEBMEGHEG ) FXV
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO"), as recorded in the register maintained by ~ &F) ¥ {0 RARRA R 17 7 - A RIEKE 75 &
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified B {51 55352 1I§iﬁ,fle§’&ﬂ2§ﬁ§ﬁ’ﬂ% =C it AT
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant R XBEBELTRAREZFETEFTRSH
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed BRESTA(RETADRECHNEARA R
Companies (“Model Code”), were as follows: B PTEVRER AN T
Percentage
of the issued
Number of share capital of
Capacity “A" shares held the Company
B QBB BT
5 4% AR EER NI
Name of Director
EERE
Tan Xuguang Beneficial owner 6,880,000 (Note 1) 0.8%
EEIED EmEA A (Htat1)
Xu Xinyu Beneficial owner 1,600,000 (Note 1) 0.2%
®w¥E E=mBEA A (Ktazt1)
Sun Shaojun Beneficial owner 1,600,000 (Note 1) 0.2%
BRALE E=mBEA A (Btax1)
Zhang Quan Beneficial owner 1,600,000 (Note 1) 0.2%
kR E=EAA (Btatt)
Liu Huisheng Beneficial owner 960,000 (Note 1) 0.1%
2 i BEmEAA (Btatt)
Yeung Sai Hong (Note 3) Held by controlled corporation 37,600,000 (Note 2) 4.5%
it (A et 3) BXEEERE (Htat2)
Li San Yim (Note 4) Held by spouse and controlled corporation 34,400,000 (Note 1) 4.1%
B (M aE4) HEBRERIIEEERE (KHtat1)
Julius G. Kiss (Note 5) Held by controlled corporation 17,200,000 (Note 2) 2.1%
Julius G. Kiss BAXEEERES (Ktaz2)
(LHEG. 5H) (HfaE5)
Name of Supervisor
BEEpA
Ding Yingdong Beneficial owner 560,000 (Note 1) 0.1%
THR EnEA A (Ktatt1)

36 WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. M2 NBRNRBERLD




DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

Save

These were previously domestic shares of the Company. The domestic shares were
ordinary shares issued by the Company, with a Renminbi-denominated par value of
RMB1.00 each, which were subscribed for and paid up in Renminbi or credited as fully
paid up. These shares became “A” shares of the Company upon the “A” share listing of
the Company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange during the current financial year.

These were previously foreign shares of the Company. The foreign shares were
ordinary shares issued by the Company, with a Renminbi-denominated par value of
RMB1.00 each, which were subscribed for and paid up in a currency other than
Renminbi. These shares became “A” shares of the Company upon the “A” share
listing of the Company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange during the current financial
year.

Yeung Sai Hong, a Non-executive Director, was directly and indirectly interested in
the issued share capital of Peterson Holdings Company Limited, which in turn held
37,600,000 shares in the Company.

Li San Yim, a Non-executive Director, and his spouse, Ni Yinying, were interested in
69.16% and 30.84%, respectively, in the registered capital of 18 7 Bt & T 72 # 1
(% #)) A [R 22 A (Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery (Group) Company Limited
(“Fujian Longgong”)) which in turn held 34,400,000 shares in the Company, and
therefore Li San Yim was deemed to be interested in these shares of the Company.

Julius G. Kiss, a Non-executive Director, was indirectly interested in the entire issued

share capital of IVM Technical Consultants Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H. (“IVM”), which
in turn held 17,200,000 shares in the Company.

as disclosed above, none of the directors, supervisors, nor their

associates had any interests or short positions in any shares or underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
as at 31st December, 2008.
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DETAILS OF CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL AND

ESEBHRE (@)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS  SHAREHOLDINGS

() Changes in shareholdings

Changes in share capital
Movement of the Company’s share capital during the year are

1.

as follows:

I Restricted circulating shares
ARE G KRR
1.

2.

3.

State-owned shares

ARER

State-owned legal person shares

BEARR

Shares held by other domestic
entities including:

HtmEfHRAH :

Shares held by non State-owned
legal persons

BRFRFEAFR

Shares held by domestic
natural persons

BRERAER

Shares held by other foreign
entities including:

SERRE S :

Shares held by overseas
legal persons

BNEA 5 B

Shares held by overseas
natural persons

BB RARER
Il Non-restricted circulating shares

BRE KR H

1. RMB ordinary shares
ARBEBR

2. Domestic listed foreign shares
BRETHNER

3. Overseas listed foreign shares
BN EHESER

4. Others
Hify

Ill.  Total number of shares

Ripe s

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Beginning of the Year
4

No. of shares

R 8E
218,640,747
15,140,586
101,450,000

67,800,161

53,000,000

14,800,161

34,250,000

34,250,000

302,012,805

175,512,805

126,500,000

520,653,552

MEDNRMDERLT

Percentage

£ 4 (%)
41.99%
291%
19.49%

13.02%

10.18%

2.84%

6.58%

6.58%

58.01%

33.71%

24.30%

100%

0

R B B R &
1. REE

BRAREMNNEZHRRIFRE)

FRARTRARB T :

Increase/decrease during the Year (+, -)

FREF(+ -)
New Transfer
shares of surplus
issued  Bonus issue to capital Others Sub-total
BITHR 2R AHEEER Hit et
131,184,448 -258 131,184,190
9,084,351 9,084,351
60,870,000 60,870,000
40,680,097 -258 40,679,839
31,800,000 31,800,000
8,880,097 -258 8,879,839
20,550,000 20,550,000
20,550,000 20,550,000
181,207,683 258 181,207,941
105,307,683 258 105,307,941
75,900,000 75,900,000
312,392,131 — 312,392,131

End of the Year

No. of shares

RiBE
349,824,937
24,224,937
162,320,000

108,480,000

84,800,000

23,680,000

54,800,000

54,800,000

483,220,746

280,820,746

202,400,000

833,045,683

Percentage

H51(%)
41.99%
2.91%
19.49%

13.02%

10.18%

2.84%

6.58%

6.58%

58.01%

33.71%

24.30%

100%



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

1. Since Mr. Zhang Yupu, an ex-officer of the Company, has resigned for
personal reason for less than six months, the 258 shares in the
Company held by him has been locked-up pursuant to relevant rules.
As at the end of the reporting period, the lock-up period of such

shares was expired and such shares became non-restricted shares.

2. There are no internal staff shares during the reporting period.

3. Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3rd November, 2008
regarding a bonus issue of 6 shares for every 10 shares held by the
shareholders as of 2nd December, 2008, the issued capital of the
Company was increased from RMB520,654,000 to RMB833,046,000

by capitalisation of share premium of RMB312,392,000.

RS (18)

1. REREREEA SR EFELERA
1B A JR 5] B 18 2K i F 4 I 40 0% 25
TFHERFE Al #2588 B R & 15
"R BERHEHEK  ZERG
B E B E - B AERE IR
{/\ ®

2. Bl LE# &5 B K 2 A 4% 9 AT B TR -

3. BER-_ZZN\F+—A=B@B
HEARAR-_ZEENE+=-A=H
ZREAGI0ORE Lo M A B
TR -—ELEBRRARR  A27A
B %17 Ik &~ 1 A R %#520,654,000

TEMBEHEEEARLCARE
312,392,000 7t &= A & # 833,046,000
IT o

2. Time over which shares are restricted from listing for 2. EREEKEHERMIT LTRSS
trade B
Additional
shares that
can be
listed and
traded upon Remaining Remaining
expiry of the restricted  non-restricted
Time restricted period shares shares Description
R & 5w
B LS B R & &4 IR £ 5 4
i [ REBRBBE ROHEHE BROBEHRE HH
30th April, 2010 349,824,937 — — Under the commitments of the

holders of non-circulating shares of
the Company and 24 natural-person
promoter shareholders, none of their
shares can be transferred within 36
months commencing from the
Company’s listing on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange.

RAE A 2 7 IE R 8RR K24 %
BAANBRBAREEAR  BARA
IR EAERRZPT £ AE36ME A AN
EEAEMBRE -

—E—ZTF
mA=+H
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3.

WEICHAI Power Co.,

Shareholdings of the top ten restricted shareholders

and the restrictions

Number of
Name of restricted restricted
Serial No share shareholder shares held
FEN
BRE KM
5 ARERGERORRER REHHE
1. HREREEERAA 124,236,640
B £33
(Weichai Group Holdings
Limited) ("Weichai Holdings"”)
2. Peterson Holdings Company 37,600,000
Limited
EHERERAR
3. BEEL IEEM(EE) 34,400,000
ARAT
(Fujian Longyan
Construction Machinery
(Group) Company Limited)
4. RYTAIFRELBEAFRRR 34,400,000
(Shenzhen Chuangxin
Investment Group Company
Limited)
5. HIHTIRE R A 30,898,480
(Weifang Investment Company)
L. %S NBRMNERAE

Time permitted
to be listed and
traded in

the market

TEHREEH

30th April, 2010
—T-ZF

MA=+H

30th April, 2010
ZE-%F

MA=+A

30th April, 2010
—E-%F

MA=+H

30th April, 2010
—T-%F
mA=+H

30th April, 2010
—Z-%F

MA=+H

ESEBHRE (@)

3.

AI10% B R & R BRRFK
HERREHMT

Number

of shares
permitted

to be

listed and
traded in

the market

Restriction
B

L

ROHE

R &R

— Under the commitments of the 8
legal person promoter shareholders
(including Weichai Holdings) and
Zhuzhou State-owned Assets, no
shares held by them shall be

— transferred or managed by other
person or repurchased by the
Company within 36 months
commencing from the Company'’s

— listing on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.
HEZREEAEAEEARRR
WNBIE A - HFEENRR &
BARRABREERINEZR S L
mZBR=T R EARNTEZK

— EZFAMAEE 0 FRALEME
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Serial No

7 55

10.

Name of restricted
share shareholder

FREFKGERORRER

KMTEEEERERE
ARAR

(Zhuzhou State-owned Assets
Administration Management
Company Limited)

B 3 6] IV 5 11 5 56 4 41,
ERAA

(IVM Technical Consultants
Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H)

IWRECETELERD
ARAR

(Shandong Enterprise
Trust Operation Company
Limited)

ERNIEEERAAF
(Guangxi Liugong Group
Limited)

Tan Xuguang
B

Number of
restricted
shares held
BEN
BERERY
REGHE

24,224,937

17,200,000

16,000,000

7,184,880

6,880,000

Time permitted
to be listed and
traded in

the market

TEHXSEH

30th April, 2010
—T-ZF

mA=+H

30th April, 2010
—T-%F

MA=+H

30th April, 2010
—E-%F

MA=+H

30th April, 2010
—E-FF

MA=+H

30th April, 2010
—T-%F

MA=+H

Number

of shares
permitted
to be
listed and
traded in
the market
BT
tHRS
REOHE

(#&)

Restriction

RERME

Under the commitments of the 24
nature person shareholders
(including Tan Xuguang), no shares
held by them shall be beneficially
transferred or repurchased by the
Company within 36 months
commencing from the Company's
listing on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.
BRESUEZEAARRIL A&
W HARFENRNSE AR AR
FERNEBFR M ERZ AL
STAEARNTEEEE  h 1A
RAFEE o
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(I) Shareholdings of the substantial shareholders
(As at 31st december, 2008)

Total number of Shareholders

IR R 42

m FERRFHFRER (BLE

NEFZR=1+—H)

Y

=T

The number of shareholders is 80,406 among which 80,111 are

shareholders of “A" shares and 295 are shareholders of “H"” shares.
80,406 F © EFRARIKES0, 1115 » HIRARE 2955

A0 REFRER

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders

Name of shareholder

BRRE M

HKSCC Nominees Limited
BBEPREEREA
AR A A

MR EERR A A
(Weichai Group Holdings
Limited)

Peterson Holdings
Company Limited
BHERABRA A

RYITRIFT IR E & &
BRAF

(Shenzhen Chuangxi
Investment Group
Co., Ltd)

EErs TRHEW
(£E)BRAF

(Fujian Longyan
Construction
Machinery (Group)
Company Limited)

Approximate
percentage of

Type of shares held
shareholder (%)
Bk

B R (%)

Foreign shareholder 24.19%

HSNERR R

State-owned legal 14.92%
person

BEAN

Overseas legal person 4.51%

BINE AN

Domestic non state- 4.13%
owned legal person

BAEBEEEA

Domestic non state- 4.13%

owned legal person

BAFBEAEA

MEDNRMDERLT

Number of

Total number restricted
of shares held shares held
BEERE

BREY FAEROGHE
201,477,718 —
124,304,000 124,236,640
37,600,000 37,600,000
34,400,000 34,400,000
34,400,000 34,400,000

Number of
shares
pledged or
frozen
=g
REEN
RHHE

N/A
RA



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) EEE2WRE(48)
Approximate Number of
percentage of Number of shares
Type of shares held Total number restricted pledged or
Name of shareholder shareholder (%) of shares held shares held frozen
FREQ =g
BoLt HEEERE REEH
REREE RER M E (%) FRAH HKOEROBE R E
O TIRE QA State-owned legal 3.71% 30,898,480 30,898,480 —
(Weifang Investment person
Company) BEA
WM EE & E State-owned shares 2.91% 24,224,937 24,224,937 12,112,000
REKEHRAT legal person
(Zhuzhou State-owned K IE A

Assets Administration
Management Company

Limited)
B 3 R VM £ 47 55 =8 Overseas legal person 2.06% 17,200,000 17,200,000 —
Hh AR A A JINEA

(IVM Technical
Consultants Wien
Gesellschaft m.b.H)

IWRERERELE Domestic non state- 1.92% 16,000,000 16,000,000 —
&HERRAF] owned legal person
(Shandong Enterprise BAFEBEEA

Trust Operation
Company Limited)

Industrial and Commercial Domestic non state- 1.14% 9,511,107 — —
Bank of China owned legal person
— ZHEBEKEK FREBEFEA
BAEBERREES
PE T iRT
— ZHEBEKEK
BEBERREES

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any B EXHBEEIN RZ_EENF+A

other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital =t+—8B ARaTEERRARABD BT
of the Company as at 31st December, 2008. AN Y] Efh AR B RE 2 S R A o
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Shareholdings of the top ten non-restricted shareholders

Name of shareholder

RREMH

HKSCC Nominees Limited
EBPRAEEREABRAF

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
— 5L EBEXKRREGEBLFREES
FRTIEHRT —S2HEBEXRRREGAEZLFKREES

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
— EERRERBISREES
FEIERT — EERREERFILFREES

Bank of China — #EHE R EXRREABZTHREES
FERRIT —EEEELEREREAZLREES

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank
—EBRNRBRARRRAUEFREES
PERRERRT — BRI BRERELELREES

China Construction Bank — 2Bl KB AT TR EBZHFIEEES
FRERRT  ERABAFNEIERENELSREES

AKEBEEERESREES
AKEBEEERESAREES

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
— HEEEERREFHFREES
FEIERT  #LXBEELERREZSFKREES

China Construction Bank
— EFEETERERZVESFREED
REERRITT —EEEETERERZABLFREES

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

— SHEBERERENESREES
TEIFRT — ST EEERERERISRELS

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD

1104 & R & IR BRI B R

Number of the
non-restricted
shares held
HEERE
REROGHE

201,477,718

9,511,107

8,400,511

6,000,000

5,662,814

5,603,499

4,765,434

4,748,450

4,293,834

4,170,000

Types of shares

IR E R

Overseas listed foreign shares
BN EINE IR

RMB ordinary shares

AR E B

RMB ordinary shares
N il

RMB ordinary shares
AR L E R
RMB ordinary shares
AR E AR
RMB ordinary shares
AR I m

RMB ordinary shares
ARBEBK

RMB ordinary shares

ARBEBR

RMB ordinary shares
AR L@

RMB ordinary shares
AR EBK



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Description of the connected relationship or acting in concert relationship
among the aforesaid shareholders:

Among the aforementioned shareholders, 5 75 EZ B EK KR & 1L &
FIREESad FHEBEREREZERZFIREE S are both
managed by a fund manager, namely Z T iEH S E R QA A, BB
RERIAFREES and EZENRBARREEEFIRELS are
both managed by a fund manager, namely B E & EE A A7), £E
FELAEXNERREZFF R EES and EEHETERERZEDLFH
1% & H 4 are both managed by a fund manager, namely # £ ffl %
E22EBEAAR.

Save as the aforementioned, it's not certain whether there is any
connected relationship among the top ten shareholders and the other
top ten non-restricted shareholders, or whether there is any acting in
concert relationship among them.

DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVES

Shareholdings of the directors, supervisors and chief
executives

Nine of the directors, supervisors and chief executives of the
Company, namely Tan Xuguang, Xu Xinyu, Sun Shaojun, Zhang
Quan, Liu Huisheng, Ding Yingdong, Dai Lixin, Feng Gang and Tong
Dehui, are natural-person promoter shareholders and have undertook
that they will not transfer any shares of the Company within 36
months commencing from its listing on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. Upon such restriction period is expired, the shares held
thereon can be transferred in accordance with the relevant rules of
China Securities Regulatory Commission and Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

Appointment and resignation of the directors,

supervisors and officers

1. On 30th June, 2008, the 2008 second provisional meeting of
the Board of the Company considered and approved the
resignation of Mr. Zhang Yupu as the Executive President of the
Company, and approved the appointment of Mr. Fang Hongwei
as the Executive President of the Company.

ESEBHRE (@)

LB R R R S — RITE AR

NERRT  5HEBERREARERE
FREEG R HEEERERZEE
FREZESHRA - ETEEA— 57
EEEEARER  BERBRERSE
HREESREBERIBREBRERES
REECHAR - E2EEA —BEE
SEERAAER EERAERENRR
REFREESCREEMETERER
RUBLSREESHR —EZSEEA —
EEHXEASAAER o

B BB IASN - RRBARMEA T %
BRERREMA+REREKRERRZH
ERFEBBEE DARTERTE —
HITPHAL -

£ K5 SRERBASRN

ES EE SAEEAEER
Bn

ARBAEE EE SREBEAETRSA
IBBBARANBEARR - 25 /&M
X HH¥E FLE KRR BEHB
TAR - B BMH - RE2E H&
HEARBBREERZA LT E361EA
NAEEEMAFRE - REMME - M
FERESAZPEZES RARIESFR

SN ERREER

EE EE EREEBABNH

BRI ER

1. ZEENFAA=STA EXDH
I \FE_AEREELRS
BHBA ABREAELEHEA
RANITREBS - LRBEES
MEEERRRRARTRE -
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2. On 6th October, 2008, the 2008 fourth provisional meeting of
the Board of the Company considered and approved the
resignation of Mr. Zhang Yuanfu as the Company Secretary,
Chief Financial Officer, Qualified Accountant and Authorized
Representative of the Company, and terminated the
authorization granted to him for accepting service of process
and notices in Hong Kong. It also approved the appointment of
Mr. Cheung Tat Leung, Peter as the Company Secretary, Chief
Financial Officer, Qualified Accountant and Authorized
Representative of the Company, and granted him the
authorization for accepting service of process and notices in
Hong Kong on behalf of the Company.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company and the Group had the following continuing
connected transactions, certain details of which are disclosed in compliance
with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

List of Connected Persons and the relationship with the Company

Name of Connected Person Abbreviation

BEALEE 5 78

Weichai Group Holdings Limited Weichai Holdings

HEZEREE AR A A S 12 iR

Fujian Longyan Construction Fujian Longgong
Machinery (Group) Company BERETL
Limited

REEETIREER(EE)BRAA

Shanghai Longgong Machinery Shanghai Longgong
Company Limited EBRET
BRL(LEB)BMARRAR

A6 WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. M4ENNBRNBBRLADT

o
4t
)
o
i

—ZEENFEF+ARNH EERARRZ
ETN\EENABRBEES S #E
ZAA RERTBLEFELA
WME - MK EE ABREEEI R
BEARRERBIRIEHERES
BREZRBAHOATHEE [
EETREREAEAARWE M
BHRE  SERSTMERREAR
ITREEARRARNETEEREE
NBHAE AL -

FEMEERS

FR AR BAEEE THHFEEBER
P ZERFIHNETHBERELMBAUSE
UAZER R EHE

BEATLIRREREEARARRZBRE

Relationship between
the Connected Person
and the Group
BEATHASEEZRBAR

Held 14.91% interest in the
Company, one of the Promoters
of the Company
BBEARA14.91%# %
RARERLRAZ—

One of the Promoters
of the Company
RARERAZ—

An associate of Mr.

Li San Yim (a non-executive
director of the Company)
RRABEANITESEFRELE
ZHEAL
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Name of Connected Person

BEALTER

Guangxi Liugong Machinery
Co., Ltd.
EEY T RN ERAG

Weifang Weichai Deutz Diesel
Engine Co., Ltd.
HEDI SR BRSO AR A A

Shandong Juli Company Limited
WRENRMHBERA A

Weifang Weichai Peterson Gas
Diesel Engines Company Limited

D HERBFREERIRBRAECTAA

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive
Transmission Co., Ltd.

BRAZLHAEEHEEAERAA

Shaanxi Automotive Group
Co., Ltd.
BETEEEAERE ERA

Abbreviation

&5 7

Guangxi Liugong
Machinery

& 78 490 T M A

Weichai Deutz
HE 5 B R

Shandong Juli
WERE 7

Weichai Gas
RS

Fast Transmission

AT R EE

Shaanxi Auotmotive

B & E

08

RS (18)

Relationship between
the Connected Person
and the Group
BEATEHASEEZBRE

Guangxi Liugong Group Co.,
Ltd (one of the Promoters of the
Company) held 63% interest in
Guangxi Liugong Machinery
ERANTIEEARA R
(RRRBREAZ-)FHER

J& 78 40 T #4763 % #E =

Weichai Holdings held 50%
interest in Weichai Deutz
SRV IR R B M S B R 50% HE a4

Weichai Holdings held 30.59%
interest in Shandong Juli
HELEIEIR S B LR E 7130.59% # &=

Peterson (CNG) Equipment

Limited (an associate of

Mr. Yeung Sai Hong, who is a
non-executive director of the
Company) held 50% interest

in Weichai Gas

Peterson (CNG) Equipment Limited
(RRRIERMTESHEMELE
ZHEANLT) A M REES0%E m

Held 49% interest in a
subsidiary of the Company,
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd.

BHEARRARNB QA

PRPRE TR R A R

EE A R49% =

Held 49% interest in a

subsidiary of the Company,
Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automotive
Co., Ltd.

BHAERRBMNER A
BREEEATEB R A A49% =
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Name of Connected Person

BEALTER

Dong Feng Automotive Group Co., Ltd.
REAEEEROBRAF

Mudan Jiang Huatong Automotive
Group Company Limited
HATERSETHIEAA

Mr. Steve Wang

ITREE

TMD Friction Europe GmbH

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

MEDNRMDERLT

Abbreviation

1Lk

Dong Feng Automotive

REAEEHE

Huatong
£

Mr. Wang
EEE

T™D

o
4t
)
o
i

Relationship between
the Connected Person
and the Group
BEATHASEEZBRE

Held 40% interest in a

subsidiary of the Company, Dong
Feng Off-road Vehicles Co., Ltd.
BAERRAMNE QAR

[ i BF 2 B IR A A140% 5

Held 20.04% interest in a
subsidiary of the Company,
Mudan Jiang Futong Automotive
Air Conditioner Co., Ltd.
FEARRBMNER A
HATIE®RIEZHERAA
20.04% 1 &%

A natural person, held 25% interest
in a subsidiary of the Company,
MAT Automotive Inc (“MAT")
BAAN  BAXRRDANE R RIMAT
Automotive Inc([ MAT |)25% # &

Held 48% interest in a subsidiary
of the Company, Meneta Advance
Shims Technology A/S (“MAST")
BFEARRBMNER A

Meneta Advance Shims Technology
A/S([MAST 1) 48% ## =
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Provision of general services and labour services by Weichai
Holdings and its associate to the Company

Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17th November, 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, collectively
referred to as “Weichai Holdings General Services Agreement”),
Weichai Holdings has agreed to provide certain labour services as well
as general services to the Company, namely, environmental protection,
security, fire, repair, maintenance and other general services and the
payment of certain town land use right tax in relation to the property
occupied and/or used by the Company. The fees payable by the
Company to Weichai Holdings with respect to the provision of the said
services are determined based on the actual costs incurred by Weichai
Holdings and apportioned on a pro-rata basis according to the area of
the relevant property occupied and/or used by the Company plus a
service charge representing not more than 5% of such costs and
settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between the
Company and Chongging Weichai Diesel Engine Works (“Chongging
Weichai”), an associate of Weichai Holdings, on 17th November, 2003
(as amended and supplemented by various supplemental agreements,
collectively referred to as “Chongqing Weichai General Services
Agreement”), Chongging Weichai has agreed to provide certain
general services to the Company, namely, environmental protection,
security, fire, repair, maintenance and other general services and the
payment of certain town land use right tax in relation to the property
occupied and/or used by the Company. The fees payable by the
Company to Chongging Weichai with respect to the provision of the
said services are determined based on the actual costs incurred by
Chongging Weichai and apportioned on a pro-rata basis according to
the area of the relevant property occupied and/or used by the
Company plus a service charge not exceeding 20% of such costs (save
that the town land use right tax paid by Chongging Weichai on behalf
of the Company will not be subject to the said 20% service charge)
and are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Upon the expiry of the Weichai Holdings General Services Agreement
and Chongqging Weichai General Services Agreement on 31st
December, 2010, the Company shall have an option to renew the
agreement for a term of three years. The approved annual caps for
the aforesaid services provided by Weichai Holdings and Chongging
Weichai for the years ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and
2010 are RMB29.5 million, RMB36.5 million and RMB47.5 million,
respectively. In the year ended 31st December, 2008, the total
amount charged by Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai to the
Company for the said services was RMB28,758,000.

g5

WS (48)

he AR & AR 75 & 85 75 AR 75
REBEADAREBERERER _TF=
T—AtTERALNGESRBHH (K
ZHRMAMBET MR RES
KERSEAREHBH])  RREREE
AARBREETHBERENARRR
Rz B #E - REREMESR
BEGERE  URRKABIXNAREME
BE/SEBOMENE THELHE
Bt iRt LR E - AR AR
[F) A SR 45 AR S A 0 B P T AR B M SR PR R
FFEENERRARARAMGEA R, %X
ERANERYEERBLOESD - =ik
ZERRTZR5% W REH MEFTE -
HESTRAKE -

HREBREEBEALRARE
F

REBEARRREERLEIRB([EEE
MR ARRZBBEALIR-_FTFT=
FH—ATEATUNZEEREHE (K
ZHRMABRET RER RBARIE
BHEGARBHR])  EERERR
BRAARNABRERRE KK EH - #
g REREMEEREFE THEAR
B ARRBINARAER R, &E
REMENE TWELERD - Btk
HERRBME  AABEREEMER
XN EBERDRBEERKEMELENE
BRRARARARAGERAR /S ERNEH
MEBmBLOIED  SNEZERRD
ZR20%MRBHMMEE (EEE
R AVNYNESI I = 0B = s R S SR
BRENLEM20%BRBEHMER)  HE
TRAKE -

R-E—FTF+ A=+ B#EER
RERBHEREESEEEARE HE
Bk ARAAIEEBEEEHE 0 BH
= o MUIIR R B M SR E AR
BREBEE-_ZETENF  —_ETHLER=
T-EF+_A=t+—BHLEFEZLH]
EFE LR 5 R A A R®29,500,0007T
A K #36,500,000 7T & A K ¥ 47,500,000
T RBEZTEZENEFEF+=ZA=+—H
EFE - #EEREEEHEH L
RERARATNBKBNBESCERLARK
28,758,000 7T °
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Supply and/or connection of utilities by Weichai Holdings
and its associate to the Company

Pursuant to the utility services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17th November, 2003 (as
amended and supplemented by various supplemental agreements,
collectively referred to as “Weichai Holdings Utilities Services
Agreement”), Weichai Holdings has agreed to provide or provide the
connection of certain utility and energy services to the Company,
namely, water, electricity, gas, steam, oxygen, nitrogen, compressed
air, waste water treatment and supply of treated waste water, etc.
The fees payable by the Company to Weichai Holdings with respect
to the provision of the said services are determined based on the
actual usage of the Company and by reference to the market prices
of such utilities. If only government published rates are available with
respect to certain utilities, the fees payable would be determined by
reference to the government published rates plus the wastage,
depreciation and repair expenses incurred by Weichai Holdings in
relation thereto. If no market price or government published rates
with respect to the above utility and energy services are available, the
Company will pay the actual costs incurred by Weichai Holdings in
relation to the provision of such utility and energy services plus a
service charge representing not more than 20% of such costs. Since
1st January, 2006, Weichai Holdings has been charging the Company
a service charge of 5% of the actual costs incurred thereof. The fees
are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Pursuant to the utility services agreement entered into between the
Company and Chongging Weichai on 17th November, 2003 (as
amended and supplemented by various supplemental agreements,
collectively referred to as “Chongqging Weichai Utilities Services
Agreement”), Chongging Weichai has agreed to provide or provide
the connection of certain utility and energy services to the Company,
namely, water, electricity, natural gas, steam, oxygen, nitrogen and
compressed air, etc. The fees payable by the Company to Chongging
Weichai with respect to the provision of the said services are
determined based on the usage thereof by the Company or, if it is
not possible to measure such usage, pro-rated according to the
respective sales of Chongqing Weichai and the Company and by
reference to the market prices of such utilities. If only government
published rates are available with respect to certain utilities, the fees
payable will be determined by reference to the government published
rates plus the wastage, depreciation and repair expenses incurred by
Chongqging Weichai in relation thereto. If no market prices or
government published rates with respect to the above utilities and
energy services are available, the Company will pay the actual costs

KB NRMBERR
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incurred by Chongqing Weichai in relation to the provision of such
utilities and energy services plus a service charge representing not
more than 20% of such costs. Chongging Weichai has been charging
the Company a service charge of 20% of the actual costs incurred
thereof. The fees are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Upon the expiry of the Weichai Holdings Utilities Services Agreement
and Chongqging Weichai Utilities Services Agreement on 31st
December, 2010, the Company shall have an option to renew the
agreement for a term of three years. The approved annual caps for
the aforesaid services provided by Weichai Holdings and Chongging
Weichai for the years ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and
2010 are RMB178 million, RMB223 million and RMB290 million,
respectively. In the year ended 31st December, 2008, the total
amount charged by Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai to the
Company for the said services was RMB152,882,000.

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, gas and
scrap metals, etc., materials and related products and
processing services by the Company from Weichai Holdings
and its associate

Pursuant to the Weichai Purchase and Processing Services Agreement
entered into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and
Chongging Weichai on 27th November, 2008,

(i)  the Company has agreed to purchase diesel engine parts and
components, gas and scrap metals, etc., materials and related
products at market prices from Weichai Holdings and
Chongging Weichai; and

(i) Chongging Weichai has agreed to provide processing services
to the Company with respect to certain semi-finished diesel
engine parts at fees determined based on the relevant market
prices.

The above transactions are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

R20% M RISHIINE - EEMSRC LA
It BE A B B R R AN 89 20% A AS 2 A) W ER
RIGHIME - ZEFERMETRALHE -
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S o MR R EEBLERE AR
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T—ZF+_A=+—RHLEFEZL&HI
EFEER DR A AR ¥178,000,000
T+ A K #223,000,000 7t & A R &
290,000,0007t * REZE_ZTZNF+ =
B=+—BLEE #EEBRREEH
Y LA RBRAARTKREHNERESER
AR #152,882,0007T °
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Upon the expiry of the Weichai Purchase and Processing Services
Agreement on 31st December, 2010, the Company shall have an
option to renew the agreement for a term of three years. The
approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases made and services
received from Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB86.5
million, RMB102 million and RMB112.5 million, respectively. In the
year ended 31st December, 2008, the total purchases made and
processing services received by the Company from Weichai Holdings
and Chongging Weichai amounted to RMB80,679,000 in total.

Sale of diesel engines, diesel engine parts and components,
materials and related products and provision of processing
services by the Company and one of its subsidiaries, Weichai
Power Reserves and Resources Company (“Weichai
Resources”) to Weichai Holdings and its certain associates
Pursuant to the Weichai Sales and Processing Services Agreement
entered into between the Company and Weichai Resources as
suppliers and Weichai Holdings and its certain associates as
customers on 27th November, 2008, the Company and Weichai
Resources have agreed to (i) sell certain diesel engines, diesel engine
parts and components and related products, and materials for the
repair services of diesel engines, and (ii) provide certain processing
services in relation to the production of diesel engines to Weichai
Holdings and its certain associates at market prices. The transactions
are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Upon the expiry of the Weichai Sales and Processing Services
Agreement on 31st December, 2010, the Company shall have an
option to renew the agreement for a term of three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales made and services
provided to Weichai Holdings and its certain associates for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB200
million, RMB265 million and RMB315 million, respectively. In the year
ended 31st December, 2008, the total sales made and processing
services provided by the Company and Weichai Resources to Weichai
Holdings and its certain associates amounted to RMB165,349,000 in
total.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Lease of buildings and equipment by Weichai Holdings (and
its associates) to the Company (and its subsidiaries)

Pursuant to the asset lease agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17th November, 2003 (as
amended and supplemented by the supplemental agreement dated
12th November, 2006, collectively referred to as “Lease of Buildings
and Equipment”), Weichai Holdings has agreed to lease to the
Company certain buildings (including factories and warehouses with
a total gross floor area of 63,245 sg.m.) situated at Weichai Factory
(the ""Buildings’) and all the equipment in relation to the
manufacture of certain semi-finished diesel engine parts (collectively
referred to as “Equipment”) located in the Buildings for a term
ending 31st December, 2009.

The approved annual caps for the lease rental payable to Weichai
Holdings in respect of the Lease of Buildings and Equipment for each
of the two years ending 31st December, 2009 are RMB43 million. In
the year ended 31st December, 2008, the total lease rental payable
by the Company to Weichai Holdings amounted to RMB42,840,000.

Lease of properties by Chongging Weichai to the Company
Pursuant to the properties lease agreement entered into between the
Company and Chongging Weichai on 1st July, 2003 (as amended and
supplemented by various supplemental agreements), collectively
referred to as “Lease of Properties”), Chongging Weichai has agreed
to lease to the Company certain land and buildings situated at which
the Chongging Production Line is situated for a term ending 31st
December, 2009.

The approved annual caps for the lease rental payable to Chongging
Weichai in respect of the Lease of Properties for each of the two
years ending 31st December, 2009 are RMB4,000,000. In the year
ended 31st December, 2008, the total lease rental payable by the
Company to Chongging Weichai in respect of the Lease of Properties
amounted to RMB3,404,000.
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WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Supply of diesel engines and diesel engine parts by the
Company to Fujian Longgong Construction Machinery
(Group) Company Limited (“Fujian Longgong”) and
Shanghai Longgong Machinery Company Limited
(“Shanghai Longgong”) and their associates

Fujian Longgong was a Promoter of the Company while Shanghai
Longgong was an associate of a Non-executive Director of the
Company during the year ended 31st December, 2008. Pursuant to
the respective framework agreements dated 21st October, 2003
entered into by the Company with Fujian Longgong and Shanghai
Longgong (as supplemented by various supplemental agreements),
the Company has agreed to supply Fujian Longgong and Shanghai
Longgong and their associates, at market prices and settled in the
month following delivery, diesel engines and diesel engine parts for a
term ending 31st December, 2010, upon which the Company shall
have the option to extend the term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of diesel engines
and diesel engine parts to Fujian Longgong and Shanghai Longgong
and their associates for the years ended/ending 31st December,
2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB1 billion, RMB1.3 billion and RMB1.5
billion, respectively. In the year ended 31st December, 2008, the total
sales of diesel engines and diesel engine parts made by the Company
to Fujian Longgong and Shanghai Longgong and their associates
amounted to RMB789,848,000.

Sale of diesel engines and diesel engine parts by the
Company to Guangxi Liugong Machinery Co., Ltd. (“Guangxi
Liugong Machinery”)

Guangxi Liugong Machinery was during the year ended 31st
December, 2008 a 63% owned subsidiary of Guangxi Liugong Group
Co., Ltd., which was a Promoter of the Company. Pursuant to the
framework agreement dated 21st October, 2003 entered into
between the Company and Guangxi Liugong Machinery (as
supplemented by various supplemental agreements), the Company
has agreed to supply Guangxi Liugong Machinery, at market prices
and settled in the month following delivery, WD615 Engines and
parts for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon the expiry of
which the Company shall have the option to extend the term for
another three years.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

10.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of diesel engines
and diesel engine parts to Guangxi Liugong Machinery for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB1,080
million, RMB1,235 million and RMB1,350 million, respectively. In the
year ended 31st December, 2008, the total sales of diesel engines
and diesel engine parts made by the Company to Guangxi Liugong
Machinery amounted to RMB598,120,000.

Sale of semi-finished diesel engine parts and related
products by the Company to Weifang Weichai Deutz Diesel
Engine Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Deutz")

Weichai Deutz was owned by Weichai Holdings as to 50% during the
year ended 31st December, 2008. Pursuant to the master sales
agreement entered into between the Company and Weichai Deutz on
21st October, 2003 (as supplemented by various supplemental
agreements), the Company has agreed to supply semi-finished diesel
engines parts and related products to Weichai Deutz for its 226B
series of diesel engines, at market prices and settled on a monthly
basis, for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon the expiry of
which the Company shall have the option to extend the term for
another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of semi-finished
diesel engines parts and related products to Weichai Deutz for the
years ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are
RMB100 million, RMB130 million and RMB170 million, respectively. In
the year ended 31st December, 2008, the total sales of semi-finished
diesel engines parts and related products made by the Company to
Weichai Deutz amounted to RMB71,197,000.

Provision of sales and warranty period repair services by the
Company to Weichai Deutz

Pursuant to the sales and warranty agreement entered into between
the Company and Weichai Deutz on 21st September, 2005 (as
supplemented by various supplemental agreements), the Company
has agreed to provide sales and warranty period repair and
maintenance services to Weichai Deutz, at market prices and settled
on a quarterly basis, for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon
the expiry of which the Company shall have the option to extend the
term for another three years.
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11.

12.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales and warranty period
repair services provided to Weichai Deutz for the years ended/ending
31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB15 million, RMB20
million and RMB26 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st
December, 2008, the sales and warranty period repair services
provided by the Company to Weichai Deutz amounted to
RMB14,938,000 in total.

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components and related
products by Weichai Resources from Weichai Deutz

Pursuant to the diesel engine parts and components and related
products purchase agreement entered into between Weichai
Resources and Weichai Deutz on 27th November, 2008, Weichai
Resources has agreed to purchase from Weichai Deutz certain parts
and components for the manufacture of diesel engines, at market
prices and settled on a monthly basis, for a term ending 31st
December, 2010, upon the expiry of which Weichai Resources shall
have the option to extend the term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases of diesel
engine parts and components and related products from Weichai
Deutz for the years ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and
2010 are RMB15 million, RMB47 million and RMB60 million,
respectively. In the year ended 31st December, 2008, the total
purchases of diesel engine parts and components and related
products made by Weichai Resources from Weichai Deutz amounted
to RMB6,028,000.

Purchase of diesel engines and related products by the
Company from Weichai Deutz

Pursuant to the diesel engines purchase agreement entered into
between the Company and Weichai Deutz on 27th November, 2008,
the Company has agreed to purchase certain diesel engines and
related products from Weichai Deutz, at market prices and settled on
a quarterly basis, for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon the
expiry of which the Company shall have the option to extend the
term for another three years.
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13.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases of diesel
engines and related products from Weichai Deutz for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB24
million, RMB28 million and RMB32 million, respectively. In the year
ended 31st December, 2008, the total purchases of diesel engines
and related products made by the Company from Weichai Deutz
amounted to RMB20,366,000.

Sale of diesel engines and related products by the Company
to Shandong Juli Company Limited (“Shandong Juli”)

Shandong Juli was owned by Weichai Holdings as to 30.59% during
the year ended 31st December, 2008. The Company and Weichai
Holdings entered into a framework agreement on 17th November,
2003 (as supplemented by various supplemental agreements). The
rights and obligations of Weichai Holdings in the agreement were
assumed by Shandong Juli pursuant to a supplemental framework
agreement entered into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and
Shandong Juli on 9th June, 2007.

Pursuant to the framework agreement, the Company has agreed to
sell to Shandong Juli WD615 Engines and related products, at market
prices and settled on a monthly basis, for a term ending 31st
December, 2010, upon the expiry of which the parties may extend
the term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of diesel engines
and related products to Shandong Juli for the years ended/ending
31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB70 million, RMB91
million and RMB120 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st
December, 2008, the total sales of diesel engines and related
products made by the Company to Shandong Juli amounted to
RMB66,499,000.
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14.

15.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, materials,
steel and scrap metal, etc. and related products and the
processing services by the Company and Weichai Resources
from Shandong Juli

Pursuant to the Juli Purchase and Processing Services Agreement
entered into between the Company and Weichai Resources and
Shandong Juli on 27th November, 2008,

(i)  the Company and Weichai Resources have agreed to purchase
from Shandong Juli diesel engine parts and components, steel
and scrap metal, etc. and related products; and

(i) Shandong Juli has agreed to provide processing services to the
Company with respect to diesel engine parts and components.

The said purchases and processing services are transacted at market
prices and settled on a monthly basis for a term ending 31st
December, 2010, upon the expiry of which the parties may extend
the term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases made and
processing services received from Shandong Juli for the years ended/
ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB315 million,
RMB410 million and RMB525 million, respectively. In the year ended
31st December, 2008, the total purchases made and processing
services received by the Company and Weichai Resources from
Shandong Juli amounted to RMB253,433,000 in total.

Supply of semi-finished diesel engine parts by the Company
to Shandong Juli

The Company and Weichai Holdings entered into a semi-finished
diesel engine parts supply agreement on 17th November, 2003 (as
amended and supplemented by various supplemental agreements).
The rights and obligations of Weichai Holdings in the agreement
were assumed by Shandong Juli pursuant to a supplemental
agreement entered into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and
Shandong Juli on 9th June, 2007.
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16.

Pursuant to the semi-finished diesel engine parts supply agreement,
the Company has agreed to provide semi-finished diesel engine parts
to Shandong Juli for a term ending 31st December, 2009, upon the
expiry of which the parties may extend the term for another three
years. The consideration payable by Shandong Juli are determined
based on the costs incurred by the Company in the provision of the
semi-finished diesel engine parts plus a service charge not exceeding
20% of such costs, and that the consideration will not be less than
the relevant market prices, if any (provided that it is permitted by the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC to do so).

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid supply of semi-finished
diesel engine parts to Shandong Juli for the years ended/ending 31st
December, 2008 and 2009 are RMB250 million and RMB290 million,
respectively. In the year ended 31st December, 2008, the total sales
of semi-finished diesel engine parts made by the Company to
Shandong Juli amounted to RMB119,414,000.

Supply of WD615 Engines and related parts by the Company
to Weifang Weichai Peterson Gas Diesel Engines Company
Limited ("Weichai Gas")

Weichai Gas was a jointly-controlled entity owned by the Company
and an associate of a Non-executive Director of the Company in
equal share during the year ended 31st December, 2008. Pursuant to
the framework agreement entered into between the Company and
Weichai Gas on 21st October, 2003 (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements), the Company has agreed to supply
Weichai Gas, at market prices and settled in the month following
delivery, WD615 Engines and related parts for a term ending 31st
December, 2010, upon the expiry of which the Company shall have
the option to extend the term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid supply of WD615 Engines
and related parts to Weichai Gas for the years ended/ending 31st
December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB20 million, RMB26 million
and RMB34 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st December,
2008, the total sales of WD615 Engines and related parts made by
the Company to Weichai Gas amounted to RMB17,179,000.
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17.

18.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Sale of parts and components of transmissions and related
products by Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. (a 51% owned
subsidiary of the Company, “SFGC”) to Shaanxi Fast Gear
Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. (“Fast Transmission"”)

Fast Transmission was a minority shareholder owning 49% interest in
SFGC during the year ended 31st December, 2008. Pursuant to the
parts and components sale agreement entered into between SFGC
and Fast Transmission on 1st August, 2007 (as supplemented by a
supplemental agreement on 27th November, 2008), SFGC has agreed
to sell to Fast Transmission certain parts and components of
transmissions, namely, gearboxes, at market prices and settled in
every two to three months, for a term ending 31st December, 2010,
upon the expiry of which SFGC shall have an option to renew the
agreement for a term of three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of parts and
components of transmissions to Fast Transmission for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB650
million, RMB620 million and RMB690 million, respectively. In the year
ended 31st December, 2008, the total sales of parts and components
of transmissions made by SFGC to Fast Transmission amounted to
RMB599,380,000.

Purchase of parts and components of transmissions and
related products by SFGC from Fast Transmission

Pursuant to the parts and components purchase agreement entered
into between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 1st August, 2007 (as
supplemented by a supplemental agreement on 27th November,
2008), SFGC has agreed to purchase from Fast Transmission certain
parts and components of transmissions and gears, namely, power
take off assemblies and castings, at market prices and settled in every
two to three months, for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon
the expiry of which SFGC shall have on option to renew the
agreement for a term of three years.
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19.

20.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchase of parts and
components of transmissions from Fast Transmission for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB850
million, RMB810 million and RMB910 million, respectively. In the year
ended 31st December, 2008, the total purchases of parts and
components of transmissions made by SFGC from Fast Transmission
amounted to RMB819,180,000.

Provision of general services by Fast Transmission to SFGC

Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between
SFGC and Fast Transmission on 17th September, 2001 (as
supplemented by a supplemental agreement on 27th November,
2008), Fast Transmission has agreed to provide certain general
services to SFGC, namely, health care, staff accommodation, child
care, logistics etc. for a term ending on 31st December, 2010, upon
the expiry of which SFGC shall have an option to extend the term for
another three years. The fees payable by SFGC to Fast Transmission
with respect to the provision of the said general services are
determined based on the relevant State policy and market prices and
are settled on a quarterly basis.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid general services provided
by Fast Transmission for each of the three years ending 31st
December, 2010 are RMB35 million. In the year ended 31st
December, 2008, the total amount payable by SFGC to Fast
Transmission for the general services was RMB30,531,000.

Lease of land and premises by Fast Transmission to SFGC

Pursuant to the land use rights lease agreement and building lease
agreement entered into between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 21st
March, 2002 (both as supplemented by various supplemental
agreements), Fast Transmission has agreed to lease to SFGC certain
land (“SFGC Land"”) and certain premises situated at the SFGC Land
(the “SFGC Premises”) for a term ending on 31st December, 2010,
upon the expiry of which SFGC shall have an option to renew the
agreements for a term of three years. The SFGC Land and SFGC
Premises are mainly used by SFGC for its production.
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21.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

The rental for SFGC Land shall be paid by SFGC before 25th June and
25th December every year, and the amount payable shall be revised
by the parties every four years based on the national price level of
the PRC and the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC. The land
tax in respect of the SFGC Land shall be borne by SFGC in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

The rental for SFGC Premises shall be paid by SFGC every season
each year, and the amount payable shall be determined based on the
yearly depreciation of the original value of the premises. The property
tax in respect of the SFGC Premises shall be borne by SFGC in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

The approved annual caps for the total lease rental payable to Fast
Transmission for the SFGC Land and SFGC Premises for the years
ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB14
million, RMB13 million and RMB13 million, respectively. In the year
ended 31st December, 2008, the total lease rental payable by SFGC
to Fast Transmission for the SFGC Land and SFGC Premises amounted
to RMB13,503,000.

Sale of vehicles, parts and components of vehicles and
related products and provision of heat processing services
by certain subsidiaries of the Company to Shaanxi
Automotive Group Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Automotive”) and its
associates

Shaanxi Automotive was a minority shareholder owning 49% interest
in Shannxi Heavy Duty Automotive Co., Ltd. (a 51% owned
subsidiary of the Company, “Shaanxi Zhongqi”) during the year
ended 31st December, 2008. Pursuant to the vehicles, parts and
components and raw materials sale and heat processing services
agreement entered into between Shaanxi Zhongqi and certain other
subsidiaries of the Company as suppliers (the “Shaanxi Suppliers”)
and Shaanxi Automotive and its associates as customers (the
“Shaanxi Customers”) on 1st August, 2007 (as supplemented by a
supplemental agreement on 27th November, 2008), the Shaanxi
Suppliers have agreed to sell certain vehicles and parts and
components of vehicles, namely, wire gauges emission pipes and raw
materials, ductile iron, castings, converted carriage, and provide heat
processing services to the Shaanxi Customers, at market prices and
settled by the parties every one to three months, for a term ending
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22.

31st December, 2010, upon the expiry of which the Shaanxi Suppliers
shall have an option to renew the agreement for a term of three
years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of vehicles, parts
and components and raw materials and provision of heat processing
services to the Shaanxi Customers for the years ended/ending 31st
December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB650 million, RMB850
million and RMB1,100 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st
December, 2008, the total sales of vehicles, parts and components
and raw materials and provision of heat processing services by the
Shaanxi Suppliers to the Shaanxi Customers amounted to
RMB401,657,000.

Purchase of parts and components of vehicles, scrap steel
and related products by certain subsidiaries of the Company
from certain associates of Shaanxi Automotive

Pursuant to the parts and components and scrap steel purchase
agreement entered into between Shaanxi Zhonggi and certain other
subsidiaries of the Company as buyers (the “Shaanxi Buyers”) and
certain associates of Shaanxi Automotive as sellers (the “Shaanxi
Sellers”) on 1st August, 2007 (as supplemented by a supplemental
agreement on 27th November, 2008), the Shaanxi Buyers have
agreed to purchase certain parts and components of vehicles, namely,
wire gauges and emission pipes, brake hoof, transmission axle and
radiator, and scrap steel from the Shaanxi Sellers, at market prices
and settled by the parties every one to three months, for a term
ending 31st December, 2010, upon the expiry of which the Shaanxi
Buyers shall have an option to renew the agreement for a term of
three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases of parts and
components of vehicles and scrap steel from the Shaanxi Sellers for
the years ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are
RMB1.5 billion, RMB2.2 billion and RMB2.7 billion, respectively. In
the year ended 31st December, 2008, the total purchases of parts
and components of vehicles and scrap steel made by the Shaanxi
Buyers from the Shaanxi Sellers amounted to RMB1,298,192,000.
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23.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Lease of land and premises by Shaanxi Automotive to
certain subsidiaries of the Company

Pursuant to the land use right lease agreements and building lease
agreements entered into between Shaanxi Zhonggi and certain other
subsidiaries of the Company as the lessees (the “Shaanxi Lessees”)
and Shaanxi Automotive as the lessor on 20th September, 2002, 1st
April, 2003 and 12th September, 2005 (as supplemented by various
redefinition agreements and supplemental agreements), Shaanxi
Automotive has agreed to lease to the Shaanxi Lessees certain land
and premises (the “Shaanxi Land” and “Shaanxi Premises”,
respectively) for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon the expiry
of which the Shaanxi Lessees shall have an option to renew the
agreements for a term of three years. The Shaanxi Land and Shaanxi

Premises are mainly used by the Shaanxi Lessees for their production.

The rental for the Shaanxi Land and Shaanxi Premises shall be paid by
the Shaanxi Lessees on a monthly basis (with the exception that the
annual rental shall be paid by one of the Shaanxi Lessees on 25th
June and 25th December every year). The annual rental of the
Shaanxi Land and Shaanxi Premises shall be revised by the parties
every five years based on the national price index of the PRC and the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC (with the exception that the
annual rental of the Shaanxi Premises applicable to one of the
Shaanxi Lessees is determined based on the yearly depreciation of the
original value of the premises). The land tax and property tax in
respect of the Shaanxi Land and Shaanxi Premises shall be borne by
the Shaanxi Lessees in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC.

The approved annual caps for the total lease rental payable to
Shaanxi Automotive for the Shaanxi Land and Shaanxi Premises for
the years ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are
RMB24 million, RMB17.8 million and RMB17.8 million, respectively. In
the year ended 31st December, 2008, the total lease rental payable
by the Shaanxi Lessees to Shaanxi Automotive amounted to
RMB18,088,000.
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25.

Payment of utility charges by Shaanxi Automotive to
Shaanxi Zhonggi for onward payment to utility providers
Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between
Shaanxi Zhonggi and Shaanxi Automotive on 20th September, 2002
(as supplemented by a redefinition agreement and various
supplemental agreements), Shaanxi Zhonggqi has agreed to transfer
certain utility services including water, electricity and gas it received
from third party utilities providers to Shaanxi Automotive, at market
prices and settled by the parties on a monthly basis, for a term
ending 31st December, 2010, upon the expiry of which Shaanxi
Zhonggqi shall have an option to renew the agreement for a term of
three years. Shaanxi Automotive shall pay the charges for the
relevant utility charges to Shaanxi Zhonggi for its onward payment to
the utility providers without any mark up (except for the sharing of
costs).

The approved annual caps for the total utility payments by Shaanxi
Automotive for the years ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009
and 2010 are RMB17 million, RMB18 million and RMB20 million,
respectively. In the year ended 31st December, 2008, the total utility
payments made by Shaanxi Automotive to Shaanxi Zhongqi for
onward payment to utility providers amounted to RMB11,866,000.

Provision of general services by Shaanxi Automotive to
Shaanxi Zhongqi and certain other subsidiaries of the
Company

Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between
Shaanxi Zhongqi and certain other subsidiaries of the Company and
Shaanxi Automotive on 20th September, 2002 (as supplemented by a
supplemental agreement dated 27th November, 2008), Shaanxi
Automotive has agreed to provide to Shaanxi Zhongqi and certain
other subsidiaries of the Company certain general services namely,
health care, accommodation, education, child care and property
management and other general services, for a term ending 31st
December, 2010. The fees payable to Shaanxi Automotive with
respect to the provision of the said general services are determined
based on the relevant State policy and market prices and are settled
on a quarterly basis.
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26.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid general services provided
by Shaanxi Automotive for the years ended/ending 31st December,
2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB70 million, RMB80 million and RMB91
million, respectively. . In the year ended 31st December, 2008, the
total amount payable by Shaanxi Zhongqi and certain other
subsidiaries of the Company to Shaanxi Automotive for the general
services was RMB47,461,000.

Sale of off-road vehicles by Dong Feng Off-road Vehicle Co.,
Ltd. (a 60% owned subsidiary of the Company, “DFOVCL")
to Dong Feng Automotive Group Co., Ltd. (“"Dong Feng
Automotive”)

Dong Feng Automotive was the minority shareholder owning 40%
interest in DFOVCL during the year ended 31st December, 2008.
Pursuant to the off-road vehicles sale agreement entered into
between DFOVCL and Dong Feng Automotive on 1st August, 2007
(as supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 27th
November, 2008), DFOVCL has agreed to sell certain off-road vehicles
to Dong Feng Automotive, at market prices and settled by the parties
every two to three months, for a term ending 31st December, 2010,
upon the expiry of which DFOVCL shall have an option to renew the
agreement for a term of three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of off-road vehicles
to Dong Feng Automotive for the years ended/ending 31st December,
2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB350 million, RMB530 million and
RMB630 million, respectively. In the year ended 31st December,
2008, the total sales of off-road vehicles made by DFOVCL to Dong
Feng Automotive amounted to RMB283,203,000.
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28.

Purchase of parts and components of off-road vehicles and
related products by DFOVCL from Dong Feng Automotive
and its associates and provision of technical support services
by Dong Feng Automotive and its associates to DFOVCL

Pursuant to the parts and components purchase agreement entered
into between DFOVCL and Dong Feng Automotive on 1st August,
2007 (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 27th
November, 2008), DFOVCL has agreed to purchase certain parts and
components of off-road vehicles from Dong Feng Automotive and its
associates, at market prices and settled by the parties every two to
three months. In addition, Dong Feng Automotive and its associates
have agreed to provide certain technical support services to DFOVCL
at a price being 3% of the transaction amount of the off-road
vehicles sold by DFOVCL. The said transactions are for a term ending
31st December, 2010, upon the expiry of which DFOVCL shall have
an option to renew the agreement for a term of three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases made and
technical support services received from Dong Feng Automotive and
its associates for the years ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009
and 2010 are RMB165 million, RMB230 million and RMB270 million,
respectively. In the year ended 31st December, 2008, the total
purchases made and technical support services received by DFOVCL
from Dong Feng Automotive and its associates amounted to
RMB46,410,000 in total.

Provision of processing services by Mudan Jiang Huatong
Automotive Group Company Limited (“Huatong”) to Mudan
Jiang Futong Automotive Air Conditioner Company Limited
(a 51% owned subsidiary of the Company, “Futong”)
Huatong was a minority shareholder owning 20.04% interest in
Futong during the year ended 31st December, 2008. Pursuant to the
processing services agreement entered into between Futong and
Huatong on 1st August, 2007 (as supplemented by a supplemental
agreement dated 27th November, 2008), Huatong has agreed to
provide certain processing services to Futong in respect of parts and
components of vehicles, at market prices and settled by the parties
every two to three months, for a term ending 31st December, 2010,
upon the expiry of which Futong shall have an option to renew the
agreement for a term of three years.
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29.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid processing services
provided by Huatong for the years ended/ending 31st December,
2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB12 million, RMB13 million and RMB15
million, respectively. In the year ended 31st December, 2008, the
total amount payable by Futong to Huatong for the processing
services was RMB8,307,000.

Sale of automotive parts and components and related
products by MAT Automotive, Inc. (a 75% owned subsidiary
of the Company, “MAT"”) and its subsidiaries to certain
associates of Wang Wei

Wang Wei was a minority shareholder owning 25% interest in MAT
during the year ended 31st December, 2008. Pursuant to the
automotive parts and components sale agreement entered into
between MAT and its subsidiaries as suppliers (the “US Suppliers”)
and certain associates of Wang Wei as customers (the “US
Customers”) on 27th November, 2008, the US Suppliers have agreed
to sell to the US Customers automotive parts and components, in
particular, automotive brake rotors, grease fittings for hubs, brake
shims for automotive brake pads and back plates, and related
products, at market prices and settled by the parties one to three
months after delivery, for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon
the expiry of which the US Suppliers shall have an option to renew
the agreement for a term of three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of automotive parts
and components and related products to the US Customers for the
years ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are
RMB115 million, RMB125 million and RMB130 million, respectively. In
the year ended 31st December, 2008, the total sales of automotive
parts and components and related products made by the US
Suppliers to the US Customers amounted to RMB145,426,000.
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30.

31.

Purchase of automotive parts and components and related
products by MAT and its subsidiaries from certain associates
of Wang Wei

Pursuant to the automotive parts and components purchase
agreement entered into between certain associates of Wang Wei as
customers (the “US Sellers”) and MAT on 27th November, 2008, MAT
and its subsidiaries (the “US Buyers”) have agreed to purchase from
the US Sellers automotive parts and components, in particular,
automotive brake drums and rotors, hubs and truck parts, industrial
pumps and parts, lawn motor seats and mirror supports, and related
products, at market prices and settled by the parties one to three
months after delivery, for a term ending 31st December, 2010, upon
the expiry of which MAT shall have an option to renew the
agreement for a term of three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases of automotive
parts and components and related products made from the US Sellers
for the years ended/ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are
RMB17 million, RMB19 million and RMB20 million, respectively. In the
year ended 31st December, 2008, the total purchases of automotive
parts and components and related products made by the US Buyers
from the US Sellers amounted to RMB27,855,000.

Sale of automotive parts and components and related
products by certain subsidiaries of MAT to TMD Friction
Europe GmbH (“TMD")

TMD was a minority shareholder owning 48% interest in Meneta
Advance Shims Technology A/S (an indirect subsidiary of the
Company) during the year ended 31st December, 2008. Pursuant to
the automotive parts and components sale agreement entered into
between MAST, Meneta A/S (another subsidiary of MAT) and TMD on
27th November, 2008, MAST and Meneta A/S have agreed to sell to
TMD automotive parts and components, in particular, brake shims
and back plates, and related products, at market prices and settled
by the parties one to three months after delivery, for a term ending
31st December, 2010, upon the expiry of which MAST and Meneta
A/S shall have an option to renew the agreement for a term of three
years.
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The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of automotive parts
and components and related products to TMD for the years ended/
ending 31st December, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are RMB100 million,
RMB105 million and RMB110 million, respectively. In the year ended
31st December, 2008, the total sales of automotive parts and
components and related products made by MAST and Meneta A/S to
TMD amounted to RMB99,191,000.

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed
the continuing connected transactions set out above and have confirmed
that these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms
available to or from independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

EMOLUMENT PoLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the directors and supervisors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales during the year to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’ total sales for the year.

The aggregate purchases during the year from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for
the year.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year did a director, a
supervisor, an associate of a director or a shareholder of the Company,
which to the knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital, have an interest in any of the Group’s five largest
suppliers or customers.

PoST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Details of the significant post balance sheet events of the Group are set
out in note 45 to the financial statements.

AuniT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Koo Fook
Sun, Louis, an Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Koo is an
experienced investment banker with appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.10 (2) of the the Listing Rules for the purpose of this appointment.
Throughout the year, the Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities,
reviewed and discussed the financial results and internal control system of
the Company. In accordance with the requirements of Appendix 16 to the
Listing Rules, the Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements
for the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES IN APPENDIX 14 OF THE LISTING RULES

Throughout the year, other than the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer being performed by Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan"), the
Company has complied with all the code provisions of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules.
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Mr. Tan is in charge of the overall management of the Company. The
directors consider that the combination of the roles of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer can promote the efficient formulation and
implementation of the Company’s strategies which will enable the Group
to grasp business opportunities efficiently and promptly. The Company
considers that through the supervision of its board and its Independent
Non-executive Directors, there is adequate balance of power and authority
in place.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MoDEL CODE

During the year, the Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transaction by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code"”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the
directors have confirmed that they complied with the required standard set
out in the Model Code for the year under review.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31st December, 2008.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donation amounting to
RMB21,193,000.

AUDITORS

Shandong Zheng Yuan Hexin Accountants Limited ([ 3 IF J& 1 1 & &
= £ @ =t B E # A7) retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company for its accounts prepared under PRC accounting
principles and financial regulations will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of
the Company for its accounts prepared under Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements for the year have been approved by the Board on
27th April, 2009.

PUBLICATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT ON THE WEBSITES
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED AND
THE COMPANY

The 2008 Annual Report will be despatched to shareholders as well as
made available on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s website at
www.hkex.com.hk and the Company’s website at www.weichai.com.

On behalf of the Board

Tan Xuguang
Chairman and CEO
Hong Kong

27th April, 2009
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’S REPORT

Dear Shareholders,

During the period, in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “Company Law"”) and the Articles of
Association of the Company and in compliance with the principles of integrity,
all members of the Supervisory Committee of the Company (the “Supervisory
Committee”) performed their duties of supervision with a view to protecting
shareholders’ interests in line with their accountability to all shareholders. They
monitored the operations and financial position as well as the performance of
the senior management of the Company during the period. On behalf of the
Supervisory Committee, | hereby present our report as follows:

OVERVIEW OF THE WORK OF THE SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE

In 2008, as required by the relevant rules and procedures of meetings of
the Supervisory Committee and based on its actual work, the Supervisory
Committee conducted inspections on the operations and financial position
of the Company, and reviewed the financial statements regularly. In 2008,
the Supervisory Committee held three meetings. Details of the time,
attendance and contents of the meetings are as follows:

1. On 29th April, 2008, the sixth meeting of the second phase of the
Supervisory Committee was convened. All Supervisors were present.
The meeting considered and approved the full text and summary of
2007 annual report of the Company, the work report of the
Supervisory Committee for 2007, the consolidated financial
statements and auditors’ report for 2007, the final finance report for
2007, the profit distribution proposal for 2007, and 2008 first
quarter report of the Company.

2. On 20th August, 2008, the seventh meeting of the second phase of the
Supervisory Committee was convened. All Supervisors were present. The
meeting considered and approved the full text and summary of 2008 interim
report of the Company and was of the opinion that the interim report gives a
true and fair view of the operations and financial position of the Company
during the first-half. It also considered and approved the resolution in respect
of issuing shares by conversion of capital reserve in mid-2008.

3. On 27th October, 2008, the first provisional meeting of the
Supervisory Committee was convened. All Supervisors were present.
The meeting considered and approved 2008 third quarter report of
the Company and highly affirmed the financial performance of the
Company. The Supervisory Committee was of the opinion that the
quarter report gives a true and fair view of the operations and
financial position of the Company during the reporting period.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4B NRMNBRL

REEHRS

BAIR :

RABMEA - REFEARXMNE 2 FE
K2RVE)) RARRBEZERANE BIK
X ARAREFE(EFE)2BKREBETH
ERAY AEFH2ERERAENEE  RE
BOTEERE BO4ERRERZ ®FAR
AEEBEARAHANRKERBBEMRAARS
REBABMRE - AABRKRKRESTER
ETERENT

HREEIFORE

RZEZNF ESeREESTe 2R A

HAREFz2HAE HHERIEBR &

BEARARNARLE RV BAR R - I E B % B B

BHRER - RZZTNF EBESgHEZR=R

2\%’ EZARMARENHE LEBALE
NN

1. E_REFEERNRREER_ZZTN
i@ﬂ‘+h5”ﬁ'%ﬁ%$ﬁﬁﬁ
o BRERABTRA_ZETLFHF
Eﬁ%%X&%x~:§§t¢E%$
EIHERSE  —TELFEFAUBR
RREFHBREE  —ZEZLFEMH
RERE S —_TELFEMNEIER R
UNERRRI—ZEZENFEFE-—FTERSE o

2. F_EEFEELREZINRN_ET)N\F
NAZ+BEAR 2REEHELFE -
CHRBAABTRA_ZEZENFPHRE
EEXABE RRTHBEEEERKR

TRAIEFFHNREBRARABFBERIL
ERBABT _TTN\ERHRELARESE
HRERANRR -

3. EFeR_EZENFT+A-TLtHER
—EENFEAREERE  2BEEY
BHFE 2XBFHBETRAAN_ZF
NEE=ZFERE  RNBET RAHN
MBRE REFERESEERRTA
AR E RN ELERN MM BER



SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT OPINION OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
ON RELEVANT MATTERS OF THE COMPANY IN 2008

Compliance of the Company’s operations with

Legal Requirements

During the period, pursuant to the laws and regulations of the place of
listing, the Supervisory Committee has duly supervised and examined the
convening procedures and resolutions of Board meetings, performance of
duties by the senior management of the Company, as well as the
establishment and consistent implementation of the Company’s internal
management system.

The Supervisory Committee is of the view that the Board and the senior
management of the Company strictly operated in accordance with the
Company Law, the Articles of Association as well as other relevant
regulations and rules of the place of listing. With integrity and diligence,
they performed their duties, executed all resolutions and authorities of the
general meetings, and conducted all operations in compliance with laws
and regulations and the Articles of Association. When examining the
financial position of the Company and monitoring the performance of the
directors and the senior management of the Company, the Supervisory
Committee was not aware of any action which would damage the interests
of the Company and the shareholders or may result in a breach of laws or
regulations or the Articles of Association and the rules of the Company.

Examination of Financial Position of the Company

In 2008, the Supervisory Committee further enhanced its internal control,
especially the examination on financial system. The Company has
established a comprehensive system on external investment, asset transfer
and connected transactions, etc. The Supervisory Committee is of the view
that the Company strictly operated and executed in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC and of China Securities Regulatory
Commission. On the control of capital turnover and management expenses,
the Company strictly checked on each grade which ensured the ordinary
operation of the Company while avoided financial risk.

The Supervisory Committee is of the view that the financial statements of
the Company reflect the financial position and operating results of the
Company in all material aspects in an objective, true and fair manner, and
the financial statements are true and reliable. The Supervisory Committee
has agreed on the audited financial statements issued by the auditors of
Shandong Zheng Yuan Hexin Accountants Limited and Ernst & Young.
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Acquisition and Disposal of Assets of the Company

During the period, the Company did not conduct any material acquisition
or disposal of assets, and did not produce or occur any insider dealing or
other actions which would damage the interests of the shareholders or
cause any asset loss.

Connected Transactions

During the period, the Supervisory Committee is of the view that the
connected transactions of the Company during 2008 were conducted
under the principles of fairness and the procedures of the transactions
were in compliance with laws and regulations. The Supervisory Committee
is not aware of any action which would damage the interests of the
Company and the shareholders.

In 2009, the Supervisory Committee will continue to perform its supervision
duties diligently for the protection of the interests of shareholders and the
Company in accordance with the Company Law and the Articles of
Association of the Company.

Sun Chengping
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee

Weifang, Shandong Province
27th April, 2009
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has always regarded the consistent maintenance of an
excellent, solid and reasonable corporate governance structure as its top
priority.

CoDE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

For the year ended 31st December, 2008, the Company has reviewed its
corporate governance documents and is of the view that the Company has
fully complied with the code provisions of the Code of Corporate
Governance Practice set out in the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules other
than Code A.2.1, which requires that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be two separate roles and should not be
performed by the same individual. Currently, Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan")
serves as the Chairman of the Board as well as the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. Despite such deviation, the directors believe that vesting
such roles in Mr. Tan will allow for more effective planning and execution
of business strategies of the Company. As all major decisions are made in
consultation with other members of the Board, the Company believes that
there is adequate balance of power and authority in place.

The directors believe that the Articles of Association, the scope of
responsibilities of the Audit Committee, the scope of responsibilities of the
Supervisory Committee and the codes on securities dealings by directors
and certain executives, which constitute the basis for the regular codes on
corporate governance of the Company, have covered the principles and the
code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practice as set out
in Appendix 14 to Listing Rules. In respect of the following areas, our
internal corporate governance documents are more stringent than the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices:

1. In addition to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, the Company has also established the
Strategic Development and Investment Committee (the “SDIC").

2. All members of the Audit Committee are Independent Non-executive
Directors, of whom Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, the Chairman of the
Committee, holds the relevant professional qualification or
professional knowledge related to accounting or financial
management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things,
formulating the Company’s overall strategies, setting management targets,
regulating internal controls and financial management, and supervising the
management’s performance while the day-to-day operations and
management are delegated by the Board to the executives of the
Company.

The Board currently comprises 18 directors, whose details are set out on
page 25 to 32 of this annual report. The Board includes four Executive
Directors, eleven Non-executive Directors and three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman and CEO), Mr. Xu
Xinyu, Mr. Sun Shaojun, Mr. Zhang Quan (Executive Directors), Ms. Zhang
Fusheng, Mr. Liu Huisheng, Mr. Yao Yu, Mr. Yeung Sai Hong, Mr. Chen
Xuejian, Mr. Li San Yim, Mr. Julius G. Kiss, Ms. Han Xiaoqun, Mr. Gu
Linsheng, Mr. Li Shihao, Mr. Liu Zheng (Non-executive Directors), Mr. Zhang
Xiaoyu, Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis and Mr. Fang Zhongchang (Independent
Non-executive Directors).

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rule and considers each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors to be independent.

The Board has notified each of the directors and supervisors in advance
that they should not trade in the securities of the Company within the
period as stipulated under the Listing Rules. All directors and supervisors
confirmed that they were in compliance with the Listing Rules in this
respect.

Other than their working relationships with the Company, none of the
directors, supervisors or the senior management has any financial, business
or family relationships or any relationships in other material aspects with
each other.

Other than the service contracts entered into by them or as otherwise
disclosed in this annual report, none of the directors or the supervisors has
any personal and substantive interest, direct or indirect, in the material
contracts entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
2008.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

In 2008, the Company held 8 Board meetings. The principal activities of
the Board in 2008 were as follow:

o Review the annual and interim result of the Company;

. Review of annual profit distribution and, interim dividend and 2007
final dividend distribution proposal;

o Review of proposal to distribute to all shareholders at the rate of 6
shares for every 10 shares by conversion of capital reserve based on
the total share capital as at 30th June, 2008, being the date of
record.

The total remuneration, including the basic salary, performance-linked
salary, incentive-linked salary and discretionary bonus of the directors in
2008 amounted to approximately RMB5.2 million. Independent Non-
executive Directors were only entitled to receive director’s fees but not
other salary or remuneration. For details for the remuneration of directors,
please refer to note 8 to the financial statements of the Company.

AupiT COMMITTEE
An Audit Committee was established by the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises all the Independent Non-executive
Directors, Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu, Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, and Mr. Fang
Zhongchang, with Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, with the appropriate
professional qualifications and experience in financial matters, acting as the
chairman of the Audit Committee. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are aligned with the recommendations set out in “A Guide for
Effective Audit Committees” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the period, presided over
by Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis. Details of the attendance are set out on page
82 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The major works accomplished by the Audit Committee during the year are
as follows:

o Review of the annual, interim financial statements of the Group, as
well as the management recommendations furnished by the external
auditors and responses from the Company’s management;

o Review of the accounting policies and practices adopted by the
Group and related matters;

o Assisting the Board to monitor the Group’s internal audit.

Throughout the period under review, the Audit Committee discharged its
responsibilities, reviewed and discussed the financial results and internal
control system of the Group.

In accordance with the requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules,
the Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31st December, 2008.

The non-PRC auditors of the Company have audited the consolidated
financial statements and have issued an unqualified auditors’ report.

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Strategic Development and Investment Committee (“SDIC") was
established by the Board.

The SDIC is principally responsible for examining and reviewing the
Company’s strategic plans, monitoring the implementation of strategic
planning, and facilitating timely adjustments to the Company’s strategies
and governance structure.

The SDIC currently comprises Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman of the Board and
of the SDIC), Mr. Sun Shao Jun, Mr. Zhang Quan, Mr. Chen Xuejian, Mr. Li
San Yim, Mr. Julius G. Kiss and Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee was established by the Board.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for recommendation to the
Board on the remuneration packages and terms of employment for
directors, supervisors and senior management of the Company. The
Committee also determines the relevant remuneration policy for directors,
supervisors and senior management of the Company and their
participations in incentive schemes operated by the Company.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises all the Independent
Non-executive Directors and two Non-executive Directors, being Mr. Koo
Fook Sun, Louis (chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Ms. Zhang
Fusheng, Mr. Yao Yu, Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu and Mr. Fang Zhongchang.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee was established by the Board

The Nomination Committee comprises all the Independent Non-executive
Directors and two Executive Directors, being Mr. Fang Zhongchang
(chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Xu Xinyu, Mr. Zhang Quan,
Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu, Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis. The meetings of the
Nomination Committee were arranged and held on an as-needed basis.
The Nomination Committee will identify qualified candidates to fill the
Board membership whenever such vacancy arises, it will nominate such
candidates for the Board to consider, regularly review the composition of
the Board and make suggestions as to any change in the membership of
the Board that may be required.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee consists of three members, with one Supervisor
being elected from the staff as a representative of employees and the other
two elected by the shareholders of the Company. The Supervisory
Committee is responsible for supervision of the Board and its members and
the senior management of the Company, so as to prevent them from
abusing their authorities and violating the interests of the Company, its
shareholders and staff. The size and composition of the Supervisory
Committee are in compliance with the requirements of the relevant laws
and regulations of the PRC. The Supervisory Committee held three
meetings during the year to carry out its supervision on behalf of the
shareholders in respect of the Company’s financial matters and the
lawfulness and compliance in respect of the discharge of duties by the
directors and senior management of the Company. The members of the
Supervisory Committee attended all Board meetings and shareholders’
meetings of the Company and diligently performed their supervisory duties.

Attendances at meetings of the Board, Supervisory Committee and
specialised committees (attendance in person/ number of meetings) during
the year are as follows:

A Name
HITES Executive Directors
2 JB Tan Xuguang
BRI E Xu Xinyu
RAOE Sun Shaojun
® R Zhang Quan
FHITES Non-executive Directors
&R A& Zhang Fusheng
22 B Liu Huisheng
g F Yao Yu
5t Yeung Sai Hong
PR 2 & Chen Xuejian
£ Li San Yim
Julius G. Kiss Julius G. Kiss

(L FHEG. 5 )
BBNEE Han Xiaoqun
BEAM A Gu Linsheng
R Li Shihao
2 fE Liu Zheng
BYKHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
RANE Zhang Xiaoyu
Bt & Koo Fook Sun, Louis
ERE Fang Zhongchang
E=x Supervisors
R Sun Chengping
TR Ding Yingdong
BEX Jiang Jianfang

The directors and supervisors who were unable to attend any meeting in
person, had appointed another director or supervisor (as the case may be),
as his representative to attend and vote at the meeting on his behalf and
was treated as having attended the meeting in person.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

SHAREHOLDERS  MEETING AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The shareholders’ meeting is the highest authority of the Company,
providing an opportunity for direct communications and building a sound
relationship between the Board and the shareholders of the Company.
Therefore, the Company places great importance to such meetings. In
2008, the Company convened five general meetings. Matters reviewed and
approved at the meetings include the following:

o the Report of the Directors, Report of Supervisory Committee for
2007,

o the profit distribution and final dividend distribution proposals for
2007,

o re-appointment and change of appointment of the external auditors
and determination of its remuneration;

o remuneration proposals for directors and supervisors;
o share issuing by conversion of capital reserve; and

J amendment to the Articles of Association of the Company.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate system
of internal control to safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’
interests.

Internal control, including a defined management structure with limits of
authority, is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use, maintain proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication.
The system is set up to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material mis-statement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s
objectives.

Management maintains and monitors the system of controls on an ongoing
basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the year, based on the evaluations made by management, the Audit
Committee was satisfied that nothing has come to its attention to cause
the Audit Committee to believe that the system of internal control is
inadequate, and there is an ongoing process to identify, evaluate and
manage significant risks faced by the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors aim to present the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors ensure the publication of financial statements of
the Group in a timely manner that the final and interim results of the
Group are announced within the four months and three months limit
respectively after the end of the relevant periods prescribed under the
Listing Rules.

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2008 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and audited by the
external auditors, Ernst & Young Limited. The directors acknowledge their
responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Group and
presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group'’s
performance and prospects. They are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern.
The Statement of the Auditors about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

AUDITORS  REMUNERATION

The Company has engaged Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company. For
the year ended 31 December 2008, an amount of RMB10 million was paid/
payable to Ernst & Young for their audit service.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

To the shareholders of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China as a joint stock company
with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Weichai Power Co., Ltd. set
out on pages 87 to 202, which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 31st December, 2008, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and true and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31st December,
2008 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27th April, 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT mEWAR
Year ended 31st December, 2008 HE—_FENF+_A=1+—HIFE
2008 2007
—EENEF —ETLF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B = AR® T AR F T
REVENUE A 5 32,567,190 28,786,183
Cost of sales =R Wi (26,908,591) (22,650,518)
Gross profit E FE 5,658,599 6,135,665
Other income and gains oAb U A K M as 5 218,875 115,431
Selling and distribution costs HERDHEBR (958,817) (951,212)
Administrative expenses TR 2 (1,117,368) (1,183,823)
Research and development cost M LHEER (379,525) (323,225)
Loss on disposal of disposal HERIELHEZ
group held for sale i & 48 Bl & 18 (49,775) (101,446)
Other expenses H (327,705) (161,959)
Finance costs HEEA 7 (297,844) (253,120)
Share of profits and losses of: Fgfﬁ—l—ﬁ‘l ARFERESE
A jointly-controlled entity HEZEGE S 523 —
Associates it % 9} Gl (6,265) (3,169)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R Bt A 6 2,740,698 3,273,142
Tax MIE 10 (328,989) (479,566)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F i FlHE 2,411,709 2,793,576
Attributable to: AN AL E(L -
Equity holders of the Company ViN/NIETR - b= P =IN 1,928,955 2,014,904
Minority interests LY R R E S 482,754 778,672
2,411,709 2,793,576
RMB RMB
AR¥ T AR T
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE Z&A R EE# R
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS BEEAEML
OF THE COMPANY FREF
Basic H AR 13 2.32 2.72
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& O\ MR = ==
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET hOEEBRE
31st December, 2008 —EFENFF+ZA=4+—H
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B = AR T AR F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - s REE 14 6,920,953 5,737,584
Investment properties EMH 15 80,663 32,333
Prepaid land lease payments A L E KA 16 278,570 297,633
Goodwill ma 17 538,016 538,016
Other intangible assets HEMEREEE 18 271,727 281,442
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity RERZFEEZRE 21 20,932 —
Investments in associates REE L N T 2 IRE& 22 179,772 220,106
Available-for-sale investments At ERE 23 178,187 75,358
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, W BE¥ % - #2E K
plant and equipment HEE ke 24 943,780 926,571
Deferred tax assets EEFIEE E 25 351,903 205,788
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 9,764,503 8,314,831
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 26 5,850,617 4,200,010
Trade and bills receivables EWESETRLREE 27 6,930,008 5,909,502
Prepayments, deposits and BRARIE - Ee Rk
other receivables H 1th & U7 BR X 28 1,271,235 897,929
Prepaid land lease payments TET A & IR 16 19,671 19,662
Pledged deposits BT R 29 2,511,809 856,109
Cash and cash equivalents HERIREEED 29 3,352,138 1,819,554
19,935,478 13,702,766
Assets of a disposal group classified FIEHE 2 L EHEBIEE
as held for sale 30 249,886 574,896
Total current assets mEEREME 20,185,364 14,277,662
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade and bills payables BB ZEFRRER 31 10,627,951 7,264,773
Other payables and accruals HEmENBERNESER 32 2,916,253 2,315,533
Dividends payable to minority shareholders [ 1< 4> £ i% 58 % & 79,775 31,765
Debentures & & 33 1,700,000 900,000
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 5 $8 77 % H b {& & 34 1,308,304 1,540,584
Tax payable FE 1 FE 18 534,476 438,252
Warranty provision 1R (& B 35 446,343 180,635
17,613,102 12,671,542
Liabilities directly associated with the HAOBRFELHEN
assets classified as held for sales EEEEZMEBENAE 30 185,611 296,434
Total current liabilities M AGEESE 17,798,713 12,967,976
WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

2008 2007
—EENE —EELEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bt 5 ARBT T AR T T
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 2,386,651 1,309,686
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EERERRBER
CURRENT LIABILITIES 12,151,154 9,624,517
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Interest-bearing bank and SHEETREMER
other borrowings 34 777,700 161,307
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIE A & 25 46,976 65,022
Total non-current liabilities ERBAEERE 824,676 226,329
Net assets EEFE 11,326,478 9,398,188
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to equity holders AR A=
of the Company A AEBE#ER
Issued capital B EITRA 36 833,046 520,654
Reserves 1 37 7,056,412 5,633,730
Proposed final dividend Bk R BRI B 12 108,296 229,088
7,997,754 6,383,472
Minority interests DB R% R R 2 3,328,724 3,014,716
Total equity T B R 11,326,478 9,398,188

KEFEN_ZETNFEUA -+ EBELE
YHTINEERRESTERE

Approved by the Board of Directors on 27th April, 2009 and signed on
behalf of the Board by:

Tan Xuguang Xu Xinyu
Director Director
BF BE
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Year ended 31st December, 2008

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY #HOIEDR%E

BE_ZFZ/N\F+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
KARBEEEAEL

Issued
capital

Available-
for-sale
investment
Capital Surplus revaluation Translation  Retained
reserve reserve reserve reserve profits
THIHE
ARE  REEH

BARfE R B EiRE RENE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARBTT AREBTR ARETR ARETRT ARETR
note 37(a)  note 37(a)
ME37@) M3

1,136,649 242,310 3,736 — 1,204,182

= = = (1,581) =
2,014,904

Total

&t
RMB'000

ARETT

2,984,562
(1,581)
2,014,904

Minority
interests

SHBR
i
RMB'000

ARETT

3,374,802

778,672

Total
equity

BiAH
RMB'000

ARBTT

6,359,364
(1,581)
2,793,576

Final 2006 dividend declared EER-ZE A FRHKS

Transfer from retained

TAGC Acquisition (note 36)
Contribution from minority

RAE AR (H25)

Disposal of a subsidiary

= = = (1,581) 2,014,904

= 158,329 = —  (158329)
(62,611) = = = =

1,325,229 = = = =

= = = —  (229,088)

2,013,323
(67,685)

(62,611)
1,515,883

778,672

(67,437)

(1,515,883)

455,053
(10,491)

2,791,995
(67,685)

(67,437)

(62,611)

455,053
(10,491)

At 31st December, 2007 WZEZ+F+-A=1-A

2,399,267 400,639* 3,736* (1,581)*  2,831,669*

6,383,472

3,014,716

9,398,188

Changes in fair value of

= = (83,130) = =
= = = (10,544) —

(83,130)
(10,544)

(4,593)

(83,130)
(15,137)

Total income and expense

= = (83,130) (10,544) =
= = = — 1,928,955

(93,674)
1,928,955

(4,593)
482,754

(98,267)
2,411,709

Unilateral capital contribution
Final 2007 dividend declared /TJX_ T% fiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ )

Transfer from retained profits

Proposed final 2008 dividend

= = (83,130) (10,544) 1,928,955

8,089 = = = =

(312,392) — — — —

= 163,792 = — (163,792

= = = —  (108,29)

1,835,281

8,089

(229,088)

478,161

(1,771)

(109,423)

10,165

(63,124)

2,313,442

6,318

(229,088)

(109,423

10,165

(63,124)

At 31st December, 2008 RZZENE+-A=1—-R

Bx

Notes  RMB'000
M ARETT
330,000

190,654

12 -
520,654

6 31239
12 -
12 -
833,046

2,094964*  564431* (79394  (12,125* 4,488,536

7,997,754

3,328,724

11,326,478

WEICHAI Power Co.,

RMB5,633,730,000) in the consolidated balance sheet.

MEDNRMDERLT
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Year ended 31st December, 2008

HOIREMER

RE-SFNG+-A=+—ALFE

2008 2007
—EEN\E —EELEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Ff 5 AR TR ARBTF T
CASH FLOWS FROM REXBELEZHESRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax & %5 Al A E 2,740,698 3,273,142
Adjustments for: FE
Finance costs 5 EH 7 297,844 253,120
Share of Profits and losses of FEh — R LR ZEGHE
a jointly-controlled entity and 5 R/NET Pl I D |
associates REBHE 5,742 3,169
Interest income A B A 5 (48,827) (26,530)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items HEMSE  HER
of property, plant and equipment ®BEER Z
BB () 5/6 671 (2,288)
Depreciation of property, plant and VI3 - SR ERE
equipment ZHE 6 757,256 583,142
Depreciation of investment properties KEMENE 6 2,276 802
Release of prepaid land lease payments Jaft L E R IE RO 6 19,499 20,312
Amortisation of other intangible assets BEELEEZ B 6 15,603 46,571
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEMHEERE
investments Z Wz 5 (11,015) (3,126)
Impairment/loss on disposal of FEHE 2 HEAR
disposal group held for sale B E R 49,775 101,446
Impairment of an investment R —RKEE QT
in an associate 2" ERE 6 142 —
Impairment of items of property, M WRRRE
plant and equipment I8 B R E 6 25,380 —
Impairment of available-for- A ERERE
sale investments 6 2,722 —
Impairment of trade and FEWE 5 R &
other receivables H b JE U2 BR OB (B 6 116,640 53,296
Write-down of inventories WRFEEZR
to net realisable values A] &3R8 FE 6 185,992 72,510
4,160,398 4,375,566
Increase in inventories T & 38N (1,836,599) (1,435,818)
Increase in trade and bills receivables FEUW B Z R R E B (1,112,274) (1,908,554)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and BB RBER
other receivables b JE U2 BR XI5 0 (438,592) (175,634)
Increase in trade and bills payables e E SR R Z 5N 3,363,178 2,059,330
Increase in other payables and accruals H RS BR 3R &
FET & B 404,497 651,997
Increase in provision for warranty provision 1 & & # > % 12 fin 265,708 128,851
Cash generated from operations REERELX 7B 4,806,316 3,695,738
Income tax paid =XOREIR T (361,969) (566,927)
Net cash inflow from REXBEEZES
operating activities A ERE 4,444,347 3,128,811
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31st December, 2008

ReRE

==

mEX (&)

NF+ZA=+—HIFFE

2008 2007
—EEN\E —EELEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i = ARBT R AR T
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHELEZHESRE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received B B 48,827 26,530
Investment in associates R—KEE AR ZRE (800) (61,939)
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity R—RAREHEL2RE (20,409) —
Increase in pledged deposits B 75 5138 0 (1,655,700) (396,456)
Additions in prepaid land lease payments T8 - £ 3 7 & 7R I8 180 (445) (90,707)
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEYHE  HRERX
equipment and deposits paid for REHEE X
acquisition of property, plant and W% - #es Rk
equipment HEE MRS (1,723,790) (1,995,391)
Purchases of investment properties BEREME (50,606) (1,368)
Purchases of available-for-sale investments & & 7] it H! & % & (194,000) (30,000)
Purchases of intangible assets BEEVAE (5,888) (815)
Proceeds from disposal of associates HEBE QR TS HKIEA 15,661 —
Proceeds from disposal of HEAHRIEERE
available-for-sale investments Fr 15 3} 18 26,879 92,863
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE - #EX
property, plant and equipment F IR B P58 38,910 44,066
Proceeds from disposal of disposal & {’E HEZ
group held for sale i & 48 Bl T 15 SR IB 1,000 42,215
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets & H/ BEMBHRIA — 1,568
Dividends received EHﬁZH %5 1,242 —
Acquisition of minority interests WELHRERER (55,341) —
Net cash outflow from RETHEE 2R ESREFE
investing activities (3,574,460) (2,369,434)
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHELEZRSRE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New interest-bearing bank and LR BARAT
other borrowings R E b 18 3K 3,872,448 476,350
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and B R B R1T
other borrowings R E b 18 3K (3.493,835) (1,961,395)
Share issue expenses EITRGHDER — (62,611)
Proceeds from issue of debentures BITES S RIE 1,700,000 866,790
Repayment of debentures BRER (900,000)
Interest paid B F B (234,672) (215,01 7)
Dividends paid B R A% B (229,088) (67,685)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders A Sk B A 2 BR B (61,414) (35,672)
Repayment to a related party m—BEEANTEERE = (68,445)
Capital contributions from DERRLEE
minority shareholders 10,165 455,053
Net cash inflow/(outflow) RMETBHEEZES
from financing activities A (RE) B8 663,604 (612,632)

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED) GAIREmMa® (&)

Year ended 31st December, 2008 HE—_FTENFF+_HA=+—HIFE
2008 2007
—ZTENEF —ETLF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
=2 AR TR AR F T
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND BeRESEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS #0548 1,533,491 146,745
Cash and cash equivalents RENzHE K
at beginning of year REFEEY 1,819,554 1,674,390
Effect of foreign exchange EXREH 2 FLE
rate changes, net (907) (1,581)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZEER
AT END OF YEAR REEEY 29 3,352,138 1,819,554
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASHAND B2 RELZEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS e
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTE 29 2,409,488 1,508,754
Non-pledged time deposits with MU RA B8 R
original maturity of less than DR =@ A Z &\
three months when acquired EHEFEX 942,650 310,800
3,352,138 1,819,554

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 iR



BALANCE SHEET SEE8EX

31st December, 2008 —EENFF+ZHA=1+—H
2008 2007
—EENE —EELEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bt 5 AR T AR T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - s REE 14 1,803,493 2,425,815
Prepaid land lease payments FEA L E A 16 113,638 127,852
Other intangible assets EmEREE 18 109,476 108,892
Investments in subsidiaries RER R ZIEE 20 4,002,382 3,726,475
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity R—RHARZEFHERZEKE 21 20,409 —
Investments in associates REENR 2R E 22 52,545 91,687
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 23 96,200 —
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, W EE¥ % - #2E K
plant and equipment RE RS 24 601,123 318,521
Deferred tax assets B IEE E 25 148,131 78,021
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 6,947,397 6,877,263
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 26 1,741,154 1,375,046
Trade and bills receivables EWE 5 ERFRER 27 3,414,244 2,310,439
Prepayments, deposits and TEHIE - EBE Rk
other receivables H b i W AR 5K 28 1,025,345 347,611
Prepaid land lease payments TEAS L F & FR IR 16 2,240 2,634
Pledged deposits BEHEREFER 29 1,813,232 641,966
Cash and cash equivalents BE&RIREEEY 29 770,079 738,054
Total current assets MEE EEE 8,766,294 5,415,750
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBAE
Trade and bills payables ERNEZEFRRER 31 4,791,896 3,480,160
Other payables and accruals HEMEMBRRRETER 32 1,414,495 1,363,872
Debentures &% 33 900,000 900,000
Interest-bearing bank and AT ERITR
other borrowings H & 5% 34 168,346 243,046
Tax payable & R IE 429,979 319,202
Warranty provision RAIE B 35 234,899 133,500
Total current liabilities mE A EEE 7,939,615 6,439,780
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) RBEE(8E)EE 826,679 (1,024,030)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EERERRBER
CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,774,076 5,853,233

94 WeicHAI Power Co., LTD. 2 NBRMNRBERLD




BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

P>
[=]

S EBBER (&)

\

2 \F+=A=+—A

2008 2007
—ZTENEF —ETLF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B = AR TR AR F T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and T EERTT
other borrowings B H A fE & 34 700,000 100,000
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE 25 10,039 13,403
Total non-current liabilities BB B EERE 710,039 113,403
Net assets BEEFE 7,064,037 5,739,830
EQUITY B
Issued capital B EITRA 36 833,046 520,654
Reserves i 37 6,122,695 4,990,088
Proposed final dividend R AR HI PR B 12 108,296 229,088
Total equity s AR 7,064,037 5,739,830

RKELEGEN_ZTNFONA-_tEB#HE
THTIHEERREEFEHRE

Approved by the Board of Directors on 27th April, 2009 and signed on
behalf of the Board by:

Tan Xuguang Xu Xinyu
Director Director
BZ BF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31st December, 2008

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a joint stock limited
liability company established in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") on 23rd December, 2002. The Company’s “H" shares and "“A”
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) and The Shenzhen Stock Exchange
from 11th March, 2004 and 30th April, 2007 onwards, respectively.
The registered office of the Company is located at 197, Section A, Fu
Shou East Street, High Technology Industry Development Zone,
Weifang, Shandong Province, the PRC.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
were involved in the following principal activities:

. manufacture and sale of diesel engines and related parts;

° manufacture and sale of automobiles and other major
automobile components;

o manufacture and sale of minor automobile components; and

° import and export services.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include
all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain investments
which have been measured at fair value. Disposal groups held for sale
are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less
costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“"RMB"”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31st December, 2008. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of
acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
All income, expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from
intercompany transactions and intercompany balances within the
Group are eliminated on consolidation in full.

The acquisition of subsidiaries during the year has been accounted
for using the purchase method of accounting. This method involves
allocating the cost of the business combinations to the fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. The cost of the
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair value of the
assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or
assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to
the acquisition.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders not
held by the Group in the results and net assets of the Company’s
subsidiaries. Acquisitions of minority interests are accounted for using
the entity concept method whereby the difference between the
consideration and the book value of the share of the net assets
acquired is recognised as an equity transaction.

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—FENF+=A=+-H

2.1

B (18)
meEX

HAEMBERREBARAREWNE QA
(BRI AKEE D RBE_TZNF
TZA=Z=+T—ALFENUBHRER - &
EFEBAENEEFAATEFEZTIRE
AERRER R -MEBEAR ZEEHK
BR(AAREHEESEGZZB) EFTA
HEVBmMERAN BEEABREGIRLL
ZERIE -MAKEERARAERZMES
MATERA RAXEARERAERAE
BARBNMBEESBREONGERER2
By -

FAKBENBARCSEREBEAA
B ZERHESRBEBEHRAD H#
EMEBAUHENEEAFEARKEE
ARAENBEEREIAEE - WEKA
BERRXBBHMANHEE  MBETRA
TERFEARARENEBEBEODT
18 - 0 B B 5 E A R B AR BO 48 A

S -

DB RESEINARRMIEA KBS
ARAMBRAREEREEFEZE
meo WELBERERRAERMIX
AR BB BEEFECKRERRR
EHREECHNERRASKRERS -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has adopted the following new interpretations and
amendments to HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements. Except for in certain cases giving rise to new
and revised accounting policies and additional disclosures, the
adoption of these new interpretations and amendments has had no
significant effect on these financial statements.

HKAS 39 and Amendments to HKAS 39 Ffinancial Instruments:
HKFRS 7 Recognition and Measurement and
Amendments HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:

Disclosures — Reclassification of
Financial Assets

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share
Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their Interaction

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are
as follows:

(@) Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement and HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures —
Reclassification of Financial Assets

The amendments to HKAS 39 permit an entity to reclassify a
non-derivative financial asset classified as held for trading,
other than a financial asset designated by an entity as at fair
value through profit or loss upon initial recognition, out of the
fair value through profit or loss category if the financial asset is
no longer held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the
near term, if specified criteria are met.

98 WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. M2 NBRNRBERLD
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(a) Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement and HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures —
Reclassification of Financial Assets (continued)

A debt instrument that would have met the definition of loans
and receivables (if it had not been required to be classified as
held for trading at initial recognition) may be classified out of
the fair value through profit or loss category or (if it had not
been designated as available for sale) may be classified out of
the available-for-sale category to the loans and receivables
category if the entity has the intention and ability to hold it for
the foreseeable future or until maturity.

In rare circumstances, financial assets that are not eligible for
classification as loans and receivables may be transferred from
the held-for-trading category to the available-for-sale category
or to the held to maturity category (in the case of a debt
instrument), if the financial asset is no longer held for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.

The financial asset shall be reclassified at its fair value on the
date of reclassification and the fair value of the financial asset
on the date of reclassification becomes its new cost or
amortised cost, as applicable. The amendments to HKFRS 7
require extensive disclosures of any financial asset reclassified in
the situations described above. The amendments are effective
from 1st July, 2008.

As the Group has not reclassified any of its financial
instruments, the amendments have had no impact on the
financial position or results of operations of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(o)

(d)

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury
Share Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 requires arrangements whereby an employee is
granted rights to the Group’'s equity instruments to be
accounted for as an equity-settled scheme, even if the Group
buys the instruments from another party, or the shareholders
provide the equity instruments needed. HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 also
addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions
involving two or more entities within the Group. As the Group
currently has no such transactions, the interpretation has had
no impact on the financial position or results of operations of
the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 applies to service concession operators and
explains how to account for the obligations undertaken and
the rights received in service concession arrangements. No
member of the Group is an operator and, therefore, this
interpretation has had no impact on the financial position or
results of operations of the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a
Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their Interaction

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 addresses how to assess the limit under HKAS
19 Employee Benefits, on the amount of a refund or a
reduction in future contributions in relation to a defined benefit
scheme that can be recognised as an asset, including situations
when a minimum funding requirement exists. As the Group has
no defined benefit scheme, the interpretation has had no effect
on these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.3EMRMHBRER S EMBR
SRR E
AEBYTARRAFHEREFEAUTE
BAERERNIFTRRETEANT

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements. s AR o

HKFRS 1 and Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption BEPBRERY  BEPBRESENE1RET
HKAS 27 of HKFRSs and HKAS 27 Consolidated and E1RRERRT  [ERRBEEUBREEN)
Amendments Separate Financial Statements — Cost of an RARNFET  RERGHENEURET

Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate!

(GARBUMBRR —RIE
DA AAEHERABE LT
ZRERAK]

HKFRS 1 (Revised)  First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial BEMBREREL ERRAKBBHEREER!
Reporting Standards? F13E (BET)
HKFRS 2 Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment ERMBREEL FEUBBEEAZIREBI
Amendments — Vesting Conditions and Cancellations’ FURET [ARARERX N — BB
Rt

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations? BEMBREREN  EKANK
£3% (EE3T)

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments’ EEUBREELN  HEHH
£8%

HKAS 1 (Revised)  Presentation of Financial Statements’ FRGHEAEE HHRRZERHA
(&)

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs' BEGER EERA
En%(EET)

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements2 EEGHER FARBUM KRR
E27% (&)

HKAS 32 and Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: FA gL BEGHEAENRET B
HKAS 1 Presentation and HKAS 1 Presentation of ERNRRER IE: 25| REBEG LD
Amendments Financial Statements — Puttable Financial BHENE IR EVREAHEREZES

Instruments and Obligations Arising cH —EEHBIARSER
on Liguidation’ EECEMAD

HKAS 39 Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: FR gL BEGHEAERETHH
Amendment Recognition and Measurement F39FEF IE: BRAHE—SER

— Eligible Hedged Items? HHEE )2

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes? BE(ERUMBRE BPRAEHES

REZEE)-
REEE
HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate’ B (ARMBEE RRBAELHE
BEZEE)-
REF15H
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 ~ Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign BR(ERMBES HRBIERIFRE
Operation4 REZE®)-
REE16T
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners?

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers?

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has also issued Improvements to
HKFRSs* which sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs
primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying
wording. Except for the amendment to HKFRS 5 which is effective for
the annual periods on or after 1st July, 2009, other amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2009
although there are separate transitional provisions for each standard.

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2009

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2008

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st October, 2008

* Improvements to HKFRSs contains amendments to HKFRS 5, HKFRS 7, HKAS 1,
HKAS 8, HKAS 10, HKAS 16, HKAS 18, HKAS 19, HKAS 20, HKAS 23, HKAS

27, HKAS 28, HKAS 29, HKAS 31, HKAS 34, HKAS 36, HKAS 38, HKAS 39,
HKAS 40 and HKAS 41

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3E2EHhBREBN 2SS BB R

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

The HKAS 27 Amendment requires all dividends from subsidiaries,
associates or jointly-controlled entities to be recognised in the income
statement in the separate financial statements. The amendment is
applied prospectively only. The HKFRS 1 Amendment allows a first-
time adopter of HKFRSs to measure its investment in subsidiaries,
associates or jointly-controlled entities using a deemed cost of either
fair value or the carrying amount under the previous accounting
practice in the separate financial statements. The Group expects to
adopt the HKAS 27 Amendment from 1st January, 2009. The
amendments have no impact on the consolidated financial
statements. As the Group is not a first-time adopter of HKFRSs, the
HKFRS 1 Amendment is not applicable to the Group.

The HKFRS 2 Amendments clarify that vesting conditions are service
conditions and performance conditions only. Any other conditions are
non-vesting conditions. Where an award does not vest as a result of
a failure to meet a non-vesting condition that is within the control of
either the entity or the counterparty, this is accounted for as a
cancellation. The Group has not entered into share-based payment
schemes with non-vesting conditions attached and, therefore, the
amendments are unlikely to have any significant implications on its
accounting for share-based payments.

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes in the accounting
for business combinations that will impact the amount of goodwill
recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition
occurs, and future reported results.

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary without loss of control is accounted for as an equity
transaction. Therefore, such a change will have no impact on
goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the
revised standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the
subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Other
consequential amendments were made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows, HKAS 12 Income Taxes, HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rate, HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and HKAS
31 Interests in Joint Ventures.

SEAN T E (18)

= R V=

BB G ERE27H BRI ERFTA K
BHfEBAR  BERARRARENER
RSN BB REROWE R A E
B WEBTERARER - EEP BRI
ERAFIFNEBITIREET B mEE
A B RN EARAB LY BRET
RELEEGFERETCHRAFESET
ERREKRAR T HRMBAR - B
BRRINARENERNRE - AEE
BHE_ZENF A —HERHES
GERIERF27H/OEFT - ZEFTHES
BHBRIMELE ARETEEL T
BUBREZBERRMNE  BLELEY
BHRELENFIRNET TERAREE
= o

BEMBHREERNE2HRNEFTEBT
BBRTESRB IR RKRBEGME - £
MEMKFEORIFEEBGNE - EANE
B HFIEGBIE N THEEBGMER
REERmERBARESE - AN RE
B o 7N & B 30 B AT SLAE ) MY 5 OE 5R B MR
HH AR /ER N 258 Bt
ZEFTERIGHARN AERINNE
AREETENEARE -

TREMBREENFEIFR (KLEFT)3IA
HEEBKAHBEEETREN R E
B ZEEPILYCOERHENRE
WEEEMENERFERRKEZRE

EBGFERE27R (KEE]) Ekig—
MNEBAREERENEYH(TEX
KEBIE)INIERERZS - Bk - Z&
PEHHENELE  NITEELEBE -
gEoh - BT EREINB AR EENE
BUAMERERNB AR TG ENS TR
B ETHEMNER HMBEESE T
HEBEHENEIRI B2 mEX ]
EREHERFENRRIFEH]  BEE
FFEAENRIEXFZHMHFZE] - BE
G ERIFE28H R ERNAIMRE | &
EBEHERENRIRSELEMNE
= [ 1EH -

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 £ #R

103



Bt 5 4R R Bft 5E (&)
—EENE+=A=t—H

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3E2MEHhBREBN 2SS BB IR

104

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 3 (Revised) and HKAS 27
(Revised) from 1st January, 2010. The changes introduced by these
revised standards must be applied prospectively and will affect future
acquisitions, loss of control and transactions with minority interests.

HKFRS 8, which will replace HKAS 14 Segment Reporting, specifies
how an entity should report information about its operating
segments, based on information about the components of the entity
that is available to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of allocating resources to the segments and assessing their
performance. The standard also requires the disclosure of information
about the products and services provided by the segments, the
geographical areas in which the Group operates, and revenue from
the Group’s major customers. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 8
from 1st January, 2009.

HKAS 1 (Revised) introduces changes in the presentation and
disclosures of financial statements. The revised standard separates
owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes
in equity will include only details of transactions with owners, with all
non-owner changes in equity presented as a single line. In addition,
this standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income,
with all items of income and expense recognised in profit or loss,
together with all other items of recognised income and expense
recognised directly in equity, either in one single statement, or in two
linked statements. The Group expects to adopt HKAS 1 (Revised)
from 1st January, 2009.

HKAS 23 has been revised to require capitalisation of borrowing costs
when such costs are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset. As the Group's
current policy for borrowing costs aligns with the requirements of the
revised standard, the revised standard is unlikely to have any financial
impact on the Group.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

The HKAS 32 Amendments provide a limited scope exception for
puttable financial instruments and instruments that impose specified
obligations arising on liquidation to be classified as equity if they
fulfil a number of specified features. HKAS 1 Amendments require
disclosure of certain information relating to these puttable financial
instruments and obligations classified as equity. As the Group
currently has no such financial instruments or obligations, the
amendments are unlikely to have any financial impact on the Group.

The amendment to HKAS 39 addresses the designation of a one-
sided risk in a hedged item, and the designation of inflation as a
hedged risk or portion in particular situations. It clarifies that an
entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or
cash flow variability of a financial instrument as hedged item. As the
Group has not entered into any such hedges, the amendment is
unlikely to have any financial impact on the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 requires customer loyalty award credits to be
accounted for as a separate component of the sales transaction in
which they are granted. The consideration received in the sales
transaction is allocated between the loyalty award credits and the
other components of the sale. The amount allocated to the loyalty
award credits is determined by reference to their fair value and is
deferred until the awards are redeemed or the liability is otherwise
extinguished.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 will replace HK Interpretation 3 Revenue — Pre-
completion Contracts for the Sale of Development Properties. It
clarifies when and how an agreement for the construction of real
estate should be accounted for as a construction contract in
accordance with HKAS 11 Construction Contracts or an agreement
for the sale of goods or services in accordance with HKAS 18
Revenue. As the Group currently is not involved in any construction
of real estate, the interpretation is unlikely to have any financial
impact on the Group.

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—FENF+=A=+-H

2.3EMRHBRER 2SEMBR

SEAN T E (18)

= R V=

EEEHLERENRFNEBITREEA
HEMBITARBERELAREREMEN
TARAETHEEREK AEFRH
% UWOBERERZ BEGHENE
THWNETERRBEERAO B RERN
ZEUHENBIARBEBENETE
B-mRAEERSTHELEVELIA
FREE REFTETEHEAEEBKE
BT E -

BB G ERIE 395 0 E 7T 5 B AS
HEMETERRMEBREE R HNE
BRFEBRTOE TEARELD - HE
RAERUEARTVHE TANSEO AT
E2BHIRSRELC/HEHEE - AR
AREBYRFTIEMZEH D - ZEF
ErEHASREBENERNTEZE -

AR (BRMHHRERERES) —2E
FBREXBETEFNEAERBER
ERMZHEERH 2B AN AR - 5
EXFPAEGHNRESEEEHERE
RHENEMED - P ETELHEED
ZeHESEHARNFEEILETEES
ZRBEBEO LB EAEMT X ESFE
ALk

AR (ERMBHREREZES) —2E
FISRBRRELEREEIRMUA —
HERRYFZETIHEN] - B
MR T (A B K a0 ) 55 E R RR 1% R AR
BEABGHENENR/IZESW T
FREEGNIRBEBBGFERIE 185
[RAIFIEREEREARBE 2 W -
H 0 AN B2 B 3R B O 4 2 SRR S ot AR R
FoMBERBETEHAEERBREIM
MBTE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 iR

105



Bt 5 4R R Bft 5E (&)
—EENE+=A=t—H

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3E2MEHhBREBN 2SS BB IR
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 provides guidance on the accounting for a hedge of
a net investment in a foreign operation. This includes clarification
that (i) hedge accounting may be applied only to the foreign
exchange differences arising between the functional currencies of the
foreign operation and the parent entity; (ii) a hedging instrument
may be held by any entities within a group; and (iii) on disposal of a
foreign operation, the cumulative gain or loss relating to both the net
investment and the hedging instrument that was determined to be
an effective hedge should be reclassified to the income statement as
a reclassification adjustment. As the Group currently has no hedge of
a net investment in a foreign operation, the interpretation is unlikely
to have any financial impact on the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 standardises practice in the accounting for non-
reciprocal distributions of non-cash assets to owners. The Group
expects to apply the interpretation from 1st January, 2010
prospectively. The Interpretation clarifies that (i) a dividend payable
should be recognised when the dividend is appropriately authorised
and is no longer at the discretion of the entity; (ii) an entity should
measure the dividend payable at the fair value of the net assets to be
distributed; and (iii) an entity should recognise the difference
between the dividend paid and the carrying amount of the net assets
distributed in profit or loss. Other consequential amendments were
made to HKAS 10 Events after the Balance Sheet Date and HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. While
the adoption of the interpretation may result in changes in certain
accounting policies, the interpretation is unlikely to have any material
financial impact on the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 provides additional guidance on the accounting for
transfers of assets from customers and clarifies the requirements for
agreements in which an entity receives from a customer an item of
property, plant and equipment that the entity must then use either to
connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with
ongoing access to a supply of goods or services (such as a supply of
electricity, gas or water).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3E2EHhBREBN 2SS BB R

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

In October 2008, the HKICPA issued its first Improvements to HKFRSs
which sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1st January, 2009. There are
separate transitional provisions for each standard. While the adoption
of some of the amendments may result in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments are expected to have a
significant financial impact on the Group.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the
Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company'’s investments in subsidiaries that are not classified as held
for sales in accordance with HKFRs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic activity.
The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which the Group
and the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the
capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the duration of the
joint venture and the basis on which the assets are to be realised
upon its dissolution. The profits and losses from the joint venture’s
operations and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the
venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital
contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint venture
agreement.

SEAN T E (18)
—EENETA BAGIHMAGRM
HHBBHHEHREEANERKE &
TEHINHEZRBFEV B REEANE
o AEEEHR -_ZETNAF—F—H
EERMZSFER - £BENB D BIR
BEMBEX - BERKEPHLDETH
BRSO BRBELEY  ERYZE
ETHTEHAEERBRNENNBEE -

2.4 F2EBFHRIBR

B8 2 )
MBARRARNREENEEES LM
BREEHE AR E B ERANE

ZEE-

MEBLARzXERS KR EEBKE S A
ARRZWER - ARBRHER A
BRER  ARBEEEMBHRELENDE
RFFELEHEZKAR AR EEET
BR o

BELHE
BELEDNEANTHNL - MAKHE
REMATEILETEEISH 2 ERE -
FELEUBYERBEALE  AEH
REMALRETHEAHER -

BEEZRFUZAELEMHEBRES
BREXENZIEE ABELEZFH
ERABLEMBRERAEEZEE -
BECEXRBZEIUREREHREE
ZARVYHAEERRELTAZTIER
LSRR R B DR B REK DG ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 iR

107



B 5 ¥R R B 5E (&)
—EENE+=A=t—H

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.0 F2SFHEBRIBE (8)

108

(CONTINUED)

Joint ventures (continued)
A joint venture is treated as:

(@) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b)  a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have unilateral
control, but has joint control, directly or indirectly, over the
joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint
control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not less than
20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and is in a position
to exercise significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with HKAS
39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less than 20% of
the joint venture’s registered capital and has neither joint
control of, nor is in a position to exercise significant influence
over, the joint venture.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to joint
control, resulting in none of the participating parties having unilateral
control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group's interests in jointly-controlled entities are stated in the
consolidated balance sheet at the Group’s share of net assets under
the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The
Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of jointly-
controlled entities is included in the consolidated income statement
and consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its jointly-
controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interests in the jointly-controlled entities, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of jointly-controlled entities,
which was not previously eliminated or recognised in the
consolidated reserves, is included as part of the Group’s interests in
jointly-controlled entities. Adjustments are made to bring into line
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-controlled
entity, in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not
less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a

position to exercise significant influence.

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the consolidated
balance sheet at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group's share
of the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates is included in
the consolidated income statement and consolidated reserves,
respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interests in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill
arising from the acquisition of associates, which was not previously
eliminated or recognised in the consolidated reserves, is included as
part of the Group’s interests in associates. Adjustments are made to

bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in associates are treated as non-current assets

and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and
jointly-controlled entities represents the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value
of the acquirees’ identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and

contingent liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet as an asset, initially measured at cost and subsequently
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. In the case of
associates and jointly-controlled entities, goodwill is included in the
carrying amount thereof, rather than as a separately identified asset

on the consolidated balance sheet.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHHBRIBE (88)

110

(CONTINUED)

Goodwill (continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31st December. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of
is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative
values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Excess over the cost of business combinations

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and jointly-
controlled entities (previously referred to as negative goodwill), after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in the income statement.

The excess for associates and jointly-controlled entities is included in
the Group’s share of the associates and jointly-controlled entities’
profits or losses in the period in which the investments are acquired.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties, goodwill
and non-current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in
use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is
any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
income statement in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

87 ¥5 ¥R 2 Big 5E (78)
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2.4 TR S BURIGE (58)

(CONTINUED)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under common
control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that
gives it significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint
control over the Group;

(b)  the party is an associate;
(c)  the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual
referred to in (a) or (d); or

(f)  the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting power
in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as
held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held
for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-
current assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item
of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure
has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected
to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and
equipment, and where the cost of the item can be measured reliably,
the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset or as
a replacement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHHBRIBE (88)

(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life, except for certain machinery and
equipment which are depreciated using accelerated depreciation
method. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:

Buildings 12 to 35 years

Leasehold improvements 10 to 20 years or the term
of the relevant lease

8 to 12 years

3 to 5 years

Plant and machinery

Computer, equipment and
fixtures

Motor vehicles

Other equipment

5 to 10 years
5 to 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each balance sheet
date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
under construction and installation, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHHBRIBE (88)
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(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of investment
properties using the straight-line method.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the income statement in the year of the
retirement or disposal.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the
case, the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale
in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale
must be highly probable.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties, deferred tax assets and financial assets) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair
values less costs to sell.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each balance
sheet date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHHBRIBE (88)

(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite
is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 20 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to
use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria
is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products not exceeding 10 years,
commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHHBRIBE (88)
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(CONTINUED)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease,
the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the
minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases are included in property,
plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs
of such leases are charged to the income statement so as to provide
a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated
at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at
fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group assesses whether a contract contains an embedded
derivative when the Group first becomes a party to it and assesses
whether an embedded derivative is required to be separated from the
host contract when the analysis shows that the economic
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives are not closely
related to those of the host contract. Reassessment only occurs if
there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the
contract.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHHBRIBE (88)

(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after
initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates
this designation at the balance sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such
assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognised in
the income statement when the loans and receivables are
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation
process.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets in
listed and unlisted equity securities that are designated as available
for sale or are not classified in any of the other categories. After
initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at
fair value, with gains or losses recognised as a separate component
of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment
is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss previously reported in equity is included in the income statement.
Interest and dividends earned are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the income
statement as “Other income” in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue recognition” below. Losses arising from the impairment
of such investments are recognised in the income statement as
“Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets” and are
transferred from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHHBRIBE (88)

118

(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such securities
are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised
financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid
prices at the close of business at the balance sheet date. For
investments where there is no active market, fair value is determined
using valuation techniques. These techniques include using recent
arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market
value of another instrument which is substantially the same; a
discounted cash flow analysis; and other valuation models.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and
receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e.,
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the
use of an allowance account. The amount of the impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement. Loans and receivables together
with any associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance
account. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the
asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHHBRIBE (88)

(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

In relation to trade and other receivables, a provision for impairment
is made when there is objective evidence (such as the probability of
insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and
significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor) that the
Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the
original terms of an invoice. The carrying amount of the receivables is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are
derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted
equity instrument that is not carried at fair value because its fair
value cannot be reliably measured has been incurred, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the
difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the income statement, is transferred from
equity to the income statement. A provision for impairment is made
for available-for-sale equity investments when there has been a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or
where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The
determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, such as
the share price volatility. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through the income
statement.
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31st December, 2008

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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2.4 TR S BURIGE (58)

(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised where:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

° the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form
of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount
of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or
purchased option (including a cash-settled option or similar provision)
on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Group
may repurchase, except in the case of a written put option (including
a cash-settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured at
fair value, where the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is
limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the
option exercise price.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD

BBREIAMBEEE

MBEE (X (WER) —BUBEEEZ
—HRR—AREREEEL —H1)
15 T B8 R i BR B B

e WEHRBEEEMSREREZERN
e Em

s AKERBURDZEEEMGRZ
MEZEN HRE-HIESR]
RH RERENARAF =2
BNRMAGEALERZEML =X

s AKECHEHREHEDMZEEEMS
RenREBZEN  A@CHEREZLA
BEZBRNEBMERKE®R : %(b)
WiEEENIREZREERANA D
R RE®R BEEEZEEEL
1% I o

HWAKRBECHEEUNR -—BHEEMBR
EREZEN BEYEEBENREZE
BEZBASHEARE@DE  BEXEE
BAREEEZENE AZBEEES
REAEBEFBEL2HEZEENBRT R
ReMBFE2ELRCEBREERTE
wBAREENRREENLRAEER]
EABENSSREMENREELESE -

HMEE2EAREEREERMEHR
SEBARE(RERSEEHREAR
PEX) - AIAEBEZHBE2HIARSE
EAEELNMBREENSRRR
HRHEBEEN LR ENE(BREA
TREMESBLE) AR FEE
AIAEENBESRAMBEEED
RPERARTEEMEZREERR -



B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—EENFF+ZA=+—H

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHHBRIBE (88)

(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including
interest-bearing loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, an amount
due to the ultimate holding company and interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are initially stated at fair value less directly attributable
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. The
related interest expense is recognised within “Finance costs” in the
income statement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation
process.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of HKAS 39 are accounted
for as financial liabilities. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial guarantee
contract, except when such contract is recognised at fair value
through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the
amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the balance sheet date; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised in accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£68)

31st December, 2008 —EFENFF+=ZA=1+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 F2EFHBURIBE (18)
(CONTINUED)
Inventories rE
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. FEDEKARAER FEMER 2B
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of EEARR - KA METHEEEE -
work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, mEEHAREKRRS  HRKAREBEE
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net EYHER BEEREIEREELIZE
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated KB AERFERMAASERESR
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal. EREELHE2EMAGAERE -
Cash and cash equivalents REeERBEEZEEY
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and REERERERTE R hkReHF
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and BEYVERFRRS KERFRAKLAME
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into REsnht e RenE e # R
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of N BE(FBEREMAINEEZD
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three REBEAEKR ¥ —RENBBEHET=
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on BAANEE) HMEARERFERZ
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management. RITEX  ReRReFEVEXLE

ERcEBOEREH -

For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash equivalents HREEBERME REeRRSEFEY
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which BREFEARLRITER BEAZRT
are not restricted as to use. Xz ERER -

Provisions BB

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or MEBTEHMEAEREEECERE
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable HHEFE) BERRRAELBANEREME
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the WEETK  AlemRBH HETS
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the BRZB A E AT SE A AT o

amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised WMITEN T EE KN BB ERERNS
for a provision is the present value at the balance sheet date of the BRRNGEEREEEBERMERH
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. WA o fie 47 IR IR 8 B 0 RSO 0 35 0
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the AR RFTAMBER °

passage of time is included in finance costs in the income statement.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group on certain A& B BLE T E dn R R 2 T AT IR A B
products are recognised based on sales volume and past experience BNREERBEOEE RRLBE R
of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values BEHBE(HER) BRARK -

as appropriate.

Income tax FR&%t

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is FEHBEERREENRE - AEHRR
recognised in the income statement, or in equity if it relates to items WaERPHER  MABHRY RRE#HK
that are recognised in the same or a different period directly in TRAREZN ESERAIER - AIFT
equity. SRR ERANER -

122 WeicHAr Power Co., LTD. M2 NBRRBERLD
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31st December, 2008

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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2.4 T2 S BURIGE (58)

(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is
not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses,
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£68)

31st December, 2008 —EENFLZA=1+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 ER B HRIBE ()
(CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued) FRig %t (%)
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each BRLEBIBEEMNERME RS EERS
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer %o WHHDETBEREE T ERD
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or AR EHABHELCHELEERFTE
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously FARR - H& - JCaREREETH A
unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet BEEBREFEBEHNIME - WIABE
date and are recognised to the extent that it is probable that B R ERT & N 2 50 k& D iR E R
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the BEEESYBARETHER -

deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that BEERBEENAEREREENEE
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the BEHENEHERRE  UREER
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been ERERHNEE FELERNBTE(K
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. TR REEGE -
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally EFEAGOERITHEMNGNARIEE
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current ERNHAHBEEEERAEAE MEFE
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity ERIET) S R AR ERTE € R AR
and the same taxation authority. BN AERECHIBEEERAR
TEHR8Y o
Government grants KT 6 Bh
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is fir 5 & T2 IR 38 7] BUAS BUAT /8 B - 30 A A5
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching EFEMBEE  IgRATFERAK
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an FRAERE - M EMRAME -—HRYXERES
expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary B RIB RS AR ERARA
to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is BRHEERRBEA - WEHBREE—I]
intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair EEAHE #UNATEEIZIARTERK
value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to the AR WA EER G5 AR F 5
income statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset BESREREWRER -

by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition PN

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits WATITRASB RIS A B &M & &

will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured R M EBBRARIZ TS EERE

reliably, on the following bases: R

(@)  from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards (@) HEEMMSWATDREGENE
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that RERBEEHRHETER - MAE
the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the HZEFLEEMITERE — KR
degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control G R AR B B IR R I B A
over the goods sold; L
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHHBRIBE (88)

(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(b)  from the rendering of services, when the services are rendered,;

(c)  rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset;
and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

Employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Company and its subsidiaries, jointly-controlled entities and
associates which operate in Mainland China participate in a
government-regulated defined contribution pension scheme, under
which the Group make contributions to a government-regulated
pension scheme at a fixed percentage of wages and salaries of the
existing full-time employees in Mainland China and have no further
legal or constructive obligations to make additional contributions.
The contributions are charged as an expense to the income
statement as incurred.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. F2SHHBRIBE (88)

126

(CONTINUED)

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the balance
sheet, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially
recorded using the functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken
to the income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the balance sheet date, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at
the balance sheet date and their income statements are translated
into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are included in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred
cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting
date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’'s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that
it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion
that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group
accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold
separately, the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made
on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.
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3.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

As detailed in note 18, trademarks with a carrying value of
RMB203,089,000 that are renewable every 10 years at minimal cost.
The directors of the Company consider that these trademarks for all
practical purposes have an indefinite useful life and therefore they
will not be amortised until their useful life is determined to be finite
and they will be tested for impairment annually.

Estimation Uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

Estimated recoverable amounts of goodwill and trademarks
The Group determines whether goodwill and trademarks are impaired
at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill and trademarks
have been allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. As at 31st
December, 2008, the carrying amount of goodwill and trademarks
was RMB538,016,000 (2007: RMB538,016,000) and
RMB203,089,000 (2007: RMB203,089,000), respectively. Details of
the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 19.

Development costs
Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting
policy for research and development costs in note 2.4 to the financial
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. Further details are contained in
note 25 to the financial statements.

Impairment of available-for-sale investments

The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale and recognises
movements of their fair values in equity. When the fair value
declines, management makes assumptions about the decline in value
to determine whether there is an impairment that should be
recognised in the income statement. At 31st December, 2008,
impairment losses of RMB2,722,000 (2007: Nil) have been recognised
for available-for-sale assets. The carrying amount of available-for-sale
assets was RMB178,187,000 (2007: RMB75,358,000).

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made based on
assessment of the salability and net realisable value of inventories.
The identification of write-down of inventories requires
management’s judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome
of expectation in future is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the carrying value of the inventories and
write-down loss/reversal of write-down in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Impairment of trade and other receivables is made based on
assessment of the recoverability of trade and other receivables. The
identification of impairment of trade and other receivables requires
management’s judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome
of expectation in future is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the carrying value of the receivables and
impairment loss/reversal of impairment in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

SRSt AIE R &5 (58)

fhEr NEAEE (&)

B IAEE
EREBEEEDNEMBEANENERE
BHAPAREAEELERABDAREAEEE
MAEETURR ST ENTRZ
B ARPARBERAE R KRGAHEAERE
MEBRARETHRAEENRS LR
EARHEENERTENSR - BE
AHERZEERBREEZBK  §1X
fE & 2R B AR ERB N B 2 7 8L B 9
RKFUARAKBRBESRBIEHE
RHE - E—PHBEARPBHRKRM T
25°

AIHEHEREZRE
AEBBETEESEATHELE I
REZANEREAFEEZS - WAFE
TR EEESREETRELRR
NEFTREERERKRERERZM
B -RZTEZNFF+ZA=+—8" 5
AL EEERRZAEERAARE
2,722,000 L (ZZZ 4 &) - At
EEECEAMEAARE178,187,0007T
(ZZEZ£F : AR¥75,358,0007T) °

WORTF B = &R FE
FEDREBEFEZMtHEREERT
EHFEMBREEAERFE -BEF
EZWREEEREEEF L HE R
e FRAREHZERGERE NN IRE
2t A EEEZRST 2R E @Mt
B B 2 17 B R T E e OB B 1R
B E SR o

& B 55 B R e Lt R B SR (E
& W 55 Bl SR I L A B MR BR ORUE R R
Y E 5 R S H At B URR SA] & U
El&EH - #ERKE SRR R EME
YRR SRR 1B B SR B IR TE 1 A B e
it ERREHCEREREHINRRK
ZiEE - A EEERSTEDBBMGE
2 HA ] 2 R WORK TR IR B A SR (B B
B REREDSE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 iR

129



Bt 5 4R R Bft 5E (&)
—EENE+=A=t—H

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

130

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

Warranty expenses

The Group offers a six month to three year warranty for its products,
during which free warranty service for the repair and maintenance of
parts or components under normal usage is provided to customers.
Management estimates the warranty provision based on the historical
cost data for repairs and maintenance and units of products sold. The
carrying amount of the warranty provision was RMB446,343,000
(2007: RMB180,635,000) as at 31st December, 2008. More details
are disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of the Group’s primary
segment reporting basis, by business segment. In determining the
Group's geographical segments, revenues are attributed to the
segments based on the location of customers, and assets are
attributed to the segments based on the location of the assets. No
further geographical segment information is presented as over 90%
of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers based in Mainland
China, and over 90% of the Group’s assets are located in Mainland
China.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed
separately according to the nature of their operations and the
products and services they provide. Each of the Group’s business
segments represents a strategic business unit that offers products and
services which are subject to risks and returns that are different from
those of the other business segments. Summary details of the
business segments are as follows:

(@) manufacturing and sale of diesel engines and related parts
(“Diesel engines”);

(b)  manufacturing and sale of automobiles and major automobile
components other than diesel engines (“Automobiles and other
major automobile components”);

()  manufacturing and sale of non-major automobile components
(“Non-major automobile components”); and

(d) provision of import and export services (“Import & export
services”).

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) L, NEEN ()
Business segments E3 Pk,
The following tables present revenue, profit and certain asset, liability TRHEIAEEARBE-TTN\F R
and expenditure information for the Group’s business segments for TELFF A=t —HILEMEFEZ
P 7] 4
the years ended 31st December, 2008 and 2007. BEBH»HE D Z2WA - FIBEEETFTE
E AEEFAXZER -
Automobiles
and
other major Non-major Import &
Diesel auto-mobile automobile export
engines components  components services  Eliminations  Consolidated
REREM FEE #iHn
bR TERBEEHH REZHH R % 1 85 o]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBT T ARBT T ARBTR ARBT R ARETR
Year ended 31st December, 2008 HE_FB)\F
+-A=+-BLFE
Segment revenue: DHBA :
Sales to external customers HPEEHE 10,912,567 20,396,342 884,512 373,769 - 32,567,190
Inter-segment sales NEEEE 2,990,771 295 24,880 - (3,015,946) -
Total @it 13,903,338 20,396,637 909,392 373,769 (3,015,946) 32,567,190
Segment results R ES 1,804,721 1,296,426 38,038 8,006 3,147,191
Interest and dividend income FERBREKA
and unallocated gains DY ET 6 218,875
Corporate and other EEREM
unallocated expenses AHREHR (272,007)
Finance costs BER (297,844)
Loss on disposal of disposal HERELE
group held for sale 2 EB R EE (49,775)
Share of profits and losses of associates [& {5 B & 1\ 7] k — K &£ [F
and a jointly-controlled entity EHERZNBRER (1,294) (3.378) - (1,070) (5,742)
Profit before tax B B A0 8 T 2740698
Tax R (328,989)
Profit for the year 2EFE 2,411,709
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Segment assets DEBE 12,535,031 15,791,548 963,040 459,544 29,749,163
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity R—FREREHER 2K E 20,932 - - - 20,932
Investments in associates RELLRZEE 44,407 132,641 — 2,724 179,772
Total assets BEE W
Segment liabilities AHAE 9,296,590 8,611,254 466,895 248,650 18,623,389
Total liabilities BEafE 18623389
Other segment information: HiHHER -
Capital expenditure BARY 580,828 1,388,982 41,373 - 2,011,183
Depreciation and amortisation TERBE 362,252 389,408 42,769 205 794,634
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEME HWER
property, plant and equipment HEBEABR/ () (317) 1,162 (43) (131) 671
Write-down of inventories HREEZE
10 net realisable value R RE 99,641 83,606 2,745 - 185,992
Impairment loss on trade and ERE SRR
other receivables o R BR R B B 1B 20,660 88,919 667 6,394 116,640
Product warranty provision EmREER 390,346 301,979 6,621 - 698,946
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L, SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) L, NFEN (&)
Business segments (continued) X% o (&)
Automobiles
and
other major Non-major Import &
Diesel auto-mobile automobile export
engines components components services Eliminations Consolidated
REREM 2 EHA
L FEZRETHH RETHHE R HEH T
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARET T ARBTT ARBETT ARBTT ARBT T
Year ended 31st December, 2007 HEZZTZ+HF
TZA=T—BIFE
Segment revenue: ok 1 ONE
Sales to external customers NEREHEE 8,754,086 17,943,219 841,335 1,247,543 — 28,786,183
Inter-segment sales PHEHEE 2,541,135 — 61,001 — (2,602,136) —
Total st 11,295,221 17,943,219 902,336 1,247,543 (2,602,136) 28,786,183
Segment results DEEE 2,005,167 1,613,539 30,996 27,703 3,677,405
Interest and dividend income FMERREBALR
and unallocated gains AP BNz 115,431
Corporate and other unallocated rEREMADSEER
expenses (161,959)
Finance costs BB (253,120)
Loss on disposal of disposal HERENLEL
group held for sale T EARIEE (101,446)
Share of profits and EEBERTZ
losses of associates HEREE (3.169)
Profit before tax BB AT A 3,273,142
Tax HIE (479,566)
Profit for the year 2EFH 2,793,576
Assets and liabilities BENERE
Segment assets PBEE 8,223,017 12,555,355 689,724 904,291 22,372,387
Investments in associates REBAR T RE 65,258 132,678 142 22,028 220,106
Total assets BEE W
Segment liabilities ok =0 5,908,383 6,479,213 494,046 312,663 13,194,305
Total liabilities BEfE 13,194,305
Other segment information: HthHHER
Capital expenditure BARMX 731,168 662,004 90,648 3,817 1,487,637
Depreciation and amortisation NER & 271,907 325,386 53,173 361 650,827
Gain on disposal of items of HENE BER
property, plant and equipment B e 944 1,073 267 4 2,288
Write-down of inventories to W‘W‘%’ji
net realisable value @& 3 EE 3,304 62,846 6,360 — 72,510
Impairment loss on trade }!E%Zfﬁ SEAR
and other receivables E KR RESR 23,715 27,921 1,659 1 53,296
Product warranty provision ERRERE 304,153 98,792 — - 402,945

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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WA ~ EfbdA R W
BABREASERANEBBREPES
CEERRAMBEA - AEEATEE
BRELEZEEBENRESE HHH
m-MRAREZEE SRS EM
MBRRECEHERNERFE -

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

Revenue includes turnover and other revenue that arise in the
Group’s course of ordinary activities. The Group’s turnover, which
arises from the principal activities of the Group, represents the net
invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns and trade
discounts, and the value of services rendered, net of sale taxes and

surcharges.
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: WA B ARRKZ 2SO T
2008 2007
—ZENE —TTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AR F T
Revenue ' ON
Turnover HER
Sale of goods EmtEE 31,481,811 27,242,135
Rendering of services R R 77,255 46,076
Other revenue H il A
Sales of scrap and other materials HEREE L E Mk 1,003,338 1,494,320
Gross rental income He W A BT 4,786 3,652
32,567,190 28,786,183
Other income H ok A
Bank interest income SRITH B A 48,827 26,530
Government subsidies AT 18 Bh 137,908 63,803
186,735 90,333
Gains U =
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME  HER
plant and equipment REEE K= = 2,288
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEMHHE
investments % & W= 11,015 3,126
Others Hih 21,125 19,684
32,140 25,098
218,875 115,431
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

87 ¥5 ¥R 2 Big 5E (78)
—EENFF_H=+—H

6. RS Al ik

AEEBRBAFBEME(GEA)

2008 2007
—ZEENEF —ETEHF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B = ARBT R AR T T
Cost of inventories sold HEFERAK 26,012,238 22,158,820
Cost of service provided B2 AR 75 B A 11,415 16,243
Write-down of inventories to MREFEZNERFE
net realisable value 185,992 72,510
Product warranty provision EmREEE
Additional provision BHONEE 698,946 402,945
Amounts utilised during the year FANEAELE (433,238) (303,552)
265,708 99,393
Staff costs (including directors’ and BEXKA(BEEER
supervisors’ remuneration (note 8)): E=Me (Mas)) :
Wages and salaries TENRES 1,596,670 1,454,532
Defined contribution pension scheme TFRMHEFRIKR e 52
(note i) (Htati) 155,981 123,182
Medical benefits costs (note ii) BEBAMBA (K i) 36,171 21,806
Housing fund FEAE® 51,363 47,413
Cash housing subsidies costs R EFE BB 60,512 45,296
Total staff costs B B 8 K A 1,900,697 1,692,229
Net rental income HE WA FRE (2,656) (3.118)
Bank interest income RATH B WA (48,827) (26,530)
Research and development costs ff 75 % B B X AN 379,525 323,225
Minimal lease payment under RIEEETHLO
operating leases: HEE 2
Plant and machinery e 22 N2 A 32,011 31,812
Land and buildings T REF 58,722 47,955
Auditors’ remuneration 1% L RD B & 21,539 24,144
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEYE - s
plant and equipment FEEE () 671 (2,288)
Depreciation of property, plant and /E 2 P58
equipment RiEITE 14 757,256 583,142
Depreciation of investment property KEMERE 2,276 802
Recognition of prepaid land Lt EE
lease payments RIBER 19,499 20,312
Amortisation of other intangible assets HMhEmEEESH 18 15,603 46,571
Impairment of trade and other receivables [& & 5 8k 7 2
H th & U BR SRORL B 116,640 53,296
Impairment of available-for-sale AHEERERE
investments 2,722 —
Impairment of property, plant and W K
equipment R AERE 14 25,380 —
Impairment of investment in an associate  — K& & A Al 2 1% & R E 142 —
Foreign exchange differences, net & 5 F = 19,205 12,389

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

6.

7.

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—FENF+=A=+-H

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 6. BRis ARl E (&)
Notes: Bist
(i) Defined contribution pension scheme () F R R IR 2 51 &
All of the Group’s full-time employees in Mainland China are covered by a FEEFEFEEEERGTEBTE
government-requlated pension scheme and are entitled to an annual pension EH) RN AT EIFTIRIE - RIKIEEFF AT
determined by their basic salaries upon their retirement. The PRC Mg HAXFr & st Ba)RIKE o o BB A
government is responsible for the pension liabilities to these retired EZERKESHRINEEML - AEEA
employees. The Group is required to make annual contributions to the GEZERBELHE20%(ZFFLF :
government-regulated pension scheme at 20% (2007: 20%) of the 20% ) /9 LE 0] [7] BT B & B9 B 1K 2 51 2 1
employees’ basic salaries. This defined contribution pension scheme B e FAXREBES AT EEZBZLTF
continued to be available to the Group’s employees for the year. The related BEARNK Tt B - BHARIKSKAR
pension costs are expensed as incurred. EERSH -
(i) Medical benefits costs (i) BEEBEFA AR
The Group contributes on a monthly basis to defined contribution medical AN 5 [ 7 o BB T B HE 1Y E BB R K S A e
benefit plans organised by the PRC government. The PRC government Tt & & A 1 ¢ 50 - o BB T &k R 15
undertakes to assume the medical benefit obligations of all existing and ZEAE R ERE RBNEE A IEERE
retired employees under these plans. Contributions to these plans by the BRI EAE o A5 BB 2 F 5 BEL 6 (3
Group are expensed as incurred. The Group has no further obligations for RELN Y - RIBEZ S8 KAEBY
medical benefits and supplemental medical benefits for their qualified AREKESHBRBEFRE L EREFIL
employees under these plans. mEMBET -
FINANCE CoSTS 7. BEER
2008 2007
—EENFE —EELEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT R AR T T
Interest on bank loans and other borrowings 78 7 T 4F A & 81 (& & 1Y)
wholly repayable within five years RA1T B 3 R H At & 5RF R 180,294 153,076
Interest on debentures BEHF B 62,933 33,210
Interest on discounted bills receivable FE YT B IR R IR F 2 57,724 65,898
Imputed interest expense on an amount B —REEANTHREN
due to a related party fHERM B 2,789 6,363
Total interest expense on financial liabilities 32 2 T & &t A 8 % LA 4
not at fair value through profit or loss ZHBaE N ERT B 303,740 258,547
Less: Interest capitalised W BEEREE R E (5.896) (5,427)
297,844 253,120
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

ESkESie

FREFREEMEDREFBHAR
SHAERDAZS EWHRM( EHR
Bl ) REBRTGHE 161 EREMT -

8. DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 8.

Directors and supervisors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

136

Group RE
2008 2007
—EENE —E2T+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARET T
Fees 1w 386 402
Other emoluments: HEME < :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e FREREYHNZ 4,773 4,802
Performance related bonuses BRIRETE NI — —
Pension scheme contributions RINE FHEIH 55 24
Total aEEr 5,214 5,228
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BAFHITES

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

FANTEIFFRTESNEEN

the year were as follows: I
2008 2007
—EENE ZET+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T
Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu RNE A 120 120
Mr. Fang Zhongchang EREXAE 120 120
Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis BREyEE 146 162
386 402

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2007: Nil).

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

8.

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—FENF+=A=+-H

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EBNESME (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and b) BITEE - FHFITESER
supervisors BEE
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
e 28 BRB Bike
e REWFZ BEENRA sF Bl At MeBE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT AR%ETrR AR TR AR TR AR TR
2008 —EENE
Executive directors: WITES
Mr. Tan Xuguang E NI e — 1,000 — 1 1,011
Mr. Xu Xinyu BEEERE - 833 — 1 844
Mr. Sun Shaojun BLOELAE — 833 — 11 844
Mr. Zhang Quan Rk REE — 833 — 1 844
— 3,499 — 44 3,543
Non-executive director: EHITESE :
Ms. Zhang Fusheng RREL L — 60 — — 60
Mr. Liu Huisheng 2eprs — 60 — — 60
Mr. Yao Yu % FhAE — 60 — — 60
Mr. Yeung Sai Hong 15 i i St A — 60 — — 60
Mr. Chen Xuejian PR 22 {5 4k A = 60 — — 60
Mr. Li San Yim TEA KL — 60 — — 60
Mr. Julius G. Kiss Julius G. Kiss & & — 60 — — 60
Ms. Han Xiaogun BN L — 60 — — 60
Mr. Gu Linsheng BT AE — 120 — — 120
Mr. Li Shihao FHRELE — 120 — — 120
Mr. Liu Zheng 2 fEk4E — 120 — — 120
— 840 — — 840
Supervisors: BEE
Mr. Sun Chengping BAFE LA — 60 — — 60
Mr. Ding Yingdong THRTE — 314 — 1 325
Ms. Jiang Jianfang BEF L — 60 — — 60
— 434 — 1 445
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

Bt 5 4R R Bft 5E (&)
—EENE+=A=t—H

8. DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EBNESME (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and b) MITESE #HBITEER
supervisors (continued) EE(E&)
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
E = BB BKe
e REYHZ= ML SrEIE R i & 858
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT AREFTT ARETTT ARETTT
2007 —EELEF
Executive directors: WTES:
Mr. Tan Xuguang BB E — 1,106 — 6 1,112
Mr. Xu Xinyu BMELEE — 956 — 6 962
Mr. Sun Shaojun BROER A& — 956 — 6 962
Mr. Zhang Quan K REHE — 956 — 6 962
— 3,974 — 24 3,998
Non-executive director: FEHITE S :
Ms. Zhang Fusheng RRELZ T — 60 — — 60
Mr. Liu Huisheng Zlekts — 60 — — 60
Mr. Yao Yu % FEAE — 60 — — 60
Mr. Yeung Sai Hong St A — 60 — — 60
Mr. Chen Xuejian PR {8 2k & — 60 — — 60
Mr. Li San Yim FHAREE — 60 — — 60
Mr. Julius G. Kiss Julius G. Kiss 5t & — 60 — — 60
Ms. Han Xiaogun BB+ — 60 — — 60
Mr. Gu Linsheng BHAExE — 76 _ _ 76
Mr. Li Shihao TR &4 — 76 — — 76
Mr. Liu Zheng g x4 — 76 — — 76
— 708 — — 708
Supervisors: Ex:
Mr. Sun Chengping FAE A — 60 — — 60
Mr. Wang Yong F BEAE = — — — -
Mr. Ding Yingdong THRELAE = — - - -
Ms. Jiang Jianfang BRIt — 60 — — 60
_ 120 — — 120

There was no arrangement under which a director or a
supervisor waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included one (2007:
four) directors or supervisors, details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining
four (2007: one) non-director and non-supervisor, highest paid
employees for the year are as follows:

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—FENF+=A=+-H

hlussSHES

AEEARN IEEERFEEEE B (=
FTLF OR)ESFHEF HMS
HBEEER XM EsA - FREHT M
Z(ZETEF: —RB)FEFNFES
MESHEENMESFBNT :

Group

RE
2008 2007
—EENE —EEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T ARBTF T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe EUHREDMIE 5,309 1,987
Performance-related bonuses BERBEEBEMNEL — —
Pension scheme contributions BIRE B R 23 12
5,332 1,999

The number of non-director and non-supervisor, highest paid

employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as

follows:

MENTRTIHENFEETRIFESR
SHEEENABNT :

Number of employees

EEBAH
2008 2007
—EEN\EF —ETLF
Nil to HKD 1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 7T — —
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T & 1,500,000 7% 7T 2 —
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T & 2,000,000 % 7T 2 1
4 1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

10. Tax 10. I8
The Company and all its subsidiaries that operate in Mainland China BT RRSN  RIEPBEAEHRE ;/ah&
are subject to the statutory corporate income tax rate of 25% (2007: RE - CEMBUNPBEAMHRRR
&E%ﬁ%%“ﬁ%imﬂmﬁx%(
TTLF BRIMEEMEHMMNDE
Frig i -

33%) for the year under the income tax rules and regulations of the
PRC, except that:

MRARA RETHERRERERE
BAE#EIEREHEM2E (S
R AR AR ZFTNF
—A—BEN=ZFHHEA  AQ7
K& TH B R AR15% 0 EEH X
BRMEEMABN - RETBEMREH

(1) The Company and certain subsidiaries are subject a preferential (1
rate of 15% as they are assessed by relevant government
authorities as High and New Technology Enterprises (“"HNTE")
for a period of three years commencing 1st January, 2008.
Pursuant to the PRC Income Tax Law, enterprises assessed as
"HNTE"” are entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15%;

and E B ERISHEMARIMN
EARISHHEBEHEHMEE

FED &
(2) Pursuant to Notice of the State Administration of Taxation 2) WRB(ARBHELBRENEZERAD
concerning the Opinions on the Implementation of the Relevant AFAEEERKREEERBERER

MUE D)  BEH ACA ML R E
REBMEENRNELE)IZETH
BRAMILI5% N EER ML
ECIRET

Taxation Policies for the Western Development { [ X i 7 42 B
AR EEABRAAEEEANKBEERBEREROBA),

certain subsidiaries which are approved as domestic enterprises
engaged in the industries encouraged by the State in Western
Region < 78 &8 i [& B 2% &% B & ¥ &) 1A & 12 3 ) are also subject
to a preferential tax rate of 15%.

TR E fth b [ FE ER B R B A B IE B R AR
rates of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the AEELEMERR, Al AERMNRIT

Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and R RBREEER O RBZERS
BERBAORITHEE -

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the

practices in respect thereof.

HAAEBERNFRAERBLERRTA
o MU EERTENSRER -

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group
had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the year.

140

2008 2007
—ZENF ZTELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE® T AR T
Group: AEH :
Current — Mainland China BNE — A i
Charge for the year FANER 458,193 688,132
Over-provision in prior years MTFEREEE (2,214) —
Current — Elsewhere BV ER — H i b [&
Charge for the year F AR 1,206 =
Deferred (note 25) IRIE (H17E25) (128,196) (208,566)
Total tax charge for the year FABIE LB 328,989 479,566

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

10. TAX (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
using the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in which the
Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the
effective tax rates is as follows:

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—FENF+=A=+-H

10. IR (48)
AEDARAMBARAAERR 7%
B 2 A e B 2 8 B R B A A
BrBEMY  BERMERBENEY
BARSIMEEMNT :

Group — 2008 rEE —Z—ZBEN\F
Mainland
China Elsewhere Total
R A H fih tth & &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR AR® T ARB T
Profit before tax B 54 51 F) 2,784,336 (43,638) 2,740,698
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEERERAE 2 HIE 696,084 (5.749) 690,335
Preferential tax rate or concessions B HE i Kol E ¢ (287,167) — (287,167)
Effect of tax rate change on T R % B SR E B A
opening deferred tax Mz (316) — (316)
Adjustments in respect of current HARHEZ
tax of previous periods BV A 7% 18 & 57 B (2,214) = (2,214)
Profits and losses attributable FEAE — R FE Al 22 il
to a jointly-controlled entity and ERE R L QA
associates ZFBEREE 701 141 842
Income not subject to tax BAZB KA (6,786) — (6,786)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT 08 B 2 14,011 8,704 22,715
Tax incentives on eligible aEBRAXZ
expenditures HRIEER (95,842) — (95,842)
Tax losses utilised from BRENESHMEZ
previous periods 8 B e (2.807) — (2,807)
Tax losses not recognised RERZ BB EE 10,532 — 10,532
Deductible temporary differences RIER Z
not recognised, net Ry = R R R (303) — (303)
Tax charge at the Group's BAEBEREE
effective rate HE BB N 325,893 3,096 328,989
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

Bt 5 4R R Bft 5E (&)
—EENE+=A=t—H

10. TAX (CONTINUED) .18 (48)
Group - 2007 AEEB——-ZZLHF
Mainland
China Elsewhere Total
eRETNAp: ] H it [& & &r
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T AR T
Profit before tax R B B A 3,273,142 — 3,273,142
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEERMEFTE 2B 1,080,137 — 1,080,137
Preferential tax rate or concessions {BE i Kol E % (670,797) — (670,797)
Effect of tax rate change on Tt R 5B Bf) Y R E 75 18
opening deferred tax Rz w2 (5,936) — (5,936)
Profits and losses attributable B 28 N B) FE 4G 2 FE
to associates X g8 1,046 = 1,046
Income not subject to tax B8 SR WA (29,271) — (29,271)
Expenses not deductible for tax TR X 104,387 — 104,387
Tax charge at the Group's BAEEBERH X
effective rate HE MBS 479,566 — 479,566
The share of tax attributable to a jointly-controlled entity and HAEHEEERBE ARIELZ

11.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

associates amounting to RMB236,000 (2007: Nil) and RMB246,000
(2007: Nil), respectively, is included in “Share of profits and losses of
a jointly-controlled entity and associates”
consolidated income statement.

on the face of the

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
for the year ended 31st December, 2008 includes a profit of
RMB1,636,425,000 (2007: 1,578,720,000) which has been dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company (note 37(b)).

MEDNRMDERLT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B F5 R R B 5 (48)

31st December, 2008 —EFENFF+ZA=1+—H
12. DIVIDENDS 12. &2
2008 2007
ZEBENF —ETtF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AR T
Proposed final — RMBO0.13 REBMRRS —8REAER
(2007: RMBO.44) per ordinary share AR¥0137T
(ZZZ+F : AR¥0447T) 108,296 229,088
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of AEEREARKRSAFARIABRRER
the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general B BITZRRBFREG LK -
meeting.
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 13. R OEREREBEAELS
EQuiTy HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY A% 2 il
The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is based on the BREABMNGEDHREBEAL A L BE
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the BREABRBGEAFEFNBEARFANE B
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in TEBRRMEFLHEHAE  WERE
issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect the bonus issue during FAZERELBERE -
the year.
No diluted earnings per share amounts have been presented for the HREBRE-_ZTZLHER_ZZTNF
years ended 31st December, 2007 and 2008 as no diluting events T A=+ BLEFERNNFEHES
existed during these years. AT EZINZEFEZSRESE
B BE o
2008 2007
—ZEENE —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBT T AR T
Earnings B F
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders FRFEFRERNZF Z
of the Company used in RAAREBEERFERA
the basic earnings per share calculation & 1 R ) 1,928,955 2,014,904
Shares R 45
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AR EFREREF 2
in issue during the year used in FREBHTTARZ
the basic earnings per share calculation I - 159 & 833,046,000 739,443,000
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31st December, 2008

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—EENFF+ZA=+—H

14, % - SRR

Group ping==
Leasehold Computer
Construction improve-  Plantand  equipment Motor Other
in progress Buildings ments  machinery and fixtures vehicles  equipment Total
HENE BER BERER
ERIE BF % R EE%E RE HitrR Ch
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥BTRE AR®TR ARMTT AR®TR ARMTRT ARETR AR¥TR AR¥T:
Cost KA
At 1st January, 2008 RZZE\5-F—-H 453,090 1,777,708 25,578 5,008,059 162,539 214,087 18,823 7,659,884
Additions RE 1,569,982 93,848 1,996 260,141 11,124 13,733 3,420 1,954,244
Assets no longer classified TERERBELEL
as disposal group held for sale  HEBRIMEE — 27,757 - 72,437 2,232 17,378 - 119,804
Transfers S (1,331,551) 304,196 — 959,305 47,780 19,589 681 -
Disposals HE - (18,864) = (44,482) (7,151) (12,383) (2,974) (85,854)
Exchange realignment ERAE = (1,786) - (4,661) (144) (1,118) - (7,709)
At 31st December, 2008 RZZEEN\E+=A=F—-H 691,521 2,182,859 27,574 6,250,799 216,380 251,286 19,950 9,640,369
Accumulated depreciation and 24 & RF{E
impairment
At 1st January, 2008 RZZZ\5-F—H 3,738 163,719 8,033 1,581,973 70,542 88,521 5,774 1,922,300
Depreciation provided FRIHRZTE
during the year - 78,221 2,654 608,734 38,649 23,480 5,518 757,256
Impairment A 63 - — 25,317 — - — 25,380
Assets no longer classified TEEEABELE
as disposal group held for sale  Z HEAFIHEE — — — 46,896 656 17,378 — 64,930
Disposals ik - (3,038) - (28,266) (5,226) (8,864) (879) (46,273)
Exchange realignment B A — - — (3,017) (42) (1,118) - (8,177)
At 31st December, 2008 RZEEN\E+=A=F—-H 3,801 238,902 10,687 2,231,637 104,579 119,397 10,413 2,719,416
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31st December, 2008 RZEENE+=A=1—-H 687,720 1,943,957 16,887 4,019,162 111,801 131,889 9,537 6,920,953
At 1st January, 2008 RZZZ\5-F—H 449,352 1,613,989 17,545 3,426,086 91,997 125,566 13,049 5,737,584
Cost KA
At 1st January, 2007 NZZE+E-Hf—H 1,074,597 1,241,859 23,289 3,670,808 127,686 193,532 24,421 6,356,192
Additions RE 837,046 72,490 2,289 440,688 21,743 19,712 779 1,394,747
Transfers 83 (1,458,553) 473,097 — 949,988 22,731 12,118 619 —
Disposals HE — (9,738) = (53,425) (9,621) (11,275) (6,996) (91,055)
At 31st December, 2007 R-ZZ+F+_A=1+—8 453,090 1,777,708 25,578 5,008,059 162,539 214,087 18,823 7,659,884
Accumulated depreciation and  ZiHTE RFE
impairment
At 1st January, 2007 R=FZ+&—A—8 3,803 130,378 5,577 1,131,273 48,816 62,920 5,733 1,388,500
Depreciation provided FRHRZTTE
during the year — 35,895 2,456 483,357 28,458 32,153 823 583,142
Disposals it (65) (2,554) = (32,657) (6,732) (6,552) (782) (49,342)
At 31st December, 2007 R-FE+&+-A=1+—-H 3,738 163,719 8,033 1,581,973 70,542 88,521 5,774 1,922,300
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31st December, 2007 RZZE+F+-_A=1+—-H 449,352 1,613,989 17,545 3,426,086 91,997 125,566 13,049 5,737,584
At 1st January, 2007 RZZEt5-F—H 1,070,794 1,111,481 17,712 2,539,535 78,870 130,612 18,688 4,967,692

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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31st December, 2008

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Bt ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—FENF+=A=+-A

14, M%E ~ B Mkt (78)

Company PNVNES]
Leasehold Computer
Construction improve- Plantand  equipment Motor Other
in progress Buildings ments  machinery and fixtures vehicles  equipment Total
HENE BER BERER
ERIE By %8 *E  EEZE AE HtRfE &t
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRE AR%Tn ARKTT AR%TR ARMTR ARETR AR%Tn AR¥T:
Cost A
At 1st January, 2008 R=ZZENF—-A—H 230,447 878,624 — 1,645,562 173,774 95,114 9,158 3,032,679
Additions RE 256,946 — — 1,836 707 5,507 — 264,996
Transfers B (326,277) 129,981 — 161,142 25,457 9,697 - -
Disposals & — — — (707,177) (10,059) (27,361) (200)  (744,797)
At 31st December, 2008 R-ZEENF+-A=1+—H 161,116 1,008,605 - 1,101,363 189,879 82,957 8,958 2,552,878
Accumulated depreciation and R FFITE RRE
impairment
At 1st January, 2008 R=ZFZNF—A—H — 71,575 — 414,353 76,174 41,249 3,513 606,864
Depreciation provided FRHARZFTE
during the year - 43,884 - 199,037 15,318 15,831 2,274 276,344
Disposals HE - - — (116132 (4,543) (13,148) —  (133823)
At 31st December, 2008 R=ZENE+-A=1+-H - 115,459 - 497,258 86,949 43,932 5,787 749,385
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31st December, 2008 R-ZEN\E+-A=1+-H 161,116 893,146 - 604,105 102,930 39,025 3,17 1,803,493
At 1st January, 2008 RZZENE-A—H 230,447 807,049 — 1,231,209 97,600 53,865 5645 2,425,815
Cost &S
At 1st January, 2007 RZZEt5-F—H 637,874 369,265 = 1,042,189 147,382 73,999 9,031 2,279,740
Additions NE 375,953 79,418 = 294,280 2,776 11,085 — 763,512
Transfers B (783,380) 435,215 = 311,135 24,246 12,633 151 —
Disposals te — (5,274) = (2,042) (630) (2,603) (24) (10,573)
At 31st December, 2007 WZZEE+E+=A=1—-H 230,447 878,624 = 1,645,562 173,774 95,114 9,158 3,032,679
Accumulated depreciation and R E RRE
impairment
At 1st January, 2007 R-FZ+5—A—H = 37,567 = 258,526 50,057 22,900 3,306 372,356
Depreciation provided FRGHRZTE
during the year — 34,008 — 156,159 26,669 20,515 230 237,581
Disposals HE — - — (332) (552) (2,166) 23) (3,073)
At 315t December, 2007 RZEZLE+ZA=+-H — 71,575 — 414,353 76,174 41,249 3,513 606,864
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31st December, 2007 R-BE+5+-F=1+—-H 230,447 807,049 = 1,231,209 97,600 53,865 5,645 2,425,815
At 1st January, 2007 R=ZZ2Z+5-A—H 637,874 331,698 = 783,663 97,325 51,099 5,725 1,907,384

As at 31st December, 2008, certain buildings, machinery and motor

vehicles of the Group with net book value of approximately
RMB81,833,000 (2007: RMB81,988,000) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 34).

R_ZEENF+_A=1+—8 A&H
2 3 BR mOF E 4 A K 81,833,000 7T
(ZZEZT+F: AR81,988,0007L) 2
ETEFT HERAE UEAXEE
BR—MBETEEOER (ME34) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

14,

15.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

B 5 ¥R R B E (&)
—EEN\E+=A=t—H

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 4. M%E - kB RxE (8)
As at 31st December, 2008, the Group had not obtained the real R-ZEZNF+T_A=1+—8B KA&E
estate certificates for buildings with a total gross areas of M AR ARE A A398,000 FF F AR (ZEE
approximately 398,000 square meters (2007: 440,000 square meters) + 4 440,000 5 OK) REEEIFEA A
and a net book value of RMB894,987,000 (2007: RMB879,362,000). R #894,987,000 L (=T FT £ 5 : )\ R
#879,362,0007T) Z B F S /5 E &
The Group was in the process of applying for the real estate RZBZNF+_A=1+—H A&KH
certificates for the aforesaid buildings with a gross area of IEEE‘VLJ:L 1T 1& £9371,000F 75 K & AR
approximately 371,000 square meters and a net book value of HFELH ARS44,482,000 T 2 1EF H
approximately RMB844,482,000 as at 31st December, 2008. EREE -
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. ImEM*
2008 2007
—EENE —EEEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T
Carrying amount at 1st January R—A—BZEHEE 32,333 31,767
Additions NE 50,606 1,368
Depreciation provided during the year FEREFIRZITE (2,276) (802)
Carrying amount at 31st December Rt+t-—A=+—HBzZzEHEE 80,663 32,333

The Group's investment properties are situated in Mainland China
and are held under medium-term leases.

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the term for the lease or 5% per annum.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are as
follows:

Use

Jiikes

Location
L=

Jinwei Industrial Park,
Economic Technique &
Development District, Xi'an
AXQERMAZERLCEIER

Industrial & office building
ITERBRAERTF

No. 39, North Xinfu Road, Xi'an
8% Z R 3958

Industrial building
THF

East Bang Jun Baoping Road, Tianjin
REMHBHE T DR

Industrial building
TXBTF

HMEDNRMDERLT

AEBNEREYMEML NS EILARE S H

HEGHFE -

PR EMETIABERER B FHHL
BFES% (AR ERE)HERE -

AEBEBREMEZ #E—

Tenure

HE

Medium term

&

Medium term

&

Short term
%2 8

SHEDT :

Attributable
interest

of the Group
AEBEELER

51%

51%

51%



31st December, 2008

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—FENF+=A=+-H

16. FAfT T ih il S FRIR (£8)

Group Company
rEH AN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENEF —ETLEF —EENE —ETtEHF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBF T AR®BT T ARBTFT
Carrying amount R—H—H
at 1st January ZEEmE 317,295 246,900 130,486 60,491
Addition NE 445 90,707 — 72,504
Invested in a subsidiary R—FKE R F
ZRE — — (11,871) —
Recognised during the year 4 A &R (19,499) (20,312) (2,737) (2,509)
Carrying amount R+=-—A=+—~H
at 31st December ZERMEE 298,241 317,295 115,878 130,486
Current portion included FTATEMRIE - B&
in prepayments, Ko H fth, 8 U BR SR
deposits and 2 BIER B 17
other receivables (19,671) (19,662) (2,240) (2,634)
Non-current portion FE B R &6 19 278,570 297,633 113,638 127,852

The leasehold land is held under a long-term lease and is situated in
Mainland China.

As at 31st December, 2008, certain land use right of the Group with
net book value of approximately RMB69,024,000 (2007:
RMB56,591,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 34).

MELHHURFE TRIERKBHEE
BHEA -

R-ZBEENE+-_A=+—H Xx&EE
B 38R OF E 9 A R 69,024,000 7T
(ZZ2ZF 5 : AR%56,591,0007T) Z
ET L RE UEAAEEER—
MIBITIEERER (MFE34) -

17. GOODWILL 7. BME

2008 2007
—EEN\E —ETHHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R AR T T

Cost and carrying amount R—A—BZ2ERAR
At 1st January BREE 538,016 599,552
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB A A — (61,536)
At 31st December R+-—A=+—H 538,016 538,016
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of goodwill at 31st December, 2008 and 2007
was related to the following cash generating units:

Automobile and other major MEREMEETETIHME
automobile components

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt X (4&)

—EENFF_H=+—H

B

17. BE(#8)

.
B

HF 1115

I\P\N

ZEN
SRS Fﬁ
A
2008
—BEN\F

RMB’000
AR®T R

538,016

FR-FELFE+ A
BERENRTIRSE

2007
—ETLF
RMB"000
ARET T

538,016

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are detailed in
note 19.

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

ERRmEBRENAZHBRRME 19

18. Hith B &=

Group rEE
Trademarks Technologies Total
EmE 1l &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR¥ TR AR¥ T
(Note i) (Note ii)
(Bt &) (Bt &Eii)
31st December, 2008 —EENF+-_RAR=1+—H
Cost at 1st January, 2008, net RZZEENF-—H—HZ
of accumulated amortisation KA (BB 2at88) 203,089 78,353 281,442
Additions NE — 5,888 5,888
Amortisation provided during F ARG 2B H
the year — (15,603) (15,603)
At 31st December, 2008 RZZEZNF+=A
=4F=—F 203,089 68,638 271,727
At 31st December, 2008: R-ZEENE+=A
=+-8:
Cost B AR 213,461 370,133 583,594
Accumulated amortisation 2 5T 8 (10,372) (301,495) (311,867)
Net carrying amount BREFE 203,089 68,638 271,727
31st December, 2007 —EFEt+F+_A=+—H
Cost at 1st January, 2007, net of RZZTEZT+LF—HA—HZ
accumulated amortisation A (BB 258 H) 203,089 125,677 328,766
Additions NE — 815 815
Disposals k= — (1,568) (1,568)
Amortisation provided during F NG 2 #EE
the year — (46,571) (46,571)
At 31st December, 2007 R_ZEELF+_A=+—H 203,089 78,353 281,442

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

Rt 5 ¥R & Bft 5E (&)
—EFENF+-A=+—H

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 18. Hth@EL &= (&)
Group REH
Trademarks  Technologies Total
EE 1T &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T AR TR
(Note i) (Note ii)
(B =Fi) (B i)
At 31st December, 2007; RZZEZTLF+-_A=+—8:
Cost J@N 213,461 364,245 577,706
Accumulated amortisation 2ty (10,372) (285,892) (296,264)
Net carrying amount BREFE 203,089 78,353 281,442
Company VNN |
Trademarks  Technologies Total
BE AT &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR AR® T AR¥ TR
(Note i) (Note ii)
(B &Ei) (B =Eii)
31st December, 2008 —EENE+=_A=+—8
Cost at 1st January, 2008, net of M—_ZTZE\HF— A —H Z K&
accumulated amortisation (BB RaTEE) 108,892 — 108,892
Additions NE — 584 584
Amortisation provided during FANTIR 2 #H
the year — — —
At 31st December, 2008 R=BE/\F+=-A=+—H 108,892 584 109,476
At 31st December, 2008: RZZEZENF+=ZA=+—8":
Cost A AN 119,264 21,762 141,026
Accumulated amortisation EE g X (10,372) (21,178) (31,550)
Net carrying amount REFE 108,892 584 109,476
Cost at 1st January, 2007, netof RZ—ZZEZT+HF— A —HZ KA
accumulated amortisation (BB 2:t#) 108,892 31,111 140,003
Additions NE — — —
Disposals HeE — — —
Amortisation provided during F NI 2 #H
the year — (31,111) (31,111)
At 31st December, 2007 R=—FTE+F+=-A=+—H 108,892 — 108,892
At 31st December, 2007: R-ZZEEL+F+-_HA=+—8:
Cost %N 119,264 21,178 140,442
Accumulated amortisation 2 5 # 4 (10,372) (21,178) (31,550)
Net carrying amount BRmFEE 108,892 — 108,892
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

18.

19.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt X (4&)
—EENFF+ZA=+—H

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 18. HihfE & E (&)

Notes: Bt

(i) The trademarks are renewable every 10 years at minimal cost. The directors (i) BIEG T FRAEREBKEIEE—K - KR
of the Company are of the opinion that the Group has both the intention AEFRR AFEBEEEHBENTEE
and ability to renew the trademarks continuously. As a result, the useful life BEZERIE - R ZEBIEN AKX BAE
of the trademarks is considered by the management of the Group as FEEFRSHAFE WU FEBE
indefinite because the trademarks are expected to contribute to the Group’s HERARZEHIEEFKAAERAFH -
net cash inflows indefinitely. The trademarks will not be amortised until their BHZEFENOAEFFEHREETRF
useful life is determined to be finite. Instead the trademarks will be tested R BDRITEHETEY HR  BIESE
for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that they may BERGEFDXETFEREGETH
be impaired. Particulars of the impairment testing are disclosed in note 19. BRI 5 o o BRI S IR A 1985558 -

(ii) Technologies represented manufacturing know-how, which have definite (i) FEMTHEHEE B IR A (EHF R R -
useful lives. These technologies are amortised on a straight-line basis over 8 ZERMIIAEGREESZ10FENEL -
to 10 years.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND 19. I MEXKXOFRAFRZAHE

TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL LIVES K 8% 3 17361 18 8 5t

As explained in note 4, the Group uses business segments as its MM AR AREBERERSHBE

primary segment for reporting segment information. For the purpose HELNEBSIHBEREETESH - BT

of impairment testing, goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful ETREANR  HEEKARGERFESHZ
lives have been allocated to two individual cash generating units as BELREREE P ETREBLNREE
below (CGUs), including manufacturing and sale of diesel engines EEN BIEAEEREE LA AR
and related parts (“CGU A”) and automobile and other major TEHH([BRBEeELAEMADURAER
automobile components other than diesel engines (“CGU B”). The BRI EMEBZRBEZT M (IR
carrying amounts of goodwill and trademarks (net of accumulated CEABEMB]) RZEZENF+ZA
impairment losses) as at 31st December, 2008 allocated to these Z=t+—H BEoEEZZEEMLZEER

units are as follows: PIZEEE (IR ZETREBE) AT

Goodwill Trademarks
mE [Ek:d

2008 2007 2008 2007

—EENE —EETLF —EENEF —EELEF

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARKET T AR®T R AR T T

CGU A MEeELEEM A — — 108,892 108,892

CGU B REeELESBMB 538,016 538,016 94,197 94,197

538,016 538,016 203,089 203,089

MEDNRMDERLT




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

19, IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND

TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL LIVES
(CONTINUED)

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and their
major underlying assumptions are summarised below:

CGU A

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a
five-year period, and discount rate of 10% (2007: 12%). CGU A’s
cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated with no
growth rate for both years. Other key assumptions for the value in
use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
which include budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation is
based on the unit’'s past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development.

CcGU B

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a
five-year period, and discount rate of 14% (2007: 12%). CGU B's
cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated with no
growth for both years. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which
include budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation is based on
the unit’s past performance and management’s expectations for the
market development.

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

FETHRE W RRE

Unlisted investments, at cost

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—FENF+=A=+-H

19.

20.

HBEAE XA EHFH 2 BHE
KR TR E RS (58)

bR EEFEUZANESBEAER
ERHETZRBEKZMPROT

HEeEELENA

BBz AW E S B REEREES
HEET  ZEFERBESREEA (R
BEBEIEZSFHYREL) X10%
ZEELF %) ZHEBAEMEE
HEELEMANSFHBER 2B SR
EBENNERZMEFTFEEREREZBRR
HE-FRAEBEMEEZHEMEEZERE
HESRAREZEA(RIEBEEHE
EBEEMN) EHE  ZEEADREZ
BNZATREREREHMBERY
TEHA T E o

REELEMB

S E ALz AR E & B IR R (E AR
HEBE  -ZAHERASRERD (R
BREEBHAZSFHYBEE) X14%
(ZB2LF R Z2HBREMERTE -
AeELBEUBRSFHERZETRE
BEATDERZMEFEEER ZRKS
H-ReEFBUBRSFHRARIERES®
MERADERZMEFEERERE 2R
RAAE - ERBEEFEEZZEBEIER
RERSRA/ RMEZEA(RERE
HEBRLEN) AW RFEADRE
ZEMNZBERAREEEETHLER
ZTAHIMEE -

RfBE LI 2RE

2008 2007
—E2EN\F —TTLEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
4,002,382 3,726,475
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£68)

31st December, 2008 —EENFF+ZHA=1+—H
20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 20. RMIB B 2R E (18)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: I2MBRABZHBET :

Percentage of equity
attributable to

Place of the Company
incorporation/ FLABERE
registration and Registered B
Name operations capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
MR
= o Bh R S B AftRA HEEE BERF FEXK
(in '000)
(KL F xat)
Weichai Power (Weifang) Spare PRC RMB89,796 94.43% — Manufacture and trading
Part Resources Co., Ltd. A AR #89,79 of diesel engine and
HEEH (R ERERBRAR related spare parts
EERBEEEAKR
&
Weichai Power (Weifang) QOil Co., Ltd. PRC RMB10,000  100.00% — Trading of lubricant oil
LB D (M) mmERAR H B A R #10,000 products
EBEHERED
Weichai Power (Weifang) Intensive PRC RMB20,000 52.00% — Provision of warehouse
Logistics Co., Ltd. H A R #20,000 management services
HRE N ) SAREAERRA REEEEERY
Weichai Power (Weifang) Casting PRC RMB20,000  100.00% — Manufacture and trading
Co,, Ltd. H A K% 20,000 of cast products
HRE N (D) BRER DA HEREESEER
Weichai Power (Weifang) PRC RMB30,000  100.00% — Reconstruction of
Reconstruction Co., Ltd. Sl AR #30,000 automotive components
Mz h O ) BRERR A A BRERETIHMH
Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automotive PRC RMB1,706,330 51.00% — Manufacture and trading
Co., Ltd. ] AR 1,706,330 of heavy duty trucks
REEE[TEERAA and related automotive
components
HERBEEERRER
HEREZ M
Tianjin Tiangua Automotive Co., Ltd. PRC RMB11,760 — 51.00% Manufacture and sale
REMRBEHEFR A A Y ANR#11,760 of trailers and tractors
HERFEEHERBLUE
Tianjin Xinming Automotive PRC RMB1,000 — 100.00% Trading of automotive
Commercial Co., Ltd. A AR 1,000 components
ARHAAEFEEARAA BEERETHMH
Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. PRC RMB320,000 3.06% 94.00% Manufacture and sale
REZEEBERA A H AR # 320,000 of motor vehicles and
related automotive
components
EEHEERERER
HETE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 20. NKIB LB 2IRE (£8)

Percentage of equity
attributable to

Place of the Company
incorporation/ FLRABERE
registration and Registered ARl
Name operations capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
AL
=L B R R HMRA HERE HERE IEXB
(in'000)
(L F &)
Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd. PRC RMB35,360 — 87.05% Manufacture and trading of
REeRBEERAR H A K # 35,360 cast product
EENREEREEM
Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automotive PRC RMB10,000 — 100.00% Provision of import and
Import & Export Co., Ltd. i AR #10,000 export services
PREZERFEELOGRATE
ROLGE N O R
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. PRC RMB256,790 51.00% — Manufacture and trading of
REZTEEGHERETAA H AR #256,790 automotive components
EEREBAETHMH
Baoji Fast Gear Co., Ltd. PRC RMB30,000 2.55% 95.00% Manufacture and trading
ERATRFEREREERT B AR #30,000 of gear and related
automotive components
EENEEG R LA
HEEBH
Xian Fast Auto Drive Co., Ltd. PRC RMB120,000 — 100.00% Trading of motor vehicles
ARETHAEEHARAA H AR #120,000 and related automotive
components
BEEAERERAE
T
Shaanxi Fast Gear Sales Co., Ltd. PRC RMB1,000 — 100.00% Trading of automotive
ARETHERESAERAA B AR #1,000 components
BEERET M
Shaanxi Fast Gear Spare Parts Import PRC RMB3,000 — 100.00% Provision of import and
& Export Co., Ltd. H AR #3,000 export services
REETRINET A O R A RS
BRAA
Zhuzhou Gear Co., Ltd. PRC RMB131,315 66.02% — Trading of motor vehicles
HKNEREREERA e AR#131,315 and related automotive
components
BEEAEREBAE
T
Zhuzhou Wandefu Gear Co., Ltd. PRC RMB1,000 — 90.00% Trading of motor vehicles
MNEEREREREMRA H AR 1,000 and related automotive
components
BEEAERMERAE
THH

153
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B 5 R R B 5E (£68)
31st December, 2008 —EFENFF+ZA=4+—H

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 20. NMIBRE 2IRE (£8)

Percentage of equity
attributable to

Place of the Company
incorporation/ A0 R A RE
registration and Registered B
Name operations capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
MR
£ i B S B AftRA HEEE BESF FEXEK
(in '000)
(KL F at)
Zhuzhou Wande Forging Co., Ltd. PRC RMB5,000 — 100.00% Manufacture and sale of
HKNBEERBREREEAA H AR#5,000 motor vehicles and
related automotor
components
EEHEREREH
RETHH
Zhuzhou Euro Grace Gear Automotive PRC RMB50,000 — 90.00% Trading of automotive
Transmission Co., Ltd. A A R #50,000 components
WHER IR EBROBRA A BEEAETHMH
Dongfeng Off-road Vehicle Co., Ltd. PRC RMB155,000 60.00% — Manufacture and trading
REHMEERR DA 3 A R # 155,000 of vehicles and related
automotive components
HEREEARABERIEH
RETHH
Shiyan Amor Coating Technology PRC RMB2,200 — 100.00% Coating and sale of
Co., Ltd. H AR #2200 automotive components
TETERFZ2BRMERAD A ZEMIREEARE
THH
Zhuzhou Torch Sparkplugs Co., Ltd. PRC RMB176,000  100.00% — Manufacture and trading
TR AEXEEERETR A H A R #176,000 of spark plugs
HERBEENEE
Zhuzhou Torch Construction PRC RMB7,000 15.43% 82.86%  Provision of construction
Engineering Co., Ltd. H AR 7,000 services
HWNRAEEETIREREEAA RERERY
MAT Automotive Inc. USA usD175 75.00% — Import and sale of
EEd FE 175 automotive components
EORHEERETRH
Dalian Honhyuan Machinery PRC UsD10,000 — 100.00% Trading of automotive
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. H % 71.10,000 components
RERBREMHEEFTRAD A BEEARETHMH
Torch Import & Export Co., Ltd. PRC RMB181,000 98.34% 1.66% Provision of import and
NEELROFRELRDA H AR 181,000 export services
TR O R
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31st December, 2008

Name

£

Zhuzhou Torch Machinery
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.
HWNR A ERREEFRRERA

Zhuzhou Torch Property Development
Co., Ltd.
HKNKERHERERREMELRA

Zhuzhou Torch Auto Sealing Co., Ltd.
WHRRERERHEREERDA

Zhuzhou Torch Auto Lighting Co., Ltd.

WHRAEREBAERAE AR

Zhuzhou Torch Auto Electronics
Co., Ltd.
HMNANEREERERET AT

Mudan Jiang Futong Automotive
Air Conditioner Company Limited

HATERIEZHERAF

Xinjiang Machinery Equipment Import
& Export Co., Ltd.
FEENRGEELOERAA

Beijing Huikeying High Tech Co., Ltd.
IEREMBSHRMERRAF

Shanghai He Da Auto Accessory
Co., Ltd.
FEMERSERGARDA

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations
MR
R R R A

PRC
k2

PRC
o

PRC
kR

PRC
e

PRC
i

PRC
ki

PRC
ki

PRC
Ei2

PRC
ki

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Registered
capital

o i A
(in"000)
(A FTat)

RMB142,263
AR#142,263

RMB13,120
AR#13,120

RMB20,420
AR 20,420

RMB12,000
A K #12,000

RMB9,700
AR #9,700

RMB118,165
AE#118,165

RMB20,000
A R % 20,000

RMB50,000
A K #50,000

RMB35,987
A R % 35,987

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—EENFF+ZA=+—H

20. RMIB R 2 IRE (58)

Percentage of equity
attributable to
the Company
AQEEAERE
BDK

Direct Indirect Principal activities

EERA HEEF IRXH

100.00% — Trading of automotive
component
BRAEDHH
94.66% 5.34% Provision of properties
development
R E M E R ERB
100.00% — Trading of automotive
components
BEEAREZHMH
100.00% — Trading of automotive
components
BEERETHM
100.00% — Trading of automotive
components
BEEAETHMH
61.30% — Manufacture and trading
of automotive
components
EEREERETHMH
100.00% — Provision of export and
import services
REE O R
100.00% — Development of
technology and
provision of technology
consulting service
9 5 B R AR R a0l
A i AR 7
75.00% — Trading of automotive
components
BEEAETHMH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

21. INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY

Bt 5 4R R Bft 5E (&)
—EENE+=A=t—H

20, REMB AT 2R & (1&)
LRBNEERAYAEEAEE XM
AEZVERALEEAESEEEM
REGOAAAMBAR - EERA -
REEGHBARNFBESERENBR
TR -

21. R—RHARPZHERCRE

Group Company
rE ¥ NN

2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF —ZENF —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T AREET T AR TR AR T T
Unlisted shares, at cost FEEMRG F BRE — — 20,409 —
Share of net assets EHEEFEE 6,272 — — —
Goodwill on acquisition WHEEAZHE 14,660 — — —
20,932 — 20,409 —

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entity are as follows:

Name

=L

Weifang Weichai Peterson

Gas Diesel Engines
Company Limited

L S T R
BERA A

Paid up
registered
capital

inc

BrEmBEE
(in "000)
(A F 7 at)

RMB7,678
AR¥K7,678

Place of
orporation/
registration
AL

o fif 3t 2

PRC
G

TEAFRZEHERBZFBOT

Percentage of

BAL
Ownership Voting Profit
interest power sharing Principal activities
BEEEER REE FEIE FEXK
50% 50% 50% Manufacture

The above investment in a jointly-controlled entity is directly held by

the Company.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

MEDNRMDERLT

and sale of gas
refrigerator

FERHEERR
il 1

EdR—KARZEHERZKETIRA
REEERE -
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21. INVESTMENT IN A JOIN
(CONTINUED)

The following table illustrates

TLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY

the summarised financial information

(%&)

o

2. R—RAQEZEFERCKRE

TRINTASEAFREHERZMHKE

of the Group’s jointly-controlled entity: FHEE
2008 2007
—EENEF —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR F T
Share of the jointly-controlled entity’s EEHRESNEECEER
assets and liabilities: afE:
Current assets mE & E 20,184 =
Non-current assets ERBEE 671 —
Current liabilities mEAaE (14,583) —
Net assets EEFE 6,272 =
Share of the jointly-controlled FEMEHRESERE A
entity’s results:
Revenue WA 12,817 —
Other income H g A 276 —
13,093 —
Total expenses X B (12,451) =
Tax A (119) —
Profit after tax B 1& A1) B 523 —
22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. REEERTZHRE
Group Company
rEH KAH
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENEF —ETLF —EENEF —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR T AR T AR F T
Unlisted shares, at cost LTS REE — — 52,545 91,687
Share of net assets EIEEEFE 183,493 227,032 — —
183,493 227,032 52,545 91,687
Provision for impairment VR (3,721) (6,926) — —
179,772 220,106 52,545 91,687
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 22. NRENS 2IRE (£8)

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows:

TEMERBZHBET

Percentage of ownership
attributable to

Paid-up Place of the Group
registered incorporation/ AKEBELEERE I
Name capital registration Direct Indirect Principal activities
EMEL
=L BB 31 AR A SR  EEES MiERE FEEH
(in "000)
(AT z3t)
Eaton Fast Gear (Xi'an) Co., Ltd. RMB132,435 PRC 45.00% Manufacture of heavy duty
FIEETR (AR)BRAR AR #132,435 H automotive gear and
parts
EEERNREERK
T
Shanghai Xinlian Chuangye RMB 150,000 PRC 33.00% Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd. AR # 150,000 H company
FEEBHAXREERAA REZERAA
Shaanxi Eurostar Auto Co., Ltd. RMB114,954 PRC 33.00% Manufacture and sale
RREEEFIERGERA A AR 114,954 H of vehicle chassis and
products
EEREEAERRK
EEEM
Shaanxi Tonghui Automotive RMB10,000 PRC 40.00% Manufacture and sale
Transportation Co., Ltd. AR #10,000 el of vehicle chassis and
BREABESENRERAQA products
EERBEAEERNR
BEEm
Xian Cummics Engine Co., Ltd. RMB191,347 PRC 25.00% Manufacture and sale
ARRAMEEHEERA A AR 191,347 i of diesel motor and
spare parts
HEREHE SR R
CIMC-SHAC (Xi'an) Special Vehicles RMB50,000 PRC 25.00% Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. A R #50,000 Sl special car trailer and
RERAER(AR)ERE spare parts
BERDA KERHEZRERER
(i
Laizhou Luyuan Automotive RMB37,930 PRC 25.00% Manufacture and sale of
Fitting Co., Ltd. AR 37,930 A vehicle chassis and
FMEBRTERGEERAA products
EEREERERRK
EEEm
158 WEICHAI Power Co., LTD. %N HRMERAD




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
of the Group’s associates extracted from their financial statements:

Assets BE
Liabilities afs
Revenue A
Loss & 18

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—EENFF+ZA=+—H

22. REE RS2 1R E (1&)
TRITHEBFEAEEBER AN B R
RZMBERBE

2008 2007
—EEN\F —TTLEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBETTT
1,077,203 1,345,828
565,109 740,464
863,023 724,386
(21,636) (12,954)

23, AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

23. Ot BEKRE

Group Company
rE PN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF —TELF —EENE =T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBFTIT ARBTR AR®Tx
Listed equity investments, R ARE
at fair value: BATE :
Mainland China AR i 96,742 — 96,200 —
Unlisted equity investments 3 F IR AKX & 81,445 75,358 — —
178,187 75,358 96,200 —

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. As at 31st December, 2008, listed available-for-sale
equity investments of RMB96,200,000 (2007: Nil) were restricted for
trading over certain periods of less than six months.

The above unlisted investments represent investments in unlisted
equity securities issued by private entities established in the PRC. As
at 31st December, 2008, certain unlisted available-for-sale equity
investments with a carrying amount of RMB81,445,000 (2007:
RMB75,358,000) were stated at cost less impairment because the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the
directors are of the opinion that their fair value cannot be measured
reliably. The Group does not intend to dispose of them in the near
future.

ETBRAEEN QA FENGHEMESE
Fe-RZZEENF+ZA=+—8" Lt
A R AR B A R % 96,200,000
T(ZEELF  E)ELPRAEANE
THHEARIEESE -

L LMEEEREPREKNIOLE
ERBTNFELMERESF2IRE - &
REAEBEATFTENGHHHEEBEKN  mE
ERBEEURFEERATE R
—EENFE+-_A=+—HBH EFEEEA
AR¥81,445000C (ZTEZEEF : AR
#75,358,0007T) 2 & T3 EmafHE
RAEERKAABERBEINER - AEHE
BERTAGRGELE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B F5 R R Bt 5 (48)

31st December, 2008 —EENFF+ZA=+—H

24, DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY, 20, WIB R ~ ik 38 sk B P T 3%
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT &
At the balance sheet date, the amount represented deposits paid to REER  ZaFERKREYE  #S
certain vendors for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment. BEENETEAZ2RS - BHEEXR
Details of the related capital commitments are set out in note 41. AEZFBENM T4 -

25. DEFERRED TAX 25. iR FE iR 1A
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year AEEREHEEERABEEHOT :

are as follows:

Deferred tax assets FEIERIEEE
Group pig- 3
2008
“EBENE
Eliminated Change in
profits fair value of Sales
resulting from available-  rebate and
intra-group  Impairment for-sale warranty
transactions of assets  investments provision Others Total
HEERAR AfHE
R 5 MmELEH R&Ez #HERNR
1845 R BEHE 2AVEZE REBRE Hit it

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR AR®Tn AR®TR ARBT:x

At 1st January, 2008 RZBENEF
—A—H 27,174 80,538 — 63,714 34,362 205,788

Effect of change in tax rate 77 & & &) ¥ i

on the opening balance W KRB 2

charged to the income GRS

statement (note 10) Y2 (K1) - (354) — = - (354)
Assets no longer classified 7~ 9 4831 A

as disposal group held BELECHE

for sale BRlzEE = — - - 22,630 22,630
Deferred tax credited to the 7% M5t A i zd &

income statement during 7 iEEFi 1B

the year (note 10) (Kizt10) 1,127 26,446 — 57,143 25,788 110,504
Deferred tax credited to ~ RER AR 2

equity during the year ERETE — — 14,670 — — 14,670
Exchange realignment B K 3R — — — — (1,335) (1,335)

Gross deferred tax assets R ZZE )\ F
at 31st December, 2008 +—-A=+—-Hz
BELERELERS 28,301 106,630 14,670 120,857 81,445 351,903
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B F5 R R B 5 (48)

31st December, 2008 —EFENFF+ZA=1+—H
25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 25. REMRIA (§8)
Deferred tax liabilities EEBIEESE
Group NE
2008
—EEN\F
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
acquisitions
of subsidiaries Trademarks Others Total
B e B B
ARMEEN
DNEEAR (5L H At &5t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®B T AR®BT R AR®T T AR®B T
At 1st January, 2008 RZZEENF—HA—H 52,631 7,000 5,391 65,022
Effect of change in tax rate B RSB S 5T Az &
on the opening balance ZHESR B
credited to the income (Kta£10)
statement (note 10) (670) — — (670)
Deferred tax (credited)/charged £ AR W= (5t A) /
to the income statement Nk 2 EEFRIE
during the year (note 10) (Kt 10) (15,850) 2,412 (3,938) (17,376)
Gross deferred tax liabilities N-ZEENF
at 31st December, 2008 +-ZA=+—HZ2
BELERIBEELER 36,111 9,412 1,453 46,976
Deferred tax assets BEEBIEEE
Group BN S
2007
3 3
Eliminated
profits Change in
resulting fair value of Sales
from available- rebate and
intra-group Impairment for-sale warranty
transactions of assets  investments provision Others Total
REER
RARSM o i
EER K&z HERME
I 8508 7l BERE ATHEEZY RIEERE Hitr CE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTLE ARBTRT ARETT ARBTR ARBTRE ARERT:R

At 1st January, 2007 R-EELF
—A—H 14,745 74,902 — 14,368 (104,015) —
Deferred tax credited to the R E X AzE &
income statement during 2 IEFERIIE
the year (note 10) (BiiE10) 12,429 5,636 — 49,346 138,377 205,788

Gross deferred tax assets RZZEZTLEF
at 31st December, 2007 +-B=+—-Bz
EEREEERS 27,174 80,538 — 63,714 34,362 205,788
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31st December, 2008 —EFENFF+ZA=4+—H
25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 25. REMRIA (§8)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEMEEE
Group ZN S
2007
—ETLF
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
acquisitions
of subsidiaries Trademarks Others Total
B U s Pt /28
RAlMEER
REERE Bk H Al &5t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARETTT ARET T
At 1st January, 2007 RZFEZTLtF—HA—H 57,533 10,267 — 67,800
Deferred tax (credited)/ FRRMER (GEA) /S
charged to the income MR 2 EER A
statement during the year (ftzt10)
(note 10) (4,902) (3,267) 5,391 (2,778)
Gross deferred tax liabilities N_ZETLEF
at 31st December, 2007 +-—A=+—HZ2
REF A ERSE 52,631 7,000 5,391 65,022
Deferred tax assets BEEBIEEE
Company A F
2008
—EENE
Change in
fair value of Sales rebate
available- and
Impairment for-sale warranty
of assets investments provision Others Total
AHEE
REz HERNK
BEERE ALAFEEH RIERE Hity &3t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR%®Tn AR¥Tn AR%Tn AR%ETx
At 1st January, 2008 R_EENF—HF—H 6,250 — 37,395 34,376 78,021
Deferred tax credited to the RERGABZEKZ
income statement during BRI
the year 21,360 — 31,766 2,314 55,440
Deferred tax credited to equity RERFAEREZ
during the year EETIE — 14,670 - — 14,670
Gross deferred tax assets RZZEENF
at 31st December, 2008 +-A=+—-Hz
BERBEERR 27,610 14,670 69,161 36,690 148,131
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
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25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 25. REMRIA (§8)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEMIEEE
Company ¥ N
2008
—EEN\E
Trademarks Others Total
(GRS H 1t &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBT AR®B T
At 1st January, 2008 RZZEZNFE—-—H—H 7,000 6,403 13,403
Deferred tax (credited)/charged FARWKEE (GTA)
to the income statement during Mk 2 ELTEFIE
the year (note 10) (KrzE10) 2,412 (5.776) (3.364)
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZEZENF
at 31st December, 2008 +=—A=+—8z2
B IE B E LR 9,412 627 10,039
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the AEEWEF THIEABRABRLEHIEE
following items: E
Group Company
rEH ¥ NN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —EETLF —ZENF —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T ARET T ART R AR T T
Tax losses HIEEIE 127,424 71,032 — —
Deductible temporary A ERERE
differences 137,921 98,215 — —
265,345 169,247 — —

The above tax losses are available for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose for a period of five
years. Deferred tax assets for the tax losses and deductible temporary
differences arising from these subsidiaries with operating losses have
not been recognised in respect of the above items as it may not be
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the
above items can be utilised.

Pl HEBEAERSERNLRERD
AREIRFEREERRERRANE - AR
ABBEARBMNEFTB A LAMAR T
i AU EH LMTEAERZELE
ERNMBARMELANBEBERA
HIRESEZBE/ETEHRBEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1st January, 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31st December, 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. This newly enacted tax law does
not have significant impact on the Group’s tax liability because the
Group had only one foreign investment enterprise which had
accumulated tax losses as at 31st December, 2007 and 2008.

There are no income tax consequences to the Company in respect of
the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

87 ¥5 ¥R 2 Big 5E (78)

—EENFF_H=+—H

25. IREMRIA (1)
REFBEEEMBEIL - RPBEABAK
UYWIEHRECERIIEREE TR
BB ABMI0% MBI o bR EH —
TENF-A-HELEY BEARZ
ERLFT_A=Z+—BENEN -
TEBENEREEMENREEERR
RIAEMRBEREHE - AT RARENE
HARE - ARAEEETES —RIB
BRERGE MHZEER-_FTTLFRZ
ZENFT _A=ZT—HBHEBFEAB
HEE BHZHAETOTENGH AR
SENHEREBREAZE -

RARBAERRIKNBREMS T8
RARBREMAERTZE -

26. INVENTORIES 26. 78
Group Company
REH VNN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF -TTLHF ZBBN\F "TTLF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBETT AR®Tx AR T T
Raw materials and R R X8 FE S
consumables 2,229,472 1,091,609 875,078 280,845
Work in progress EH S 583,189 656,358 155,650 232,057
Finished goods SR 3,037,956 2,452,043 710,426 862,144
5,850,617 4,200,010 1,741,154 1,375,046
27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 27. BERBRAERAREERE
Group Company
AEH PN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF —TELF —EENF —EELF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T AR TR AR T
Trade receivables FEUE 5 ER 3,256,425 1,968,951 276,846 136,723
Bills receivables fE W = 1% 3,995,709 4,180,241 3,154,637 2,185,340
Impairment DERIE] (322,126) (239,690) (17,239) (11,624)
6,930,008 5,909,502 3,414,244 2,310,439
WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. M4 NRMNBRLD



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B F5 R R B 5 (48)

31st December, 2008 —EFNFF+=ZA=4+—H
27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 27. BEREBRERKRIR (&)
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit BRTHEFP—R\|EEANAIRKN
except for new customers, where payment in advance or cash on RUBReNRZN REBEETP 2
delivery is normally required. The credit period is generally 90 days to BOBAXZBRELN  EEH K
180 days, however, customer with established trading records could RO0E180K A RPRHERIFH
be granted longer credit period. The Group seeks to maintain strict BRPEFAESHERNEER - XEE N
control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control policy SR B B R AR B B R U 2 B MR AR IR
to minimise credit risk. Credit sales are made to customers with an TEBEEZEHBRRF|ERE 1t§\ £
appropriate credit history. Credit limits granted to customers are b - AR ERALENEP AT
reviewed regularly. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that HfT\EE KEBTEHBRARTEFPNEE
the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified ER - SR bl B AR A B AR
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade BORFRMARETRAEANEFS,ERH -
receivables are non-interest-bearing. TEEREFEERR - EBIKE FER
BIREE -
An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the balance 75’\‘%; CRHIBRORERE RO EKE
sheet date, based on the invoice date and net of provision for ERERREERBERAHNRE DT
impairment, is as follows: ZZD—F :
Group Company
TEE PN
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEENE C"TEZtLE ZBENF _ZETLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARETEIT AR®BTR ARETT

Within 3 months 318 AN 4,998,810 3,977,798 3,122,497 1,908,194
3 to 6 months 3Z=61E A 1,417,465 1,738,859 287,647 388,646
6 to 12 months 6= 1218 A 386,053 39,136 3,470 5,719
1 to 2 years —EWF 79,219 95,894 537 141
2 to 3 years WE=F 24,449 39,519 92 2,888
3 to 4 years —EmEF 18,923 17,041 1 —
4 to 5 years mERF 5,089 1,255 — 4,851
6,930,008 5,909,502 3,414,244 2,310,439
The trade and bills receivables included in a disposal group (note 30) HEHR (ME30) T EKE SER R
of RMB63,576,000 are all aged within three months. =i AR 63,576,000 T B9 BR #: 19 A3 A
ﬂ A e
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WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 27. EREBRERK R (88)
The movements in provision for impairment of trade and bills BREZERRRBOREREZE N
receivables are as follows: T
Group Company
rEH AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\E —ZET+F —EEN\E —ETtHF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBTT AR®BTR ARBTT
At 1st January ®n—A—H 239,690 232,043 11,624 7,980
Impairment losses RO REN SE
recognised 107,946 53,756 6,756 5,650
Amount written off as I~ BT g [B] i 8 2
uncollectible | (9.332) (7,360) (1,141) (2,006)
Impairment losses reversed 3 {8 & 18 # [0 (16,178) (38,749) — —
322,126 239,690 17,239 11,624
The above provision for impairment of trade and bills receivables of AEBRARAFAMN LA ERE SHERK
the Group and the Company is provision for both individually and EEREBREBEEEXRRTREBRERNRE
collectively impaired trade and bills receivables with a carrying HmED A A ARK708,179,000 Tt (==
amount before impairment of RMB708,179,000 (2007: T+ AR®672,839,000) & AR
RMB672,839,000) and RMB54,541,000 (2007: RMB25,223,000), ¥54541000 C( ZEFTLF: AR
respectively. For amounts which were past due at the balance sheet 25,223,000t ) 2 & 51 } £ [A B 5 B FE 4K
date, the Group has not provided for those receivables of which BOERREBELORE -HREH
there has not been significant change in credit quality and the HEABZREMS  AEBLEZKE
amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold ARETEERES  BEENAMKE
any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances. B FE AR SR VE D B o AN SR B AR RE K
ERBEEEMEBERNEMERIERY
£ o
The aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables that are not AREZEBESERREENRER D
considered to be impaired is as follows: wmT
Group Company
AEH AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\E —ZET+F —EEN\E —EEALF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ TR ARETT AR¥TR ARBTF T
Neither past due nor K48 B SR (B
impaired 6,416,275 5,377,463 3,258,026 1,908,194
Less than 1 year DR —F 26,406 36,065 118,916 388,646
1 to 2 years past due B —EMF 65,038 58,242 — —
2 to 3 years past due BHRME=F 21,686 2,437 — —
3 to 4 years past due BE=EHF 12,006 1,892 — —
4 to 5 years past due BEMERF 2,544 254 — —
6,543,955 5,476,353 3,376,942 2,296,840
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Bt ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—EENFF+ZA=+—H

27. ERERKAKFRIR (&)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in
respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

As at 31 December 2008, trade and bills receivables of approximately
RMB338,815,000 (2007: 561,986,000) were pledged to secure bank
loans and credit facilities of the Group.

The amounts due from related parties included above are analysed as
follows:

REH SR EZ BEEREKXNETFRE
I ERBNRENETPAR -

EBBMERREZERERESZZNA
SEXFRBRENBLIEP B - 2
REBELER ANGEAREYTEEAE
B BEERFE&HKDATZHKE - &
ARAREERRBARZFTHEHRELR
EREE AEEYTERZSERFTACE
MEMREMEREREA -

RZEENF+ZA=+—H8 ' BKE

AR R E R4 A R 338,815,000 7T
(ZZEZ+F : AR¥561,986,0007L) B
KR EARNEENRITERREERE
HIEAR -

BA b % 5 R £ 4 6 B U B S 0T 2ROE 2
mF

Group Company
AEH AATH
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENEF —ETEF —EENEF —ETtHF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFT AR®BT T ARBTFT
Weichai Holdings and its S R R H B BB
subsidiaries N 28,953 2,314 1,368 2,231
Lonking Holdings and its BE T AR I H BT 8
subsidiaries NG| 431 540 431 540
Subsidiaries [ SRES RN — — 156,270 24,709
Jointly-controlled entity HEE G EE 5,036 — 5,036 —
Associates X /NE] 42,627 60,551 — —
Minority shareholders LB R & E
groups (note 42(a)) (Kiit42(a)) 224,505 8,442 1,002 1,400
301,552 71,847 164,107 28,880

The amounts due from related parties are on credit terms similar to

those offered to the major customers of the Group.

F& W B 3B 07 RIA B B R

B K £% [ [

TEEFPREHMGREL -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

Bt 5 ¥R < Bft 5E (&)
—EEN\EF=A=t—H

28. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 28. MU MIE- ENKEHthE I
I8
Group Company
rE NN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\E —ZETF —EEN\E —EEALF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREF T AR® T AR T
Deposits and other & & H M fE WK IE
receivables 1,006,795 402,625 770,551 239,466
Impairment NERE] (118,809) (97,954) (58,318) (36,028)
Deposits and other " & K&E b e W R IE
receivables, net | 887,986 304,671 712,233 203,438
Dividend receivables & U iR B 3,040 3,040 77,714 33,054
Advances to suppliers R E R R TR K 379,765 590,094 235,398 111,119
Prepayments SEERE @] 444 124 — —
1,271,235 897,929 1,025,345 347,611

The carrying amounts of the deposits and other receivables
approximate to their fair values.

The movements in provision for impairment of deposits and other

ReERHEMERRENREOERLLQT

BRE -

e kEMEWRRENREREED

receivables are as follows: W
Group Company
& A QT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\E —ETLF —ZEENE —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB TR ARETFT ARET T ARBTF T
At 1st January ®n—H—H 97,954 59,665 36,028 1,067
Impairment losses B RO (B B 18
recognised 24,925 38,289 22,427 34,961
Amount written off as A 7 | U [B] T 88 2
uncollectible © (4,017) = (137) —
Impairment losses reversed i {& /& 18 % [2] (53) = — —
118,809 97,954 58,318 36,028

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

28. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

The above provision for impairment of deposits and other receivables
of the Group and the Company is a provision for both individually
and collectively impaired deposits and other receivables with a
carrying amount (before impairment) of RMB139,284,000 (2007:
RMB145,766,000) and RMB78,474,000 (2007: RMB69,248,000),
respectively. These impaired deposits and other receivables relate to
parties that were in default or delinquency in payments and only a
portion of the deposits and other receivables is expected to be
recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

The amounts due from related parties included above are analysed as

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—EENFF+ZA=+—H

28. AT FRIA - ¥ & N H fth [E U
=18 (78)
AEERARBN Eiltke & EMEK
HIERERERERRTIRAER K
H{E 5 5l A AR % 139,284,000t (=&
THF 0 ARB145766,000T) R AR
#78,474000 L (Z 2T L F: AR
69,248,0007T) 2 BRI R R E R EEZ S
REAMBRFAEELDNEE ZEER
BiZe REAMBRKREDE S EXNMNK
MmBHRETHE —IH 2 Re REAmRE
WHE - AEBVTERZSERFTALT
eI 3R S E (5 1G58 2 = o

NEeRPBREMERBEETREIN

follows: LI
Group Company
rEE ¥ NN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —EELEF —EENEF —EELEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®®T R ARBF T AR®T R ARBTFT
Weichai Holdings and its S R K H B 8B
subsidiaries 7N &l 521 1,672 521 1,672
Subsidiaries b &8 2 &) — — 679,336 198,782
Associates /NG| 4,050 5,301 — —
Minority shareholders LERR K E
groups (note 42(a)) (K7t 42(a)) 123,489 89,862 — —
128,060 96,835 679,857 200,454

Except for the amount of RMB57,602,000 (2007: RMB51,261,000)
due from Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd. and the amount of
RMB19,042,000 (2007: RMB9,020,000) due from Zhuzhou Gear
Share Co., Ltd. as at 31 December 2008 which are interest-bearing at
6.57% (2007: 6.57%) and 7.47% (2007: 7.47%) per annum,
respectively, other receivables are non-interest bearing, unsecured
and repayable on demand.

RZEZENF+ZA=+—8 BT EK
7o % M A R A 7 58 A R #57,602,000 7
(ZZZT+4F : AR®51,261,00070) & F&E Wtk
M IR 5 A R R 8 38 A R 19,042,000 7T
(ZZTZ+F : AR¥9,020,0007T) & F F =
657TE(ZZTZTLF :657F) R747E (=
TAFE7ATE) R 2N WA S
TEHE - BEBERIZERNEER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

29,

30.

WEICHAI Power Co.,

87 ¥ ¥R 2 BiY 5E (78)

—EENFF_HA=+—H

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 9. RERNBRESFEMRE IRIT
PLEDGED DEPOSITS ™M
Group Company
rEHE KA F
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\E —EEEF —ZEEN\EF —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T AR TR ARBF T
Cash and bank balances Re kBT 2,409,488 1,508,754 188,929 548,054
Time deposits JE B 17 3K 3,454,459 1,166,909 2,394,382 831,966
5,863,947 2,675,663 2,583,311 1,380,020
Less: Pledged deposits W EERE BB
for credit facilities T (2,511,809) (856,109) (1,813,232) (641,966)
Cash and cash equivalents R & RBESEEY 3,352,138 1,819,554 770,079 738,054

At the balance sheet date, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB5,806,302,000 (2007:
RMB2,647,056,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between seven days and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and
pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE

On 18th April, 2006, Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. (“TAGC"), a
former subsidiary wholly owned by the Group which was absorbed
by the Company through a legal merger on 23rd April, 2007 (note
36), entered into a debt restructuring agreement with certain banks
to dispose of its then 75% equity interest in MAT Automotive Inc.
("MAT") and nine other TAGC subsidiaries associated with the
operation of MAT (collectively referred to as the “MAT Group”). The
MAT Group was engaged in trading of automobile and automobile
components and was classified as a disposal group held for sale as at
31st December, 2007.

Lo, #@EXBDOARMDERLT

30.

REER  REBUAREIENRS
KR 1T 5 % B A R 8 5,806,302,0007T (=
T F 0 ARM2,647,056,0007T) ° A
RETAARABAHMER  HERE
HE A ) CHNEE BB K] ) (A B
EERNEEERTE) AE@MELEE
BESEETIHIEISEK ZEBITHEA
RESBAEHEMEE -

HRITHES HUREST BRITHFRF E&
HEFEMEAE - AT HFRGH
BN FLtHE=Z@ATE  RIAEE
HRSFRMBAYEME  WikBHAR
HEMERFEHEDAE - RITEHB K
EERERDTFREOBEEENDZEN
EEEERTT -

BIEEEHEEAR
RZEZRFEA+NE HAEAR
BEEROMBERAR (MAESRE]
AEBEMAMZENBAR  BAQEBE
B _ZTTZLFENBE -+ =ZHNERE
XA OF (ME5E36) Frak i) 825 TR 1757
YEBEEMARE  ALEEZRRMAT
Automobile Inc. ([MAT]) & & f L R Eﬁi
MATZE B BB 2 BAEREMNE A
(uﬁﬁw%rMATE@DZB%ffE\oMAT
SERERERAETHMHENE S X
% UR—ZTEEEF+_A=1+—H®
P AFELE 2 EEMAR -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

30. DispPosAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

On 31st December, 2008, the Company entered into a conditional
agreement with the minority shareholder of MAT whereby the Group
will ensure that MAT transfers its 100% equity interest in Meneta
Holding ApS (“Meneta Group”, being part of the MAT Group) to the
minority shareholder in exchange for his 25% equity interest in MAT
and a cash consideration of USD1,500,000. Accordingly, Meneta
Group remained as a disposal group held for sale while the remaining
part of the MAT Group ceased to be classified as a disposal group
held for sale as at 31st December, 2008.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Meneta Group classified
as held for sale as at 31st December are as follows:

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—EENFF+ZA=+—H

30.

BIELEEcEEHR (&)
R-ZZBEENE+_A=+—80 &2
A EMATZ D H R R ET L — 0 A &4
Wi A K BB REEMATE £ R
Meneta Holding ApS ([ Meneta 24| -
RMATE B &) — & 19 ) #9100% ik # 12
HEETZLOERE UWRBZIH
RERAMATHI25% = R E & K (E
1,500,000 L > Btk RN &F
+=ZA=+—H " Menetas AN A
ABEREZHEAR > MMATEE 2
Hip R AT BLEABERE 2 E
47 e

R+—A=+—B2BABELHEZ
Meneta(k Bl EE R BEZ X ZH BN
™

2008 2007
ZEZNF —ET+HF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB TR ARBTF T
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment ME -« HERERE 115,244 172,314
Intangible assets mHEE — 3,374
Deferred tax assets BT IBEE E 1,846 22,998
Inventories FE 59,974 123,000
Trade and bills receivables B E 5 R &R ER 63,576 195,196
Deposits, prepayments and other e BARIEREmERK
receivables IE 34,021 17,864
Cash and bank balances B e RIRITE % 1,964 40,150
Impairment provision VERIERE X (26,739) =
Assets classified as held for sale DEREELENEE 249,886 574,896
Liabilities afs
Trade and bills payables ENE SRR REER (21,985) (125,821)
Other payables and accruals H M fE T RRIE KB R E A (12,013) (9,032)
Borrowings f& 3K (141,144) (152,321)
Minority interests DEIR R (10,469) (9,260)
Liabilities directly associated with the HAOBARELENEERRE
assets classified as held for sale HENEE (185,611) (296,434)
Net assets directly associated with the HHEAPEZIERENEE
disposal group FE 64,275 278,462

Included in the balance of trade and bills receivables as at 31
December 2008, an amount of RMB32,915,000 (2007:
RMB53,075,000) due from Mr. Wang Wei (note 42(a)(iii)) was
unsecured and interest-bearing at 1.75% (2007: 1%) over the
Nordea Bank Offering Rate per annum, effective at 6.10% (2007:
5.35%) per annum for the year.

R-ZBEZNF+-_A=1+—Bz2EKE
FERREBEHTRERRTIELE
WIE AR 32,915,000 ( ZEZE+F
A R 53,075,000 7t ) ( Bt #£42(a)ii))
ZEREAERTE - F F ENordea
Bank Offering Ratefi1.75 B ( = & & +
FNBE)HE AXFEZEBRFNXA
6.10% (=TT +F : 535%) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

31. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

Bt 5 4R R Bft 5E (&)
—EENE+=A=t—H

31. ENE2KMRKRIR

Group Company
rEEH NN

2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEENF —EEALF ZEBENF —EEALF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR ARBFT AR®T R ARBFT
Trade payables ERE SRR 6,442,175 5,344,474 2,208,611 2,302,457
Bills payable e 2 4,185,776 1,920,299 2,583,285 1,177,703
10,627,951 7,264,773 4,791,896 3,480,160

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the balance

REER BNESEARREER

sheet date, based on the invoice date, is as follows: ERHMERRSTOT -
Group Company
EE KN F

2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF —EENE —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR T AR T AR¥T T AREF T
Within 3 months 3@ AR 5,798,843 6,181,632 2,852,587 2,460,898
3 to 6 months 3Z261E A 3,570,389 729,789 1,709,446 903,669
6 to 12 months 62 121@ A 921,325 146,610 98,412 7,958
Over 1 year —F A 337,394 206,742 131,451 107,635
10,627,951 7,264,773 4,791,896 3,480,160

The trade and bills payables included in a disposal group (note 30) of
RMB21,985,000 are all aged within three months.

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008
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31. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 31. ENEZERTRNT Hﬁ("@)
The amounts due to related parties included above are analysed as LA E® A B R N ES R
follows: wm
Group Company
rEH PN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\E —ETEHF —EEN\E —ETEHF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T ARBFT AR®BT T ARBTFT
Weichai Holdings and its HESE IR IR &
subsidiaries H B2 A 2,335 557 1,317 195
Subsidiaries NN — — 992,150 1,303,222
Jointly-controlled entity HEE 4 E g2 5,096 — — —
Associates /NG| 67,819 27,978 — —
Minority shareholders VYRR EE
groups (note 42(a)) (Htit42(a)) 213,151 200,113 — —
288,401 228,648 993,467 1,303,417
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled ENEBSERRBITEE - —H&HNo0KXH
on 90-day terms. The amounts due to related parties are on credit FRAAS - B EER RBEBHEEBKRK

terms similar to those offered by the major suppliers of the Group.

32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

B 5 1 22 O A AR AR A R o

32. HthETRIBRESTER

Group Company
rE PN

2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF —ETEF —EEN\E —EELEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBFT AR®BT T ARBFT
Advance from customers ZEHTE R 1,052,874 559,740 263,045 66,494
Accruals fEst & A 373,473 341,038 124,357 188,479
Salary and welfare payable  J& < % 4 [ 48 7 420,892 455,130 252,940 315,483
Other payables H i FE < FRIE 1,069,014 959,625 774,153 793,416
2,916,253 2,315,533 1,414,495 1,363,872
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (CONTINUED) 32, HthENTRIBE R ESHE R (18)
Except for the amount of RMB65,657,000 due to Weichai Holdings RZZBEZ+F+_A=+—H BRTE
as at 31st December, 2007 which was interest-bearing at 5% per -4 4 = B S TE A R 565,657,000 T %2
annum, other payables are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and have FMESEFRZI EMMERNTKIER
no fixed terms of repayment. Pate MERLEEETENRS -

The carrying amounts of other payables and accruals approximate to HithENRBREFEANEEEBEEA
their fair values. ANEEEE -
The amounts due to related parties included above are analysed as NP RENENEESZREBEIN
follows: W
Group Company
rEH AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—ZEENE —EETLF —ZENEF —EELF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT R ARBFT AR TR ARBTFT
Weichai Holdings and its HESEYE IR
subsidiaries HE AR — 65,657 — 65,657
Subsidiaries [{SWES RN — — 317,343 252,749
Associates ik /NG| = 4,463 = =
Minority shareholders LERREE
groups (note 42(a)) (K1 5t 42(a)) 86,105 96,097 — —
86,105 166,217 317,343 318,406
33. DEBENTURES 33. 8%

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

87 ¥5 ¥R 2 Big 5E (78)
—EENFF_H=+—H

On 23rd January, 2007, the Company issued unsecured short-term
debentures to independent third parties in an aggregate principal
amount of RMB900 million in the PRC. The debentures, being zero
coupon with a face value of RMB100 each, were priced and issued at
a discount of RMB96.31 each. The effective interest rate of the
debenture is 3.8%. The debentures were repaid on 24th January,
2008.

On 21st March, 2008, a subsidiary of the Group issued unsecured
short-term debentures to independent third parties in an aggregate
principal amount of RMB800 million in the PRC. The debentures were
priced and issued at face value of RMB100 each. The debentures are
due for repayment in two lots of RMB400 million each at 10th
January, 2009 and 21st March, 2009, respectively. The effective
interest rates for the two lots of debentures were 6.04% and 6.1%,
respectively.

On 21st July, 2008, the Company issued unsecured short-term
debentures to independent third parties in an aggregate principal
amount of RMB900 million in the PRC. The debentures were priced
and issued at face value of RMB100 each. The debentures are due
for repayment at 10th July, 2009. The effective interest rate for the
debentures was 5.20%. The proceeds from the debentures were used
to meet the Group’s production, operational and other working
capital needs.

MEDNRMDERLT

N-ZEEL+E-F-+=8 A27KH
PREABYE=FETETERAE
BE#H A< #EFEARARIK00000,000
ToEHFATE  BHEMAEAAREI0
T UAMBEETRARBEIITEER
BT EHFEZ2EBRMNER3I8® - BEHE
R_EENF—A_+tHNBEEE-

R-ZEENE=A=-+—B ~AEHK
BRAARGDPBEMBILE = TBITET
ERFRHESF AeBREAARE
800,000,0007T °» EHLAHMBEERARE
100 EEBRET AR_ZETNF—
AtTBEBR-_ZZTAF=ZA-+—HBHW
HA 45 HA A R % 400,000,000 7T & 2 - W HA
BHEZEBRFEDF HF604%K6.1% °

RZBEBENFELA-_+—8B  X2AFRK
FEMBYE - HFBTETEEFATEH
&% @ A& B8 A AR 900000000
T BHEUEESRAREIOOTEE
rET AR _ZEZEALFLA+HE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

34, INTEREST BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Group

Current

Bank loans — secured

Bank loans —
unsecured
Current portion of

long-term bank loans

Non-current

Bank loans — secured
Bank loans — unsecured
Other loans — unsecured

Company

Current

Bank loans — unsecured

Current portion of

long-term bank loans

Non-current
Bank loans —
unsecured

F5E

FRE

RITER —CHR
RITER — BER
Aty &R — BER

ik
RITER — BER
REBRTERZ

a7

E
RITER —BER

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)

—FENF+=A=+-H

34, sFRIWITNREMMB R
2008 2007
—EENF “ETAF

Effective Effective

interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000

BRA=E BRA =
(%) AME AR®Trn (%) IBMA ARETR
6.66-7.84 2009 223,230 5.0-8.7 2008 47,251
6.66-9.0 2009 1,067,074 5.0-8.7 2008 1,037,875
6.03 2009 18,000 4.17-6.75 2008 455,458
1,308,304 1,540,584
5.67 2010-2011 17,000 —
5.40-7.56 2010-2011 750,000 4.17-6.75 2009-2011 156,107
4.17 2010-2020 10,700 417 2009-2020 5,200
777,700 161,307
2,086,004 1,701,891

2008 2007
—ZENF “ETF

Effective Effective

interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000

BERA=E BB =
(%) AMA AR¥TR (%) JHE ARETRL
6.66-6.72 2009 168,346 5.1-7.29 2008 193,046
— 6.57 2008 50,000
168,346 243,046
5.40-6.72 2010-2011 700,000 6.72 2010 100,000
700,000 100,000
868,346 343,046
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

34, INTEREST BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 34, st RI|ITREMBE R ()
(CONTINUED)
Group Company
& A QT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF —EETLF —ZEENE —EELEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T R AR T T ARBT R ARBFT
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: ZERITERA
R T FEEE
Within one year or on —FERNRIFEXR
demand EIKES 1,308,304 1,540,584 168,346 243,046
In the second year F_F 650,000 56,107 600,000 —
In the third to fifth years, H#=&FZFEFHE
inclusive (BIEEEMT) 117,000 100,000 100,000 100,000
2,075,304 1,696,691 868,346 343,046
Other borrowings ZEHEMERERT
repayable: 5l 5 HA{E 4% -
Beyond five years hF & 10,700 5,200 — —
2,086,004 1,701,891 868,346 343,046
Notes: et -
(a) The Group’s credit facilities amounting to RMBS5,476,676,000, of which (a) rEBHEEREEAEARYE

5,476,676,0007T « R4 E HE B FHHEHA A
FE#1,878,676,0007T °

RMB1,878,676,000 had been utilised as at the balance sheet date.

(b) Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by: (b) KEBEFRITEARZEFA -
(i) mortgages over certain of the Group’s land use rights, buildings, (i) FEBRGEABEEEBHAR

#150,857,000 7T #9 & T 1 i (& A
' BT EHERTE R

machinery and motor vehicles, which had an aggregate carrying value
at the balance sheet date of approximately RMB150,857,000, and

FEBETRYKEZEHARK
75,325,000 = E ## °

(i) pledge of certain of the Group’s trade receivables amounting to (i)
RMB75,325,000.

B A K #68,346,000 T .2 R 1T B 3 X £ T
ZIMEZ N BB EHXGUARESE -

(c) Except for the bank loan of RMB68,346,000 which is denominated in United (c)
States dollars, all borrowings are in RMB.

(d)  Included in the above are defaulted bank loans of approximately (d) K ESEFREHNETE—KNE A

RMB44,228,000 (2007: RMB74,700,000) drawn by a TAGC subsidiary prior
to the TAGC Acquisition (note 36) which are classified as current. The Group
is currently negotiating a restructuring of these loans with the relevant
bankers. As at the date of this report, the negotiations are still in progress.
However, the directors are confident that their negotiations with the lenders
will ultimately reach a successful conclusion.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s borrowings

TEMNKIE S EY B (K at36) 2 FI B BB
BERRITEAAA R 8 44,2280007T (= F
T HF: ARHET74,700,0007T)  ZEEH
DEBRE ANEBIFEHGHRTED
HEEEHETEM -RAKEAR B
BERFIIEETF - Al EFHERE
HERABER R RALRIGHKY)

AREBRARBZEBROETMEEZLR

approximate to their fair values.

FERE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B F5 R R B 5 (48)

31st December, 2008 —EFENFF+ZA=1+—H
35. WARRANTY PROVISION 35. RIERE R
Group Company
EE KA F
2008 2007 2008 2007
—ZEENE —EEALF —EEN\EF —ZETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETE AR®BTR ARETE

At 1st January n—HA—H 180,635 81,242 133,500 40,000
Additional provision B SN 698,946 402,945 390,346 304,153
Amounts utilised during FANBHLE
the year (433,238) (303,552) (288,947) (210,653)
At 31st December R+t-—_A=+—H 446,343 180,635 234,899 133,500
The Group provides warranties ranging from six months to three AEEpETEMRMEBERPREREASEAZR
years to its customers on certain products and undertakes to repair or —FHREHR WRBHESIEREE
replace items that fail to perform satisfactorily. The amount of the PEFZZHM - -RmRIEBEHBZSBEIHR
provision for warranties is estimated based on the sales volume and BRIFEEERBERERREKTETH
past experience on the level of repairs and returns. The estimation o MEREERBELERIENEE R
basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised when appropriate. IR VEHHERT -
36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. BRIN
2008 2007
—EENE ZEEEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®BT T AR T T
Registered, issued and fully paid: At BITRBRRKA
A shares of RMB1 each BREBEBARBITZAR
— state-owned shares — BIREFK 186,545 116,591
— other legal person and — HMEAR
natural person shares ERAYN 444,101 277,563
H shares of RMB1 each BREBEAREITZHK 202,400 126,500
833,046 520,654
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and LEBRBEBEABERRARAEIRREK
when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote WERE SREBRHRNEK —EHER
per share without restrictions. T X RS e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

36. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 36, RN (£8)

178

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

During the years ended 31st December, 2007 and 2008, the
movements in share capital were as follows:

On 12th November, 2006, the Company entered into a conditional
agreement with TAGC whereby the Company agreed to issue an
aggregate of 190,653,552 new A shares with a par value of RMB1
each (the "Consideration Shares”) to acquire the 71.88% equity
interest in TAGC that the Group did not already own (the “TAGC
Acquisition”) at an issue price of RMB20.47 per share. The TAGC
Acquisition was approved by shareholders of both the Company and
TAGC at their respective general meetings held on 29th December,
2006. Completion of the TAGC Acquisition took place on 23rd April,
2007, and the Company issued the Consideration Shares on the
same day.

Upon completion of the TAGC Acquisition, (i) the shares of TAGC
were cancelled; (ii) TAGC's assets were absorbed into and its liabilities
assumed by the Company; and (iii) TAGC was deregistered and
ceased to exist (“Legal merger with TAGC"). In addition, the
Company’s A shares were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on
30th April, 2007 while its H shares continued to be listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3rd November, 2008
regarding a bonus issue of 6 shares for every 10 shares held by the
shareholders as of 2nd December, 2008, the issued capital of the
Company was increased from RMB520,654,000 to RMB833,046,000
by capitalisation of share premium of RMB312,392,000.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

36. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

A summary of the transactions during the years with reference to the
above movements in the Company’s issued capital and the Group'’s

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—FENF+=A=+-H

36. BRI (£8)

BEFEETZAEBLEAARNREE #T
BRARAEERDEERESH 2 X H W

share premium account is as follows: ZmT
Number of shares in issue
ERTROBE
Domestic Issued Share
shares H shares A shares Total capital premium Total
E#T
K& R HER AR &t &N B 43 % &t
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
TR TR TR T AR®TRT AR®TRT AR®TR
At 1st January, 2007 RZZETLF
—A—H 203,500 126,500 — 330,000 330,000 1,106,042 1,436,042
Conversion (note (i) () (203,500) — 203,500 — — — —
Issue of Consideration BITRERD
Shares (note (i) (Bt 72 (i) — — 190,654 190,654 190,654 12,188,481 12,379,135
Legal merger with TAGC HBENEAREZ
AR B = = — — — (10,863,252) (10,863,252)
Share issue expense BIRNER — — — — — (62,611) (62,611)
At 31st December, R=ZTZTtF
2007 and +ZA=+—-BK
1st January, 2008 —ETNF
—A—H = 126,500 394,154 520,654 520,654 2,368,660 2,889,314
Bonus issue * AR — 75,900 236,492 312,392 312,392 (312,392) —
At 31st December, 2008 R=ZTZTNF
+-A=+—8H = 202,400 630,646 833,046 833,046 2,056,268 2,889,314
Notes: Bat -
(i) As part of the share reform in the PRC, the Company’s domestic shares were () ERFPERES EXNEZ —& 17 - KL A]

converted into A shares upon completion of the TAGC Acquisition.

(i) The fair value of the Consideration Shares on the issuance date, being
RMB64.93 per share, was determined by the directors based on the closing
price of these shares on their first day of trading (i.e. 30th April, 2007) on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Accordingly, the total fair value of the
Consideration Shares on the issuance date amounted to
RMB12,379,135,000.

(ii)

Z BRI KB TG BB 52K 1R PR K
AR e

HREBRORETAHZ R FEAIERA
E#64937T) DEFREAZSER G KE
WX GHETEEER (I —EE+FN
A=Z+H)ZKTEETE - Bt - RET
HH RERGZATFEEBFERARE
12,379,135,0007T
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

37. RESERVES 37. fbfd
(a) Group @) X&EE

180

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of the financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group includes the Group’s share
premium of RMB2,056,268,000 and the non-distributable reserves
of the Company and its subsidiaries created in accordance with
the accounting and financial regulations of the PRC.

Surplus reserves

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles of
association of the relevant companies, the Company, its
subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled entity are required
to appropriate a certain percentage of their net profits after tax
to the surplus reserves comprising the statutory surplus reserve
and discretionary surplus reserve. Subject to certain restrictions
set out in the relevant PRC regulations and in the Company’s
articles of association, the statutory surplus reserve may be
used either to offset losses, or to be converted to increase
share capital. These reserves cannot be used for purposes other
than those for which they are created and are not distributable
as cash dividends.

Distributable reserves

At 31st December, 2008, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the relevant
regulations, amounted to RMB3,901,978,000 (2007:
RMB2,656,937,000), out of which dividend of
RMB 108,296,000 (2007: RMB229,088,000) for the year ended
31 December 2008 was proposed on 27 April 2009. In
addition, the Company’s share premium account in its statutory
financial statements, in the amount of RMB1,832,568,000
(2007: RMB2,144,960,000), may be distributed in the form of
fully paid bonus shares.

The amount which the Company can legally distribute by way
of a dividend is determined based on the lower of the retained
profits determined in accordance with the generally accepted
accounting principles in the PRC and the HKFRSs.

MEDNRMDERLT

AEERAFERBEFEZHE
TENHEBH 2N B RRE LR
EEDEBHRA -

N
$‘@El25mﬁ%ﬁ EAEEZB
17 % B A B #2,056,268,000 7T & A
ARIREMBRARREFRH ST M
WEBERLZ A DIRGERE ©

BHRNES
BIEFE A RE KB R E 2 HE 8
ERCARQRFAREWBAR - BE
MERZEHEBEASES 2R
MEFHNEZR-—ELANDEZERER
AE (BRETCEKLAEE RE
BERBAESR) ZFERBHBLAES
ATARAHEEBEEE R RN
o EESZFPEMEBEERRAAT
CHEBERZETRS - Z5HE
TNERARBZIZBERINZ B kA
ERRBEEKRE °

A 7 K 7
ﬂf§$)\¢+:ﬂz+—a TR
BREBREFTEZAQAN DI
f# 1% & A K #3,901,978,000 7t ( =
T ZT £ F: AR ¥2656937,000
T)  EFRZZZEZFTNFHEA
ZttHAERKRBEHE-_ZFTZEN
F+_A=+—BLEEZR
BN R #108,296,000 T ( — & &
+ & A R #229,088,000 7T ) °
ot - KRR REEM B REA
2 ERERZEBEBAARE
1,832,568,000 L (ZFZET L F : A
R #2,144,960,000 7T ) *© 7] A & 2
ARz TP ©

RARABAAUBREFREAEZDRZ S
BIREFEARGFENREEM
BHREENEBET Z2REFBZBRIE
EETE °



31st December, 2008

37. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—FENF+=A=+-H

37. B (8)

(b) Company (b) &2 F]
Available-
for-sale
investments
Capital Surplus revaluation Retained
reserves reserve reserve profits Total
AHEE
REEf
EXfGE BHhokEe i R & R E A3t
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Mz ARETT ARETE ARETT ARETT ARET:
Balance at Ist January, RZ-ZTT+4F
2007 —A—Hz&% 1,143,145 242,310 — 1,337,422 2,722,877
Profit for the year F W F|H = — — 1,578,720 1,578,720
Issue of Consideration 217 B &
Shares and Legal SEAEREY
merger with TAGC EE A B 36 985,264 — - — 985,264
Final 2006 dividend BEER-ZTRE
declared REIR S = — — (67,685) (67,685)
Appropriation to PEEEERH
statutory surplus ~ESE
reserves — 158,329 — (158,329) —
Proposed final 2007 BE-TT+E
dividend RERE 12 — — — (229,088) (229,088)
At 31st December, RZTTLE
2007 +-A=+—H 2,128,409 400,639 — 2,461,040 4,990,088
Bonus issue x ik 36 (312,392) — — — (312,392)
Profit for the year FERFH — — - 1,636,425 1,636,425
Changes in fair value A HERE 2
of available-for-sale AFEES
investments — — (83,130) — (83,130)
Appropriation to PEEEERR
statutory surplus AES
reserves — 163,792 — (163,792) —
Proposed final 2008  #IR=ZTTNFE
dividend RHRE 12 = = — (108,296) (108,296)
At 31st December, RZZENF
2008 +-A=+—H 1,816,017 564,431 (83,130) 3,825,377 6,122,695
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

38, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the balance sheet date, contingent liabilities not provided for in
the financial statements were as follows:

Group
rEH
2008
—BENF
RMB’000
AR¥ TR
Guarantees given to banks FLE=HE R
in connection with FRZEE
facilities granted to and M4 FRITZ R
utilised by third parties 1,754,055

87 ¥5 ¥R 2 Big 5E (78)

—EENFF_H=+—H

38, ARBEE

REER  ARUBREANEBEEZXA
BEMOT :

Company
QT
2007 2008 2007

“ETLF  —FENE TR LF

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETT AR¥TRT AR®TR

2,296,520 = =

The above guarantees are made by subsidiaries of the Group to third
parties for their business.

EERTI A AN E B A K E A R B X
BRIEZE=ZFIEH -

39. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 39, EERM
Details of the Group's assets pledged for the banking and credit HAREERTEREEREBENAER
facilities of the Group are included in notes 14, 16, 27 and 29 to the EEBEEFBRNMBIREME 14
financial statements. 16 ~ 2729 °
40. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 4o . EETHN L H
(a) As lessor (a) EALEHEA
The Group leases certain of its properties and plant and AEERBEEHOTHEEES
machinery under operating lease arrangements. Leases for T - BERK:SE MEHEL
properties are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 20 years MEHEHBANF—ZE2=_+F1%
and those for plant and machinery negotiated for terms iR 7 Rt B8 4 W g < A EA Y - —
ranging from 1 to 5 years. The terms of the leases generally ERFAE - HAOBKRKR— ﬂxﬁ%i
also require tenants to pay security deposits and provide for MPxfReRIRBERTSE
periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing EHHAERS -
market conditions.
At 31st December, 2008, the Group had total future minimum R—ZEEN&E+-—A=+—H0 &
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with EERERA R QLT YR
its tenants falling due as follows: T B 4E H R 3 > ok Ak E U S R AR S
BEMR
Group
rEE
2008 2007
—EENE —EEEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR AR T
Within one year —F R 2,375 2,375
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ -ZFHF (BFEHEEMF) 8,078 8,609
After five years R F AR 23,930 25,774
34,383 36,758

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

40, OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) As lessee

The Group leases certain plant and machinery and properties
under operating lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for
terms ranging from 1 to 10 years and rent is fixed over the

lease term.

At 31st December, 2008, the Group and the Company had
total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating leases falling due as follows:

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)

—FENF+=A=+-H

4O . EMHI L B (18)
(b) EH/HEMEA

AEEBEEEROEHEEET
BE MERWE - @528
NF—E+EFE BENAXA

EREMEE -

R-ZENE+ZA=+—8 &
5 80 J A 2N IR 3O T 0 2 40
405 T 51 8 10 5 29 2 o R R

He@EmT -
Group Company
rEH AATH
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENEF —ETLEF —E2ENEF —ETtHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBF T AR®BT T ARBTT
Within one year —F R 24,233 42,507 335 134
In the second to F_EZERF
fifth years, inclusive (BREEEME) 92,658 69,825 59 152
After five years HEUR 195,063 145,256 — —
311,954 257,588 394 286
41, B

41, COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note
40(b) above, the Group and the Company had the following capital

Bk LA £ Bt GE40(b) 5 At 2 48 & TH 49 A R
S REBRARBREE RN E A K

commitments at the balance sheet date: EWT
Group Company
KE KA F
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —EETLF —EEN\E —EELEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%®T R ARKET T AR®T R ARET T
Purchase of property, plant B EW¥ BE KX
and equipment B
— Contracted but not — BRI ERER
provided for 1,168,332 844,578 416,243 117,848
— Authorised but not — EEREERITL
contracted for 34,750 239,733 — —
1,203,082 1,084,311 416,243 117,848
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B F5 R R Bt 5 (48)

31st December, 2008 —EFENFF+ZA=4+—H
42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 2. ABALRS
(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these (@) BEMBHEREMBOFLZZS
financial statements, the Group had the following material O REBERAFEERBEAT#E
transactions with related parties during the year: TRZERRSWT
Group
rEE
2008 2007
“EENF —TTLF
Notes RMB‘000 RMB’'000

ot AR® T AR®T T

Sale of products to MATEEATHEER
Weichai Holdings and HELETE IR
its subsidiaries HE R A i 419,132 384,542
Lonking Holdings and BE L1EMR &
its subsidiaries E 8RR ii 789,848 512,569
Minority shareholders groups VEREEE iii 1,388,385 1,033,484
Jointly-controlled entity HEE 4 E 52 17,179 5,987
Associates H R AR/NE 25,820 52,605
2,640,364 1,989,187
Purchase of raw materials from MATRIEALTEE R
Weichai Holdings and HELETE IR 2
its subsidiaries Lo/ [ 276,785 253,266
Minority shareholders groups VEREE iii 1,187,711 1,510,294
Associates R /NE] 522,973 320,765
1,987,469 2,084,325
Warehouse and logistics services R B L
fee income from Weichai EWBRARIZEER
Holdings and its subsidiaries W R 75 B WA i 441 1,151
Other service fee income from R B LT I &
Weichai Holdings and EffBARZ
its subsidiaries H fth Bk 75 & YA [ 7,558 —
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

2. AEALTXR % (&)
BAMBREAMBHFLZZS

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these (a)

financial statements, the Group had the following material

Sh o NEBRAFEHEEEATE

transactions with related parties during the year: (continued) TZERRSMT : (8)
Group
rEHE
2008 2007
ZE2ENE —EELEF
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
B ARBTR ARBT T
Other service fee paid to RNATHEEATINZ
HRBE :
Weichai Holdings and ML Hﬁ&
its subsidiaries HKETB A i 25,519 15,452
Minority shareholders groups 9\%1%‘%%@ ii 90,139 88,824
115,658 104,276
Utility services fee paid to WDATE@%AiS‘ZN
NAEERBE :
Weichai Holdings and S Hx&
its subsidiaries EH B A i 152,882 125,740
Minority shareholders groups 9\%@&?% ii 11,866 14,779
164,748 140,519
Rental income for certain premises, ITHEALTETWE -
machinery, and equipment from B EZE 2R WA
Minority shareholders groups SHRFREE ii 1,800 =
Associates /NG| 3,085 —
4,885 =
Rental paid for certain premises, A TREE AT
machinery, and equipment to ETHE  BRK
HE2HE
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries 5 1 Hﬁ&ﬁ =R/ i 46,244 46,218
Minority shareholders groups LHRREE i 37,593 25,563
Associates B & 1 A 518 —
84,355 71,781
Sales and warranty period repair service B A T EIE A £ H)
fee income from HERREH#EE
REEWA :
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries S PR e EL B BB 2 ) 3,327 9,000
Purchase of property, plant and RN TEEATEEDE -
equipment from R
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries LR R ENEA = 111
Disposal of property, plant and HEME  #ER
equipment to HET
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries S 1 B B B B = 44
Processing service fee paid to XAMIREE T
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries HELTERR R H I R A 92,273 70,000

185
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

4?7, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(ifi)

Weichai Holdings is the single largest shareholder owning a 14.91%
interest in the Company as at 31st December, 2008. The related party
transactions disclosed above were entered into with Weichai Holdings
and its subsidiaries, mainly including Chongqing Weichai Diesel
Engine Works, Chongqing City Jiangjin District Chongwei Casting Co.,
Ltd., Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd., Shandong Juli
Company Limited and Weifang Weichai Deutz Diesel Engine Co., Ltd..

Lonking Holdings Limited (“Lonking Holdings”, formerly known as
China Infrastructure Machinery Holdings Limited) is a Hong Kong
listed company which is owned by a non-executive director of the
Company and his wife as to 54.33% as at 31st December, 2008. The
couple also own a 4.13% interest in the Company. The related party
transactions disclosed above were entered into with the subsidiaries
of Lonking Holdings, namely Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery
(Group) Company Limited and Shanghai Longgong Machinery
Company Limited.

Certain companies of the Group entered into related party
transactions as disclosed above with their minority shareholders,
which were able to exert significant influence over the companies,
and the subsidiaries thereof (collectively referred to as “Minority
shareholders groups”). Such minority shareholders include:

— Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd., which
owned a 49% interest in a subsidiary of the Group, namely
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd., as at 31st December, 2008.

— Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd., which owned a 49%
interest in a subsidiary of the Group, namely Shaanxi Heavy
Duty Automotive Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Zhongqi”), as at 31st
December, 2008.

— Dongfeng Automotive Group Co., Ltd., which owned a 40%
interest in a subsidiary of the Group, namely Dong Feng Off-
road Vehicle Co., Ltd., as at 31st December, 2008.

— Zhuzhou Gear Share Co., Ltd. (“Zhuzhou Gear Share”), which
owned a 33.98% interest in a subsidiary of the Group, namely
Zhuzhou Gear Co., Ltd. (“Zhuzhou Gear”), as at 31st
December, 2008.

— Mudan Jiang Huatong Automotive Group Company
(“Huatong”), which owned a 20.04% interest in a subsidiary
of the Group, namely Mudan Jiang Futong Automotive Air
Conditioner Company Limited (“Futong”), as at 31st December,
2008.

— TMD Friction Europe GmbH, which owned a 48% interest in a
subsidiary of the Group, namely Meneta Advance Shims
Technology A/S, as at 31st December, 2008.

— Mr. Wang Wei, who owned a 25% interest in a subsidiary of
the Group, namely MAT Automotive, Inc., as at 31st
December, 2008.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

4?7, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Other transactions with related parties:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

During the year, the Company purchased a 50% equity
interest in Weifang Weichai Peterson Gas Diesel Engine
Company Limited from Weichai Holdings at a
consideration of RMB20,410,000, which was determined
by mutual negotiation.

During the year, the Company transferred a 21% equity
interest in Shandong Weichai Real Estate Co., Ltd. to
Weichai Holdings at a consideration of RMB4,200,000,
which was determined by mutual negotiation.

As at 31st December, 2008, Zhuzhou Gear Share pledged
its buildings with net book value of RMB16,220,000
(2007: RMB16,410,000) for general banking facilities
granted by a bank to Zhuzhou Gear.

As at 31st December, 2007, Shaanxi Automotive Group
Co., Ltd. provided a guarantee of RMB128,000,000 for
general banking facilities granted by a bank to Shaanxi
Zhonggi. The guarantee was released in 2008.

As at 31st December, 2008, Huatong pledged a building
with net book value of RMB24,802,000 (2007:
RMB26,011,000) for general banking facilities granted by
a bank to Futong.

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)

—FENF+=A=+-H

2. MEALXR S (/&)

(b)

£ 7

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

BATHETZEMRS

KEE  AR2RNUREAR
20,410,000 JT [A] 4 58 4% A% IR
BRI RBE T
BREMTR A H50%HE %5
EBRREBENEETHXRAWHGD
ET -

KEE AQ2AIMUREA
R #4,200,000 7T A # 4
RO B R L R OM LR B
& R 2 7] (Shandong Weichai
Real Estate Co., Ltd.) #921% #&
wmBERENEE R
BT o

RZEENF+ZA=+—

B %M KkHmiRaT
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%AE%
16,220,000 L ( Z T £ F
A R #16,410,000 7T ) 2 &
FoAEABITAKMNE R
Bz —RBITEEZER -

R_EE+EF+_A=+—
H Bt AESEBR
AEABRTREEARE
128,000,000 Jt * BA ¥ & iR 17
MEwmEAREZ —MEBT
EEZER - ZERR=-Z
T N\FERER -

RZZEENF+ZA=+—
B ZamMETEHRFELE
HF B & A R 124,802,000
T(ZZEZLF: ARE
26,011,000 ) Z EF + LAfE
BRTAEEE L Z —KIE
TEEZER-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

4?7, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(@

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

Balances due from/to related parties:

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt X (4&)

—FENF+=A=+-H

(@)

The balances due from/to related parties mainly resulted from
trading transactions and miscellaneous amounts reimbursable
by/to the related parties. Further details are set out in notes 27,

28, 31 and 32 to the financial statements.

2. ABALXRS (&)

e, FEAT BSE AT 2 #gh

JEUR S EMBBEBALZEBEEK
BHEEBALTETZEEERURE
HiEEESHE - E—SHEBHR
B MARMN 27 ~ 28~ 31 /%32

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (d) AEBEHEREBAEOHH:

Group
rEH

2008 2007

—EENE —ETLHF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARBFT

Short term employee benefits HHEEEA 15,649 14,826

Post-employment benefits BEE 1R 1R T 175 24

Total compensation paid to key BENEREEAEDN
management personnel e 15,824 14,850

Further details of directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments are
included in note 8 to the financial statements.

Except for the transactions with a jointly-controlled entity and
associates, all the above related party transactions also
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

43, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)

—FENF+=A=+-H

43, B TRNE

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FHEMBIAERNAERBZERABR T
instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows:
2008 —EENF
Financial assets MBEE
Group
KEE
Available-
Loans and for-sale
receivables financial assets Total
BEXR CIRG 3
FE U BR X BKEE FER-C)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T R ART R ART R
Trade and bills receivables BWESER M EE 6,930,008 — 6,930,008
Financial assets included in ABRNRIE  Zek

prepayments, deposits and other HEmEWERRZ

receivables (note 28) B EE (ffat28) 891,026 — 891,026
Available-for-sale investments A EIRE (M E23)

(note 23) — 178,187 178,187
Pledged deposits BEHEAEFEX 2,511,809 — 2,511,809
Cash and cash equivalents BE&RREEEY 3,352,138 — 3,352,138

13,684,981 178,187 13,863,168
Financial liabilities BHaE

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

8

RAGTEN

MEaE

RMB’000

ARB T

Trade and bills payables ENEZERERE 10,627,951
Financial liabilities included in other payables and FIAEMENEREESERZ

accruals (note 32) M a’E(KE32) 1,863,379
Debentures B& 1,700,000
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SERETREMER 2,086,004

16,277,334
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2008

43, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(CONTINUED)

2007
Financial assets

87 ¥ ¥R 2 Bf 5

—EENFF_H=+—H

43, BB TRNE (&)

(#&)

—ETLF

MBEE

Group
REH

Loans and Available-for-sale

receivables financial assets Total
BExk A E
JiE Uit B X MIsEE e
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBTF T ARBTF T ARBTF T
Trade and bills receivables FBUWESERERAKLEE 5,909,502 — 5,909,502
Financial assets included in PABRRIE  Zek
prepayments, deposits and other HtmEWERERZ
receivables (note 28) W EE (KiE28) 307,711 — 307,711
Available-for-sale investments A ERE
(note 23) (Kta£23) — 75,358 75,358
Pledged deposits BEEATFR 856,109 — 856,109
Cash and cash equivalents BERRESEED 1,819,554 — 1,819,554
8,892,876 75,358 8,968,234
Financial liabilities MBEasE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
%2 i
AR ET £ H
W aE
RMB’'000
AR T T
Trade and bills payables ERE ZERKRZER 7,264,773
Financial liabilities included in other payables and FIAEMEMERNRESERZ
accruals (note 32) W aE(fiE32) 1,755,793
Debentures B 900,000
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SEETREMER 1,701,891
11,622,457
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B P ER R B 5E (£8)

31st December, 2008 —EENFF+_-_A=+—H
43, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 43, B TENE(8)
(CONTINUED)
2008 —EENE
Financial assets B EE

Trade and bills receivables B E SRR EE 3,414,244 — 3,414,244
Financial assets included in SIATEMZIE - e &

prepayments, deposits and other HihEWERRZ

receivables (note 28) WIS EE (K :£28) 789,947 — 789,947
Available-for-sale investments A EERE

(note 23) (MtaE23) — 96,200 96,200
Pledged deposits [REEREEN 1,813,232 — 1,813,232
Cash and cash equivalents Be kRS EED 770,079 — 770,079

6,787,502 96,200 6,883,702
Financial liabilities BKaE

Trade and bills payables EREZERRERR 4,791,896

Financial liabilities included in other payables and IAEMEMNERREFERZ
accruals (note 32) M a R’ (K iFE32) 1,151,450
Debentures E% 900,000
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T ERITRE MK 868,346
7,711,692
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

43, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(CONTINUED)
2007
Financial assets

Bt 5 4R R Bft 5E (&)
—EENE+=A=t—H

43, BB TRNE (&)

—ETLF
MBEEE

Company
Vi N/NG)|
Loans and Available-for-sale

receivables financial assets Total
BEx Kk e
JiE Uit B 3R MIsEE #E
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTF T ARBTF T ARBTF T
Trade and bills receivables FRUWESERERAREE 2,310,439 — 2,310,439
Financial assets included in ABRRE  Rek
prepayments, deposits and other HithEWERERZ
receivables (note 28) W EE (KiE28) 236,492 — 236,492
Pledged deposits BHEBEFER 641,966 — 641,966
Cash and cash equivalents ReENKREZEED 738,054 — 738,054
3,926,951 — 3,926,951
Financial liabilities BKasE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
i # 5
ARG EH
MEaE
RMB'000
ARBTF T
Trade and bills payables EBNEZEFRRER 3,480,160
Financial liabilities included in other payables and WAHMENERREFERZ
accruals (note 32) HEaEKE32) 1,297,378
Debentures &+ 900,000
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SEETREMER 343,046
6,020,584
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

L4, FINANCIAL R1Sk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise debentures,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and cash and short term
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, equity
price risk and commodity price risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to its
fixed-rate borrowings. The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to its variable-rate borrowings. The
Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly sensitive to the
fluctuations in the interest rates provided by the People’s Bank of
China arising from the Group’s RMB borrowings and fluctuations in
LIBOR arising from the Group’s USD borrowings.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the
balance sheet date. For variable-rate bank borrowings, the analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the balance
sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)

b,

—FENF+=A=+-H

B F R IR E IR 2 BiR KR

AEENTIEPBIABRKEGES &8
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HEMMBEEREBE  OIMEERNE
BHEEZBRWESERMEMNESE

AEEMBIEEEZTERRB AT X
Rk - SNERBR - EE R ‘//|L§j)§fl§

@@*%E@K&ﬁmﬁﬁﬂ%°i$
ENIRAE LRFTHERRZERER
B REBRBAMT -

R 2= = B
RNEEEEEFESERAERE 2R TER
RE R o AN E I ¥ )Y S & RAEH
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AN £2 [ 35 B 4 AR M) 2 8 0 R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

L4, FINANCIAL R1SKk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND by, I REIRERE 2BIER

194

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on
floating rate borrowings).

B R (18)

BRE D (&)
FRIARFER T RAERE T
HOMRT  7 E B AT R (5 87
CHES P2 SE LESS- LT
B GUBE -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
basis point profit before tax

2Eygy B ¢ A1 A 5
g, GR) #hn ORd)
RMB’000
AR T

2008 —EENE
RMB AR 50 (9,351)
RMB AR (50) 9,351
usD ETT 50 (309)
usD = (50) 309

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates
between the RMB and other currencies in which the Group conducts
business may affect its financial condition and results of operations.
The Group seeks to limit its exposure to foreign currency risk by
minimising its net foreign currency position.

The Group has transactional currency exposures. These exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other
than the units’ functional currency. Approximately 9% (2007: 4%) of
the Group’s sales and 0.79% (2007: 0.58%) of the Group's purchases
are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of
the operating units making the sale. The Group has not entered into
any forward currency arrangements during the year ended 31st
December, 2008.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

4L, FINANCIAL R1SKk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND by, I REIRERE 2BIER

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the balance sheet
date to a reasonably possible change in the United States dollar/RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets
and liabilities).

B R (18)

SNERLBR (4E)
TRIARAARLMTEARRE T
MER T - AN S B B AT R (i 3 &
BEERBEATHEEZD)NEHAY
ELHARBEXNARTREDOR
RSE

Group rE
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
USD rate profit before tax
ETER BR 4 51 F
EH (T &) #i GRd)
% RMB’000
Ead AR TR
2008 —EENF
If RMB weakens against USD MARBHETRE 5 3,114
If RMB strengthens against USD M AR R ETHE (5) (3,114)
Credit risk EERE

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions
with overseas customers, the Group does not offer credit terms
without the specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, available-for-sale
financial assets, amounts due from associates and a jointly-controlled
entity, and other receivables, arises from default of the counterparty,
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments. The Group is also exposed to credit risk through the
granting of financial guarantees, further details of which are
disclosed in note 38 to the financial statements.

AEEERFEREAREEAENE=
EETRS BRAKENERE MA
BREEHETRINEFP  BAKLS
EERERF®R  HARE - K
SHEREERRBRAERNBR  MA
SEMREARY TEKR - LEBINE
FETHRZME AEBELERHE
EH BREGEEEHNZIEZEIR
JE o

AEEEBMBEE(BRRERASE
FEY CDEAER AHOEMBE
EEBABEAT R -—HEHARZEHER
IR A R E A FEURIR) W5 B AR 1T
AXSHFHENMEL  ERXEAR
BERZELANKHEE - ASE @
HMBEOMBRRZEERR - AR
—HHBRERAMBRAMEI8 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

L4, FINANCIAL R1SKk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND by, I REIRERE 2BIER

196

WEICHAI Power Co., LTD.

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of
credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical
region and by industry sector. At the balance sheet date, the Group
has certain concentrations of credit risk as 22.18% (2007: 20.82%)
of the Group's trade receivables were due from the five largest
customers.

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’
financial conditions. The allowance for doubtful debts is based upon
a review of the expected collectibility of all trade receivables.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade and bills receivables are disclosed in note 27 to
the financial statements.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of not having access to sufficient funds to
meet the Group’s obligations as they become due. The Group seeks
to manage its liquidity risk by maintaining a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans
and debentures.

MEDNRMDERLT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

4L, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND vy, BB RRER Z2BR K
POLICIES (CONTINUED) R (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBEELRER (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the AEERGERAZUBREZIHER
balance sheet date was as follows: wmr
Group &
2008 —EENFE
3 to less
On Less than than 1to Over
demand 3 months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
3ELR
RER SR3ER 1218 A 1855 BB5F &5t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTR AR¥Tr AR¥®TR AR®TR AR%®TxR
Interest-bearing bank RITREAMKT R
and other borrowings &R — 245,696 1,062,608 767,000 10,700 2,086,004
Trade and bills payables B Z 5 KEH K&
B3/ — 5,798,843 4,491,714 337,394 — 10,627,951
Financial liabilities 5| 5 E e
included in other R R ERTRIE
payables and accruals ol =N — 939,147 924,232 — — 1,863,379
Debentures &% = 800,000 900,000 — — 1,700,000
— 7,783,686 7,378,554 1,104,394 10,700 16,277,334
Group rE
2007 —ZETEF
3 to less
On Less than than 1to Over
demand 3 months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
3ZELR
BEXR LR3EA 1218 A 1254 HiB5E Bt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®Fr ARBTT AR®TrT ARBTT ARBTRT
Interest-bearing bank RITREAMKT R
and other borrowings BN — 201,050 1,339,534 156,107 5,200 1,701,891
Trade and bills payables B E ZEH K
C%7 — 6,181,631 1,083,142 — — 7,264,773
Financial liabilities 51) 7% EAh FE 15
included in other R R e AT 5IE
payables and accruals M XA E — 600,077 1,155,716 — — 1,755,793
Debentures & 7 — 900,000 — — — 900,000
— 7,882,758 3,578,392 156,107 5,200 11,622,457
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

MBRRER2BIRKE
ERoR (78)
REBESERE (F)

L4, FINANCIAL R1sSk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND by,
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Company ¥ NS
2008 —EENEF
3 to less
On Less than than 1to Over
demand 3 months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
3ZDR
REXR DH3EAR 128 A 18545 BB5E &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT AR¥TR AR®TR ARBTR ARBTR ARETrR
Interest-bearing bank RITREAMKT R
and other borrowings B — 68,346 100,000 700,000 — 868,346
Trade and bills payables B8 5 KR 3 &
EXd — 2,242,988 2,548,908 — — 4,791,896
Financial liabilities 5I| 7 H At JE
included in other R K FERT R
payables and accruals WE K EE 236,991 518,556 395,903 — — 1,151,450
Debentures &5 — — 900,000 — — 900,000
236,991 2,829,890 3,944,811 700,000 — 7,711,692
Company ERF
2007 —ETLF
3 to less
On Less than than 1to Over
demand 3 months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
3ELR
BEXR LR3EA 1218 A 1254 HiB5E &5
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARETT ARBETRT AR®ETT ARBTT AREBTR
Interest-bearing bank RIT R E AT E
and other borrowings (T — — 243,046 100,000 — 343,046
Trade and bills payables &+ & 5 8 2 &z
e — 3,422,578 57,582 — — 3,480,160
Financial liabilities 5I) 7% EL A & AT
included in other RA K EFRIE
payables and accruals N EaE 275,494 342,511 679,373 — — 1,297,378
Debentures &% — 900,000 — — — 900,000
275,494 4,665,089 980,001 100,000 — 6,020,584
198 WeicHat Power Co., LTD. %@ NBRHBERLS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

L4, FINANCIAL R1SKk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND by, I REIRERE 2BIER

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the
value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price
risk arising from individual equity investments classified as available-
for-sale investments (note 23) as at 31st December, 2008. The
Group's listed equity investments are mainly listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted market prices at the
balance sheet date.

The market equity indices for the following stock exchanges, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the
balance sheet date, and their respective highest and lowest points
during the year were as follows:

B R (18)

BREERRR

AR M 48 B B0 AR AN 3B 5 1 T {8 AL R A
HEOKTRENESBEOEBME
EMER - R-—BENF+=A=+—
B AREERYABRRII AT HEE
A (M E23) MO BR HESR & A 28 A ) PR A
EEEAR - AEEZ T TREREEE
EEBBEFRHMED  MEBEES
RIEEH A ™58 E -

NTEFRXGARNFARORZBER
HRAEERHEERKOBRET IS EER
FASERSUMKELNT

31st 31st
December, High/low December, High/low
2008 2008 2007 2007
—E2ENFE ZBENF —TELFE —EBTAHF
+=A=+—8H =5/ +=ZA=+—H =/
Shanghai — A Share Index % — AR 1,912 5,771/1,793 5,521 6,395/2,744

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10% change
in the fair values of the listed equity investments, with all other
variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on their
carrying amounts at the balance sheet date. For the purpose of this
analysis, for the available-for-sale listed equity investments the impact
is deemed to be on the available-for-sale investment revaluation
reserve and no account is given for factors such as impairment which
might impact the income statement.

TRINPAREEANEEESE - LW
BERERFETI0%EEH (A HEAM
AERRFRSTE - FRFAEABRE
FEINBRE -BRASWHmE - AH
HELTREREZZERBIETHEH
EREEMBEIRE  UHEFREM
Rzx - PR aREXNTEZR
@ o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

L4, FINANCIAL R1SKk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND by, I REIRERE 2BIER

200

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Equity price risk (continued)

R (£8)
BREE®ERER (&)

Group RE
Carrying amount Increase/
of equity decrease in
investments equity
REREZ REEEMm
IR B w2
RMB‘000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARBT T
Equity investments listed in: RRFHE EmERERE

Shanghai — Available-for-sale B — At E 96,200 9,620
Elsewhere — Available-for-sale Hhim — & 542 54

Commodity price risk 7 mE K R ke

In addition to the above risks relating to financial instruments, the
Group is exposed to commodity price risk for major components of
its raw materials, such as steel and metals. The Group currently does
not have any arrangement to hedge the price risk exposure of its raw
material purchases.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it,
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31st December, 2008 and 31st December,
2007.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD

BERERYBTAZARIN  AEE
rEHHEReB(ARERMHZE
BEHEKED) TR mEBER - K% E
BRYEES P ERMBREBEERER 2
(R

EAREHE

AEBEAEENTIZARARELAE
BORECERENRERRBROERL
o PUFHHEEBRESRARREE -

AEEBRBEELEREBEE 2 AR
FHEEERAEERNER - BRSNS
BEAREE AEBXNSHABIN TR
HHRE  MBREREEERNLBETHR
o AEEIW JAEMIIFERZR o #
EZEZTENF+A=F+—HBEKZEE
+tF+_AZ+—HLEE AEHE
AEEMNER BHEXEFHEFME
@J o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

L4, FINANCIAL R1Sk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade, bills and other
payables, debentures, less cash and cash equivalents and pledged
deposits, and excludes discontinued operations. Capital includes
equity attributable to equity holders of the Company. The gearing
ratios as at the balance sheet dates were as follows:

B ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5E (4&)
—FENF+=A=+-H

sy, B EREIR 2 BIR K

ERoR (78)

EXERE (&)
AEERBEAABEXR(EERERFER
BERUNEEREFEREZMN) EEER -
BEFEERTREMBHBENR &
NEZER FEMEMENTE &
o RRELAEEYREERER
(TERERLEEEXRR) - BEXREBEAR
ARERAARERRN - REEBREAR
BEXEMT :

Group RE
2008 2007
—EEN\F —EEEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T AR T T
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 817 & £ 4b [t & {& 3 2,086,004 1,701,891
Trade and bills payables ENE ZEFRER 10,627,951 7,264,773
Debentures E5 1,700,000 900,000
Other payables and accruals H At & A BR 3R K% FE 5T 3R IE 2,916,253 2,315,533
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and B RERBSZED AR
pledged deposits EHEBEFER 5,863,947 2,675,663
Net debt ERBEER 11,466,261 9,506,534
Equity attributable to equity holders RARE=FAE AEGERA
of the Company 7,997,754 6,383,472
Capital and net debt EARFAE 19,464,015 15,890,006
Gearing ratio BRABFEE 59% 60%
45. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS b5, BHEBESIA

Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International Development Limited
("Weichai Power HK"), a subsidiary of the Company, acquired the
relevant assets of Moteurs Baudouin (“Baudouin”) in France on 23
January 2009 through auction bidding at a consideration of
2,990,000 Euros. Up to the date of this report, Weichai Power HK
has not entered into contract for the assets transfer. The acquisition
of assets of Baudouin is still undergoing the relevant administrative
and approval procedures.

RZZEZNAF—A=+=8 " A2AMH
BARIMES N (BE)ERERBRA
A([#ESHEB]) BEBIKRIA2998
ERTHRERBZIEELRZEFHAD
AR DNHEEEE BEARS
BH BB HEERARITEESEE
Wik - WEBHLLZHNEENHBBTERER
EMRFDELETF -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2008

46, COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified and restated to
conform with the current year's presentation.

47, APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 27th April, 2009.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and minority interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as

appropriate, is set out below:

87 5 ik 2

M -

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+t—BHLEE

AEEBEDNBEMBRFENXREREE A
BRLBERREZOHE (BE RMOEEZ
MHBEREEY " BHHHE(WER)) H

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
“ZEETNE ZZTTLHF ZTTRF ZTTHFE ZZTTNWEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT ARETT AR®TIT AR®%Tx
RESULTS S
REVENUE A 32,567,190 28,786,183 6,633,668 5,250,735 6,155,779
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R Bt A R 2,740,698 3,273,142 889,109 410,602 738,738
Tax 18 (328,989) (479,566) (181,099) (93,919) (205,484)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 2F 78 2,411,709 2,793,576 708,010 316,683 533,254
Attributable to: LA A LR -
Equity holders [SI/NGIE X
of the parent BAEA 1,928,955 2,014,904 702,695 315,203 533,254
Minority interests D ERE R 482,754 778,672 5,315 1,480 —
2,411,709 2,793,576 708,010 316,683 533,254
Dividends i 8 108,296 229,088 133,685 108,900 99,000
Basic earnings BRERAEF
per share (in RMB) (AR¥TT) 2.32 2.72 1.33 0.60 1.08
ASSETS, LIABILITIES EE-8E
Total Assets B E 29,949,867 22,592,493 16,855,513 5,611,955 4,914,308
Total Liabilities BmEaE (18,623,389) (13,194,305) (10,496,149)  (3,150,994)  (2,757,587)
Capital and reserves BARREEE 11,326,478 9,398,188 6,359,364 2,460,961 2,156,721
Equity attributable ZN/NIS B
to equity holders BB A
of the Company FEAE = 7,997,754 6,383,472 2,984,562 2,398,581 2,156,721
Minority interests D BRRR R R 2 3,328,724 3,014,716 3,374,802 62,380 —
11,326,478 9,398,188 6,359,364 2,460,961 2,156,721
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

STATEMENT OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS”) AND
THOSE UNDER ACCOUNTING STANDARDS FOR BUSINESS
ENTERPRISES (“PRC GAAP”)

Other than certain classification of financial statement items, there are no
significant differences between the results for the year ended 31st
December, 2008 and the net assets as of that date as reported in the
accounts prepared using PRC GAAP and HKFRS.

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. 4@ NRMNDERLD
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WEICHAI POWER CO..LTD.
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Address

Tel

Fax

P.C.

Service hotline
E-mail
Website

DR T R A RAT265%
: +86-536-8197777 (##)
: +86-536-8231074

1 261001

: 800 860 3066

: weichai@weichai.com

. http://www.weichai.com

: 26 Minsheng East Street, Weifang, Shandong Province
1 +86-536-8197777 (Gen)

1 +86-536-8231074

1 261001

: 800 860 3066

: weichai@weichai.com

. http://www.weichai.com
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